PDF hosted at the Radboud Repository of the Radboud University Nijmegen

The following full text is a publisher's version.

For additional information about this publication click this link. http://hdl.handle.net/2066/146063

Please be advised that this information was generated on 2018-07-07 and may be subject to change.

Acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts in cemented revision hip arthroplasty





J.W. Schimmel

ACETABULAR RECONSTRUCTION WITH IMPACTED MORSELLIZED CANCELLOUS BONE GRAFTS IN CEMENTED REVISION HIP ARTHROPLASTY

ACETABULAR RECONSTRUCTION WITH IMPACTED MORSELLIZED CANCELLOUS BONE GRAFTS IN CEMENTED REVISION HIP ARTHROPLASTY

een wetenschappelijke proeve op het gebied van de Medische Wetenschappen

PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Katholieke Universiteit Nijmegen, volgens besluit van het College van Decanen in het openbaar te verdedigen op vrijdag 10 november 1995, des namiddags te 1.30 uur precies

door

JOHAN WILLEM SCHIMMEL

geboren op 8 juni 1957 te Apeldoorn

Druk: Krips Repro, Meppel 1995

Promotores	Prof Dr T J J H Slooff
	Prof Dr Ir R Huiskes
Co-promotor	Dr P Buma

CIP-GEGEVENS KONINKLIJKE BIBLIOTHEEK, DEN HAAG

Schimmel, Johan Willem Acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts in cemented revision hip arthroplasty Johan Willem Schimmel -(S I s n) Ill Thesis Nijmegen - With ref – With summary in Dutch ISBN 90-9008487-8 Subject headings acetabular reconstruction, bone grafts, revision hip arthroplasty Aan mijn ouders Voor Isa, Cecile en Feiko

Contents

Chapte	er 1	
Genera	al introduction and purpose of the study	2
Chapte Acetab of the l	er 2 pular reconstruction with bone grafts in revision hip arthroplasty: a r iterature	eview 6
2 1	History of hone allografting	6
22	Biology of bone graft incorporation	7
221	Comparison of cortical and cancellous grafts	7
222	Comparison of autografts and allografts	9
223	Comparison of solid and morsellized grafts	10
23	Etiology of acetabular defects in revision hip arthroplasty	10
24	Classification of acetabular defects	11
2 5	General aspects of acetabular component revision	15
251	Management of peripheral segmental acetabular deficiencies	15
252	Management of medial segmental acetabular deficiencies	19
253	Management of cavitary acetabular deficiencies	22
254	Management of pelvic discontinuity	23
255	Summary	23

Chapter 3

Acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous allograft in cemented hip arthroplasty: a histological study in the goat

31	Introduction	30
32	Material and methods	30
33	Results	38
331	Clinical performance and complications of the operation	38
332	Histological analysis	40
3321	0 weeks (goats 56LB, 57LB, 59LB)	40
3322	3 weeks (goats 69B, 70B, 75B, 87H)	41
3323	6 weeks (goats 71H, 73H, 80H, 83H)	43
3324	12 weeks (goats 81B, 82B, 84H, 88B)	46
3325	24 weeks (goats 61H, 64H, 66H, 72H)	46
3326	48 weeks (goats 56RB, 57RB, 59RB, 62H)	47
34	Discussion	49
341	Consolidation	49

30

Contents

342	Incorporation	50
343	Graft-cement interface	53
3.5	Conclusion	54

Chapter 4

Mechanical stability of cemented acetabular cups in acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous allograft: an animal study

58

41	Introduction	58
4.2	Material and methods	58
42	Text enumels	50
421		J0 50
422	Surgical technique	58
423	Postoperative treatment	60
424	Harvest technique	60
425	Mechanical testing	61
43	Results	68
431	Clinical and radiological performance	68
432	Mechanical testing	72
4321	0 Weeks (goats 56LB, 57LB, 59LB)	72
4322	3 Weeks (goats 69B, 70B, 75B)	72
4323	12 Weeks (goats 81B, 82B, 88B)	72
4324	48 weeks (goat 56R)	72
44	Discussion	73
45	Conclusion	78

Chapter 5

Acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts in
cemented revision hip arthroplasty: a radiologic study in 80 patients825 1Introduction825 2Materials and methods825 2 1The series82

84 86
86
86
86
91
91
91
92
92
95

Contents

5266	Comparative study of cup migration in hip-centered and symphysis-	
	centered anterior-posterior (AP)-pelvis radiographs	97
5267	Definition of failure and radiographic loosening	98
53	Results	99
531	Re-revisions	99
532	Graft consolidation	100
533	Radiolucency	101
534	Cup migration	103
535	Graft amount	105
536	Failures and radiographic loosening	106
54	Discussion	106
55	Conclusions	109
56	Justification	109
Chapter	6	
General	discussion and conclusions	114
Summar	y	117
Samenva	tting	119
Appendix	ĸ	123
Dankwoo	ord	129
Curricul	um vitae	131

CHAPTER 1

General introduction and purpose of the study

Low friction arthroplasty of the hip joint is now without doubt one of the most successful major orthopaedic operations (Charnley 1979) Most patients are satisfied with the result and grateful for the relief of pain and increased quality of life. In the last decades, much research has been done and progress has been made regarding cemented and cementless implant fixation (Harris 1992) This has led to optimism among orthopaedic surgeons and a trend to perform total hip arthroplasty at still younger ages can be observed. However, experience teaches that the durability of every reconstruction remains limited and to some extent unpredictable (Coventry 1992, Muller 1992) Both cemented and cementless implants have their disadvantages and it can not be concluded from many follow-up studies that one technique is superior to the other (Ahnfelt et al 1990, Beckenbaugh et al 1978, Olsson et al. 1981, Sutherland et al 1982, Wroblewski 1986, Wilson-Mac Donald et al 1989, Huiskes 1993) As the key to long term success has still not been found, the central role of particle debris in the loosening process, next to mechanical factors and the surgeon's expertise, is established (Willert et al 1990, Howie et al 1988, Howie et al 1990, Schmalzried et al 1992, Johansson et al 1987, Huiskes 1993) The disadvantage of the increasing number of hip joint replacements and the decreasing age at primary operation is the growing number of loosened implants encountered in orthopaedic practice. As many areas of controversy exist about primary implant fixation, even more uncertainties exist about the best way to revise a loosened implant The key problem in revision surgery is how to handle the bone loss (Amstutz 1982, Johnston 1986, Marti et al 1990, Fuchs et al 1988, Emerson et al 1989, Oakeshott et al 1987, Samuelson et al 1988) Some facts about revision hip surgery are clear. It is a time consuming and difficult operation with more complications, longer hospital stays and lesser durability of the reconstruction. The revision will never equal a primary implantation

The use of bone allografts in orthopaedic practice has been introduced nearly half a century ago and was gradually accepted. It was a logical step to reconstruct bone stock deficiency around a loosened implant with bone allografts. Encouraged by reports about succesful bone grafting procedures for protrusio acetabuli in primary hip replacements (Hastings and Parker 1975, McCollum et al. 1980), the Orthopaedic Department of the University Hospital Nijmegen started to reconstruct acetabular defects with morsellized cancellous allografts in revision hip surgery in 1979 (Slooff et al. 1984). However, basic research about the behaviour of bone grafts around implants was completely lacking and therefore it was decided in 1990 to set up animal experiments to investigate histological and biomechanical characteristics, together with a radiographic follow-up study of the available patient material The following questions are discussed in this study

- Can morsellized cancellous allografts be used to restore acetabular bone stock deficiency in combination with a cemented cup?
- Are there differences in incorporation capacity and cup fixation parameters regarding type of defect and primary diagnosis?
- Are there differences in the behaviour of autografts and allografts?
- Does incorporation time depend on the amount of bone graft used?
- What is the histological sequence of events during the incorporation proces?
- What is the initial stability of the implant and its course in time? Is stability influenced by graft incorporation?
- Are the outcomes of the animal experiment consistent with the radiographic midterm follow-up study in patients?

Chapter 2 of this thesis presents a review of the literature about acetabular bone stock deficiency in total hip replacement. Chapter 3 describes a histological study of acetabular allografts in the goat. Chapter 4 deals with the mechanical stability of acetabular reconstructions in the same animal model and in chapter 5 a retrospective radiological study is described of the patient material. Chapter 6 is a general discussion with final conclusions.

References

- Amstutz, HC, Ma SM, Jinnah, RH, Mai, L (1982) Revision of aseptic loose total hip arthroplas ties Clin Orthop 170, 21 33
- Beckenbaugh, R D, Ilstrup, D M (1978) Total hip arthroplasty A review of 333 cases with long term follow up J Bone Joint Surg 60 A, 306-313
- Charnley, J (1979) Low friction arthroplasty of the hip Theory and practice Springer Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York
- Coventry, M B (1992) Lessons learned in 30 years of total hip arthroplasty Clin Orthop 274, 22 30
- Emerson, R H, Head, W C, Berklacich, F M, Malinin, T I (1989) Noncemented acetabular revision arthroplasty using allograft bone Clin Orthop 249, 30 44
- Fuchs, M.D., Salvati, E.A., Wilson Jr, P.D., Sculco, T.P., Pellici, P.M. (1988) Results of acetabular revisions with newer cementing techniques. Orthop. Clin. N. Am. 19, 649–655
- Harris WH (1992) The first 32 years of total hip arthroplasty Clin Orthop 274, 6 12

Hastings, D E, Parker, S M (1975) Protrusio acetabuli in rheumatoid arthritis Clin Orthop 74, 76-84

- Howie D W Cornish, B L, Vernon Roberts, B (1990) Resurfacing hip arthroplasty Classification of loosening and the role of prosthetic wear particles Clin Orthop 225,144
- Howie, D W, Vernon-Roberts, B, Oakeshott, R, Manthey, B (1988) A rat model of resorption of bone at the cement-bone interface in the presence of polyethylene wear particles J Bone Joint Surg 70-A, 257 263
- Huiskes, R (1993) Failed innovation in total hip replacement. Diagnosis and proposals for a cure. Acta Orthop. Scand. 64, 699-716

Chapter 1

- Huiskes, R (1993) Mechanical failure in total hip arthroplasty with cement Curr Orthop 7, 239 247
- Johansson, N A, Bullough, PG, Wilson Jr, PD, Salvati, E A, Ranawat, C S (1987) The microscopic anatomy of the bone-cement interface in failed total hip arthroplastics. Clin. Orthop. 218, 123–135
- Johnston, R C (1986) Revision of total hip arthroplasty for aseptic loosening the acetabulum AAOS instructional course lecture 35, 157-160, CV Mosby, St Louis
- Ahnfelt, L, Herberts, P, Malchau, H, Anderson, G B J (1990) Prognosis of total hip replacement A swedish multicenter-study of 4664 revisions Acta Orthop Scand 61, suppl 238
- Marti, R, Schuller, HM, Besselaar, PP, Vanfrank Haasnoot, EL (1990) Results of revision hip arthroplasty with cement J Bone Joint Surg 72-A, 346 354
- McCollum, D E, Nunley, J A, Harrelson, J M (1980) Bone grafting in total hip replacement for acetabular protrusion J Bone Joint Surg 62-A, 1065 1073
- Muller, M E (1992) Lessons of 30 years of total hip arthroplasty Clin Orthop 274, 12-22
- Oakeshott, R D, Morgan, D A F, Zukor, D J, Rudan, J F, Brooks PJ, Gross, A E (1987) Revision total hip arthroplasty with osseous allograft reconstruction Chin Orthop 225, 37 61
- Olsson, S S, Jernberger, A, Tryggo, D (1981) Clinical and radiological long term results after Charnley-Muller total hip replacement A 5-10 year follow-up with special reference to aseptic loosening Acta Orthop Scand 52, 531-542
- Samuelson, K M, Freeman, M A R, Levack, B, Rassmussen, G L, Revell, PA (1988) Homograft bone in revision acetabular arthroplasty J Bone Joint Surg 70-B, 367 372
- Schmalzned, TP Kwong, LM, Jasty, M, Sedlacek RC, Haire TC, O'Connor, DO, Bragdon, CR, Kabo JM Malcolm AJ Harris WH (1992) The mechanism of loosening of cemented acetabular components in total hip arthroplasty Clin Orthop 274, 60-78
- Slooff TJJH, Huiskes, R, van Horn JR, Lemmens, AJ (1984) Bone grafting in total hip replacement for acetabular protrusion. Acta Orthop. Scand. 55, 593-596
- Sutherland, C J, Wilde, A H, Borden, L A S, Marks, K E (1982) A ten year folow up of 100 consecutive Muller curved stem total hip replacement arthroplasties J Bone Joint Surg 64 A, 970-982
- Willert, H G, Bertram, H, Buchhorn, G H (1990) Osteolysis in alloarthroplasty of the hip The role of UHMWP wear particles Clin Orthop 258 95-108
- Willert, H.G. Bertram, H., Buchhorn, G.H. (1990) Osteolysis in alloarthroplasty of the hip. The role of bone cement fragmentation. Clin. Orthop. 258, 108-121
- Wilson-Mac Donald, J., Morscher, E. (1989) Comparison between straight and curved-stem Muller femoral prostheses. Arch. Orthop. Trauma Surg. 109, 14-20
- Wroblewski, B M (1986) 15-21 year results of the Chamley low friction arthroplasty Clin Orthop 211, 30-35

CHAPTER 2

Acetabular reconstruction with bone grafts in revision hip arthroplasty: a review of the literature

2.1 History of bone allografting

The legend called "the miracle of the black leg" is considered the first known allograft procedure (Mankin et al. 1983). The twin physicians Cosmos and Damian, living in the third century, performed many unusual medical feats, but their greatest miracle was the resection of a man's leg because of a tumour and replacing it with the lower limb of a Moor who had just died.

In more recent history the first bone allograft implantation was done by MacEwen (1881) He resected a part of the humerus of a 4-year old boy and replaced it by a tibia allograft of a child with rickets. Bone transplantation at that time was not an accepted technique, but an experiment with unpredictable outcome

At the end of the nineteenth century several theories about the biological behaviour of bone grafts existed without any consensus. Office (1867) published the results of his experiments and concluded that the transplanted periosteum and bone remained alive and could become osteogeneic. Barth (1908) thought that transplanted bone, periosteum and marrow died and were replaced by surrounding tissues. Axhausen's theory (1911) included necrosis of the greatest part of the transplanted bone with survival of the periosteum and retaining its osteogenic potency in autografts and far less in allografts. He stated that bone graft repair was a simultaneous process of resorption and apposition. Axhausen's principles were confirmed in later years. After publication of his basic research autogenous bone transplantation was successfully performed in patients in the beginning of the 20th century (Albee 1923).

Although already in 1908 Lexer published a series of 23 whole and 11 hemi-joint human allograft procedures around the knee, the clinical use of allografts was limited to fresh allografts because of the unknown biological behaviour of dead bone and the lack of preservation techniques. In 1910 Bauer published his animal experiments in which it was shown that allograft bone, preserved by refrigeration, had incorporated. Albee (1912) incidentally used frozen bone allografts for clinical purposes. A major breakthrough came with the development of preservation techniques, developed by Bush (1947) and Wilson (1951), allowing the storage of allograft bone at -20 degrees. Centigrade. This made it possible to use allografts clinically on a larger scale. At the same time it became clear that allografts were not as successful as autogenous grafts.

In the fifties, important animal experiments were done by Chase and Herndon (1954), Burwell and Gowland (1962) and Campbell (1953), to establish the natural history of osseous and chondral allogeneic implants. They demonstrated that freezing allograft bone prior to implantation significantly reduced the immune response with concomittant better incorporation. In that same period, another important contribution to the understanding of the behaviour of bone grafts was made by Urist (1953), who introduced the theory of osteoinduction. He stated that a bone graft functioned as an inductor of ingrowing cells of the host with osteogenic potential. In the early 1970s Urist and co-workers (1983) could indeed isolate an organic matrix protein, which was called Bone Morphogenetic Protein (BMP) and proved that this substance induced bone cell differentiation. Later on it appeared that BMP was a member of related proteins with different morphogenetic capacities (Urist et al. 1983. Aldinger et al. 1991)

Once the National Naval Tissue Bank in Bethesda, USA, was established in 1950 as the first bone bank, and several others followed, widespread clinical use of massive allografts became accepted during the sixties, especially to replace traumatically lost or tumourous parts of the skeleton. Series of clinical results were published by Parrish (1966) and Ottolen ghi (1972). A common feature in these first series was the unpredictable behaviour of the allograft with regard to infection.

Another important clinical application of bone grafts arose in the seventies, to repair osseous defects in association with primary and revision hip arthroplasty Initial reports by Hastings and Parker (1975) and Harris et al (1977) about acetabular reconstruction with morsellized cancellous and solid cortico-cancellous bone grafts set the stage in this field

2.2 Biology of bone graft incorporation

2.2 1 Comparison of cortical and cancellous grafts

Presently, there is general agreement about the basic events during the incorporation process of non vascularized bone grafts (Goldberg and Stevenson 1987, Friedlander 1987) The bi ological events are in fact similar for fresh cancellous and cortical grafts, although they dif fer in rate and extent Sequential events include phases of hemorrhage, necrosis and inflammation revascularization, osteoinduction, osteoconduction and finally remodelling. The first phase responds to the surgical trauma associated with implanting the graft Inflammation includes increased vascularity in adjacent tissues dilatation of blood vessels transudation, exudation and oedema. The graft is invaded by granulation tissue consisting of polymorphonuclear cells, macrophages foreign body giant cells lymphocytes and mast cells Marrow and osteocytes become necrotic In fresh autologous grafts a few osteoblasts however do survive by diffusion of nutrients and can produce new bone (primary osteogenesis) After subsiding of the inflammatory reaction, fibrous granulation tissue becomes dominant Following this phase a vascularization process develops in which capillaries from the host proliferate and invade the necrotic graft. Together with these vessels, perivascular tissue and osteoprogenitor cells, derived from the host, infiltrate the graft. This invasion process is called osteoconduction, whereby the graft provides the framework for ingrowth The infiltrating cellular elements have the potential to differentiate into osteoblasts and osteoclasts (secondary osteogenesis) This cell differentiation process, called osteoinduction, is still

Chapter 2

largely unknown Probably it is modulated largely by low-molecular weight matrix polypeptides of which the glycoprotein bone morphogenic proteins (BMP's) are the most wellknown (Aldinger et al 1991) These BMP's are derived both from the graft and the surface of the host bed (Urist 1953, Urist 1965)

With the presence of osteoblasts and osteoclasts, processes of resorption of dead bone graft and bone apposition are seen simultaneously in the graft. Together with the bone apposition, haemopoietic cells appear in the graft and form a viable bone marrow. The final phase includes remodelling of the newly formed bone into a mechanically supportive structure, a continuous process under the influence of loading.

Until the phase of revascularization there are no main differences in the behaviour of cancellous and cortical grafts. During the revascularization phase cortical grafts are more slowly penetrated by capillaries and it takes far more time compared to cancellous grafts before the revascularization is completed (Hammack and Enneking 1960, Goldberg and Lance 1972, Greco et al. 1989). The porotic structure of cancellous bone allows a rapid vascular invasion, whereas the dense structure of cortical bone allows only penetration via peripheral osteoclastic resorption.

A second difference is the relationship between graft resorption by osteoclasts and new bone apposition by osteoblasts. In cancellous bone, graft resorption of preexisting dead trabeculae by osteoclasts is preceded by the apposition of new bone by osteoblasts. In cortical grafts, osteoclastic resorption is dominating during the first weeks, principally involving the periphery of the graft. After this period bone apposition starts at the graft host interface (creeping substitution)(Enneking et al. 1975, Greco et al. 1989). In contrast to cancellous grafts, which may be completely replaced by new viable host bone, cortical grafts remain a mixture of viable and necrotic bone (Huo et al. 1992).

It is evident that these differences in the behaviour of cancellous and cortical bone grafts must have implications for their mechanical properties. In cancellous bone the apposition of new bone on dead trabeculae by osteoblasts, preceeding the resorption of dead bone by osteclasts at the start of the osteoconduction phase, does temporarily increase the width of the trabeculae and increases the mechanical strength of the bone (Goldberg and Stevenson 1987). This phenomenon can be seen on roentgenograms, showing a temporarily denser graft appearance. Once bone apposition and resorption are in equilibrium, mechanical strength returns to normal. With regard to cortical bone, osteoclastic resorption is dominating for a long period with increased porosity of the graft and up to 40-50% strength reduction compared to normal living cortical bone (Burchardt et al. 1975).

As cortical bone grafts remain a mixture of dead and living bone for a long period of time or even permanently, this also influences its mechanical properties. Graft necrosis itself, in fact osteocyte necrosis, does not seem to change its mechanical resistance to the single application of load (Enneking et al 1975). However, the repetitive loading of a partial necrotic bone graft can lead to fatique failure as necrotic bone lacks the potential to remodel or repair, in contrast to completely vascularized living bone (Pelker and Friedlander 1987). As bone graft incorporation is a partnership between host and donor, the condition of the host bone bed with regard to vascularization and metabolism is of eminent importance for successfull incorporation of both cortical and cancellous grafts. Rigid immobilization promotes host-graft union and in accordance to Wolff's law, loading of the graft is thought to have a beneficial effect on incorporation although quantitative data are not available (Burchardt 1989).

2.2.2 Comparison of autografts and allografts

As is the case for cancellous and cortical grafts there is no difference in the earlier described sequence of biological events during the incorporation process of fresh auto- and allografts, although there are fundamental differences in the rate and extent of distinct phases. In many animal experiments during the last decades (Goldberg and Stevenson 1987, Friedlander 1987, Heiple et al. 1963, Campbell 1953, Burwell 1969), it appeared that autografts are superior to allografts from a biological point of view, which is expressed in the amount and rate of graft incorporation. There is strong evidence that this biological inferiority is caused by immunologic disparity between host and graft (Goldberg et al. 1989, Friedlander 1991, Stevenson et al. 1991), causing cell-mediated and humoral immune responses (Musculo et al. 1976). The immunogenicity of allograft bone is markedly reduced by freezing and reduced even more by freeze-drying. Both methods kill all cells, so that primary osteogenesis can not occur. However, frozen or freeze-dried allografts show improved incorporation compared to fresh allografts (Brooks et al. 1963, Mankin and Friedlander 1989, Friedlander et al. 1976, Friedlander 1983).

At the beginning of the revascularization phase the hosts' immune system becomes sensitized to donor antigens from the allograft with, as a consequence, a delay in osteoinduction Proliferating capillaries from the host are occluded by an inflammatory reaction, which reduces or completely prevents revascularization of the graft (Goldberg and Stevenson 1987) Matrix proteins like proteoglycans and, to a lesser extent, collagens can evoke weak immune responses (Friedlander 1991) Probably more important are cell-surface transplantation antigens controlled by the major-histocompatibility complex (Friedlander 1991) In an animal experiment with bone allografts in mice (Horowitz and Friedlander 1991) it appeared that the allograft activated T-cells of the killer/suppressor phenotype and that this response was stimulated by both Class-I and Class-II major histocompatibility-complex antigens Class-I antigens are found on all nucleated cells of the body Class-II antigens are found on B-lymphocytes, activated T-lymphocytes, macrophages and other cells of the macrophage/myeloid lineage Another important finding was that removal of the immunogeneic bone marrow did not alter the immune response.

At least one can conclude at this moment that the rate and extent of allograft incorporation vary considerably and are in fact unpredictable. This has consequences for the mechanical properties of the graft and might explain its possible failure in the course of time, as illustrated in a report about retrieved massive allografts (Enneking and Mindell 1991) Preservation techniques like freezing and freeze-drying have favourable influences on allograft incorporation, although, on the other hand, these techniques influence the physical properties of bone Freezing changes mechanical strength of cortical bone just a little, whereas freeze drying lowers bending strength 55-90% and torsion strength to 39% (Pelker and Friedlander 1987)

2.2.3 Comparison of solid and morsellized grafts

The incorporation process of solid cortico-cancellous grafts is clearly different from morsellized cancellous grafts, as can be concluded from basic studies about the the natural history of bone grafts (Stevenson et al. 1991, Goldberg and Stevenson 1987, Friedlander 1987) Morsellized cancellous grafts are incorporated without mechanical weakening, provided that the graft is well contained, has a stable fit and the host-bed is well-vascularized. Solid cortico-cancellous grafts remain a mixture of necrotic and viable bone without complete incorporation, with threatening collaps. The high incorporation capacity of morsellized cancellous grafts is probably largely due to its greater contact surface with the host bone bed and its open structure.

2.3 Etiology of acetabular defects in revision hip arthroplasty

With respect to the acetabular cup of a total hip arthroplasty five main causes for bone-stock loss can be considered

- Congenitally insufficient bone stock (congenital hip dysplasia) (Gordon et al 1985)
- The primary pathologic process (protrusio acetabuli in primary osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis) (McCollum et al 1980)
- Preparation of the acetabular bone bed
 - Reaming and drilling the cement key-holes during the primary hip arthroplasty
 - Removal of cement during revision procedures of failed prostheses
- Periprosthetic osteolysis as a consequence of particle debris and implant (micro)motion in the loosening process
- Infection

The process of periprosthetic osteolysis, in which dissolution of bone takes place, is the most common cause of bone loss around implants (Malcolm 1990) Although it is often associated with loose cemented implants, there are reports describing osteolysis with stable implants, both cemented and cementless, indicating that the origin of osteolysis is not sim ply the loosening of a cemented implant at the bone-cement interface (Jasty et al. 1986, Maloney et al. 1990) Several studies (Willert et al. 1990, Howie et al. 1988, Howie et al. 1990) have shown that particle debris of polyethylene, cement and metal, combined or

alone, can produce bone resorption at the bone implant interface in the presence of a stable implant. These particles are ingested by macrophages and giant cells, which become activated and release several chemical mediators, like prostaglandins and interleukins, which activate osteoclasts and induce a bone resorption process. Also a resorption mechanism was described in which synovial like cells within the interfacial membrane around implants produce osteolytic enzymes like collagenase (Goldring et al. 1983). It is still unclear what influence the number and size of the different particles have on the intensity of the biological responses.

Prosthesis infection is also accompanied by osteolysis and can result in significant bone resorption

2.4 Classification of acetabular defects

In order to make a preoperative plan, to discuss specific types of problems or to compare different reconstruction techniques, it is important to define and classify acetabular defects. The American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS), Committee on the Hip, devised a usefull classification system for acetabular deficiencies (D'Antonio et al. 1989). The system defines two basic categories segmental and cavitary defects (table 2.1). A segmental defect is any complete loss of bone in the supporting hemisphere of the acetabulum, including the medial wall. Cavitary defects represent a volumetric loss in bony substance of the acetabular cavity, including the medial wall. A medial cavitary defect, for example, implies ex-

Type I		
	Segmental deficiencies	
	Perpheral (superior, anterior, posterior)	
	- Central (medial wall absent)	
Type II		
	Cavitary deficiencies	
	- Penpheral (superior, anterior, posterior)	
	Central (medial wall intact)	
Type III		
	Combined segmental/cavitary deficiencies	
Type IV		
	Pelvic discontinuity	
Type V		
	Arthrodesis	

 Table 2.1
 Classification of acetabular deficiencies (AAOS)



Figure 2.1. Medial cavitary defect. Osteoarthritis of the hip with acetabular protrusion



Figure 2.2. Drawing of a segmental defect in the medial wall A. Lateral-medial view in the acetabulum B. Section of the acetabulum in the frontal plane



Figure 2.3. Drawing of a combined superior segmental and medial/superior cavitary defect. A. Lateral-medial view in the acetabulum. B. Section of the acetabulum in the frontal plane

cavation of the medial wall without perforation (fig 2 1) In contrast, a medial segmental de fect represents a perforation or complete absence of the medial wall (fig 2 2) In practice, several different combinations of deficiencies exist (fig 2 3) Pelvic discontinuity is a defect across the anterior and posterior columns with total separation of the superior part from the inferior part of the acetabulum

2.5 General aspects of acetabular component revision

2 5 1 Management of peripheral segmental acetabular deficiencies

The most frequently encountered peripheral segmental defects are the superior rim defects (fig 2.4) They occur isolated or in combination with other defects. In revision surgery these defects are most commonly encountered after initial total hip replacement in a congenital dysplastic hip or in a subluxated hip due to osteoarthritis or rheumatoid arthritis. In these instances it is often seen that the acetabular component and cement are not completely covered with bone and a so-called "socket breakout" has occured (Harris 1982). Combination of su perior segmental defects with other defects (figs 2.3 and 2.5) are mostly secondary to failed previous surgery. Posterior segmental defects are seldom seen in isolation. They are mostly encountered after a failed previous hip replacement in which there is often a combination with superior segmental defects. Chandler and Penenberg (1989) reported an incidence of 61% periferal segmental defects, isolated or combined with other defects, in their series of 76 acetabular grafts.

In the literature most authors agree that solid block graft reconstruction is essential for prosthetic support with respect to segmental defects (fig 2 6) (Schuller et al 1993) Gerber and Harris (1986) reported a 20% failure rate in a series of 47 primary hip replacements with peripheral segmental defects, using femoral head autografts, after an average follow-up of 7 years. They stressed the importance of reconstructing accompanying posterior segmental defects more graft resorption was seen in cases with a lack of posterior osseous support. Good clinical results with femoral head allografts for reconstruction of peripheral segmental defects were reported by Trancik et al. (1986) in a series of cemented revision hip replacements with an average follow up of 3.5 years. Conventional radiographs and single photon emission computed tomography showed succesfull incorporation in 20 of 21 solid allografts.

Oakeshott et al (1987) reported good clinical and radiological results of cemented and cementless revision hip arthroplasty with femoral head allografts fixed with bolts to the ilium for superior segmental defects. In a series of 18 allografts with autogeneic cancellous graft supplementation at the graft-host interface, 12 allografts showed complete union and 4 grafts partial union. Component migration was only seen in 2 cases with a bipolar prosthesis Average follow-up was 20 months. In most allografts the unloaded part resorbed, without affecting the supporting part of the graft.



Figure 2.4. Superior segmental defect in the presence of a cemented cup



Figure 2.5. Superior segmental, medial/superior cavitary type defect in the presence of a migrated cemented cup



Figure 2.6. Superior segmental defect reconstruction with a solid cortico-cancellous block-graft fixed with screws. The accompanying superior cavitary type defect is reconstructed with chips

Jasty and Harris (1990), reporting their results of 38 acetabular reconstructions with solid allografts with a mean follow-up of 5 9 years, concluded that structural allografts provided only a short-term solution. They found a failure rate of 32%, due to resorption of the graft and fracture of the cement layer at the allograft-host junction, between 4 and 9 years after surgery. The slow and incomplete revascularization of structural allografts, which takes up several years, might have been responsible for the late collapse. Young et al. (1991) found a comparable failure rate of 17.5% failures and 12.5% impending failures with an average follow-up of 4 years in a series of 40 reconstructions, including 11 femoral head allografts for superior segmental defects. In both studies of Jasty and Young, acetabular loosening was more common when graft coverage increased. Young et al. also found that all failures were related to technical errors in fit and fixation of the graft. An important technical point was stressed by Chandler et al. (1990) in a six year follow-up study of solid acetabular bone grafts. They found that in most failures with graft collapse, the graft trabeculae and fixating screws were oriented transverse to the weight-bearing axis.

Emerson et al (1989) comparing the behaviour of peripheral structural allografts with bipolar cups, screw-in cups and press-fit cups, found reliable graft healing and good clinical scores only with the press-fit design. Less graft resorption and failure was found when grafts were fixated with buttress plating combined with interfragmentary screw fixation. They postulated that the cause of failure is the lack of graft support rather than cup support. After analyzing their results of 8 reconstructed superior segmental defects with massive femoral head allografts, Wilson et al. (1989) concluded that grafts thicker than 15 millimeters in such defects are incapable of complete repair.

A different technique was used by Olivier and Sanouiller (1991) They prefer the use of morsellized cancellous chips based on the fact that their incorporation is more consistent and rapid compared to solid cortico-cancellous grafts. They could reconstruct most periferal segmental defects with impacted cancellous chips in combination with an Eichler support ring. In most cases, a lasting stable situation was achieved with full radiographic graft incorporation.

2.5.2 Management of medial segmental acetabular deficiencies

Isolated medial segmental defects in revision hip arthroplasty are rare (fig 2.2) Most of these defects occur in combination with other defects. Conditions that produce these types of defects are overreaming of the acetabulum in patients with congenital hip dislocation, traumatic fracture dislocation, the insertion of cementless threaded cups and the migration of loose cemented cups, producing bone resorption and fatique fractures of the medial wall

In the seventies Jasty and Harris (1988) used a technique in which a Vitallium mesh covered the defect and reinforced the cement. In a study with an average follow-up of 6.8 years, loosening was found to have occured in 14% of hips with a medial segmental defect measuring less than 1 cm and 75% of hips with larger defects. Crowninshield et al. (1983)

concluded after Finite Element analysis, that a mesh covering a medial segmental defect has no beneficial effect on the reduction of medial acetabular stresses

Lord (1988) reported unsatisfactory results using a threaded metal cup without grafting the medial defect, probably because of bad fixation on the bone bed of poor quality McCollum et al (1980) were the first who reported about the use of bone grafts in medial segmental defects Their technique was to cover the defect with a wafer of autologous or homologous solid cortico-cancellous bone 1 cm in thickness, with some overlap (fig 27) A fine Vitallum mesh was placed over the graft and a cup was cemented in position. When the medial wall was completely absent, an Eichler protrusio ring was used to stabilize the prosthesis, while the graft was healing. In their follow-up study after 4.7 years all 39 grafts appeared to be united radiographically. After average 12.8 years follow-up 20% had definitely loosened radiographically (Gates et al. 1990). Cameron (1985) described some methods for acetabular floor defects In segmental defects less than 1 centimeter in diameter, cancellous bone is pushed through the hole, forming a collar stud of bone and the hole is occluded by a Charnlev cement restrictor Defects between 1 and 3 centimeter were repaired by a block of cortico-cancellous bone from the iliac wing, slightly greater than the size of the defect, which is pushed through the defect in the pelvis. The intra-abdominal pressure and periosteum hold the graft in place Major isolated floor defects with intact columns were handled using a bipolar prosthesis, with the biggest head possible, to transfer load to the side walls of the ace tabulum rather than the floor Morsellized bone grafts were laid in the defect and the patient was kept non-weightbearing until radiographic signs of graft healing were seen. Series reported by Wilson et al (1989) and Brien et al (1990), dealing with medial segmental defects treated by morsellized grafts with bipolar prosthesis, showed high rates of migration of the socket and resorption of the graft Olivier and Sanouiller (1991), Samuelson and Freeman (1990), Fuchs et al. (1988) used support rings in combination with morsellized cancellous grafts, like the original technique of McCollum and Nunley (1981) Their role is to avoid medial migration during the graft incorporation process and to distribute the load around the acetabulum For large medial segmental segments after penetration of a loose cup and cement into the pelvis Harris (1977) proposed a technique of intrapelvic grafting, in which a full thickness piece of iliac wing is bolted to the innominate bone using an intrapelvic approach Chandler and Penenberg (1989) closed the defect with strips of cortico-cancellous bone and used a porous coated acetabular component large enough to span the defect Intact anterior and posterior columns were necessary to achieve primary stability. This technique was also advocated by Clarke et al (1988), who reported good radiographic incorporation of morsellized grafts in porous coated cups at an average follow-up of 2.6 years. Solonen et al (1988) described a two-stage procedure for revising hips with large segmental defects in 3 cases with an autologous vascularized pedicular iliac bone graft



Figure 2.7. Technique according to McCollum et al (1980)
A Lateral-medial view of acetabulum with a medial segmental defect
B Lateral-medial view of acetabulum after closure of defect with a cortico-cancellous shell
C Section of acetabulum in frontal plane after closure of defect with a cortico-cancellous shell

2.5.3 Management of cavitary acetabular deficiencies

Cavitary defects are frequently encountered in revision hip surgery. Small defects are commonly caused by lysis about a cement keying hole. Larger defects usually result from migration of a loose acetabular component with associated bone lysis. As acetabular protrusion is frequently encountered in primary total hip arthroplasty (fig. 2.1), it is not surprising that the first reports in the literature were dealing with experiences in treating this type of cavitary defect in primary hip situations.

Sotelo-Garza and Charnley (1978) reported good results with cement alone to treat acetabular protrusion. In contrast with these findings, Salvati et al. (1975), Ranawat et al. (1980) and Azuma (1985) found high failure rates with cement alone and they advised the use of bone grafts.

Hastings and Parker (1975) were the first to report about five cases of protrusio acetabuli in rheumatoid arthritis in which the medial wall was built up with morsellized autogenous cancellous grafts from the femoral head combined with cemented total hip replacement McCollum et al (1980), Heywood (1980) and Augereau and Postel (1980) used a structural layer of cortico-cancellous bone to reinforce the medial wall and covered it with a metal mesh. A 12.8 years study of the patient group of McCollum et al (1980) showed 20% definite loosening radiographically (Gates et al. 1990). Good results were reported by Hirst et al (1987) in a series of 61 primary cemented arthroplasties using thin wafers of cancellous autograft bone with a follow-up of 4.3 years.

Chandler and Peneberg (1989) preferred the use of morsellized grafts with non-cemented acetabular devices. In very large defects solid bulk grafts were used without cement. They abandoned the use of support rings in cavitary defects, because of medial acetabular stress shielding. Bayley et al. (1987) analyzed 93 patients treated for medial cavitary defects with cement alone, cement with metal reinforcement rings or morsellized bone graft with cement, with a minimum follow-up of 3 years and found a high failure rate in the cement alone group and equally good results in the bone graft and metal-reinforcement group.

Mendes et al (1984) and Slooft et al (1984) published the first series of patients with medial cavitary defect reconstruction, using only impacted morsellized auto- or allografts in both cemented primary and revision hip arthroplastics. They used impacted morsellized grafts because of the stronger osteogeneic potential and faster incorporation without temporary mechanical weakening of the graft, as is the case in structural grafts during the process of creeping substitution. At an average follow-up of 4 and 2 years respectively, in both patient groups of 8 and 43 patients respectively, full graft incorporation was assessed radiographically without signs of cup loosening or graft resorption. No differences were found between auto- and allografts. Marti and Besselaar (1983) used a comparable technique in which a coitico-cancellous shell was laid under the morsellized grafts at the bottom of the intact cavity

Olivier and Sanouiller (1991) stressed the biological advantages of morsellized cancellous allografts compared to solid bulk grafts in cavitary defects. They allow better bone-cement interlock, their incorporation is more complete and rapid, and their malleable nature allows better adaptation to a cavitary defect with a greater contact surface. In their series of cemented revision arthroplasties with cavitary defects they reported complete radiographic graft incorporation at the same rate in auto- and allografts without resorption. Samuelson et al. (1990) also favoured the use of morsellized cancellous allografts, although they abandoned the use of cement, because the cement diminishes the amount of bone graft which can be used, possible poor initial stability of a cemented implant in an unfixed layer of bone graft and suspected damaging effect of the cement to the graft incorporation process.

Wilson et al (1989) and Oakeshott et al (1987), comparing solid and morsellized cancellous allografts in medial cavitary defects in revision bipolar hip arthroplasty, saw a slightly faster radiographic incorporation of the morsellized grafts, but less implant migration and graft resorption in the solid group

2.5.4 Management of pelvic discontinuity

This type of extensive bone loss, involving column defects often combined with medial segmental defects, is not a frequently occuring problem. Therefore, reports in the literature dealing with this type of defect are sparse. However, there is general consensus that the only treatment option in these cases is the use of massive structural allografts. Mostly several temoral heads or complete acetabular allografts are required (Chandler and Penenberg 1989). Oakeshott et al. (1987) reported about twenty reconstructions of pelvic discontinuity with eleven segmental femoral head allografts and nine total acetabular allografts. Fourteen cementless sockets were used including seven bipolar prostheses and six sockets were cemented. There were three non-unions, one related to infection. Some degree of graft resorption was only seen in the group of bipolar prostheses. The union rate was equivalent in both types of graft. Two sockets became loose, one related to infection.

2.5.5 Summary

In the last decades of the 19th century basic research was started to investigate the sequence of events in the incorporation of bone auto- and allografts. In the 1950s the natural history of bone graft incorporation was established definitely. Cancellous bone grafts appear to incorporate more rapidly and completely, compared to cortical grafts, without temporarily mechanical weakening, as is the case in cortical bone. The sequence of events in auto- and allografts is the same, although they differ in rate and extent, predominantly caused by immune responses to allograft bone. Morsellized bone grafts have a higher capacity to incorporate, compared to solid grafts. In the 1970s first reports appear about the use of bone grafts combined with hip implants, especially at the acetabular side. Peripheral segmental acetabular defects were preferably reconstructed with solid bone grafts fixed to the iliac wall, although late collapse of these grafts is reported by some authors. Medial segmental defects are mostly reconstructed with slices of cortico-cancellous bone, combined with metallic reinforcement devices. Contained cavitary defects are treated in majority of cases with slices of can-
cellous bone, whereas some authors prefere the use of impacted morsellized bone grafts. No unanimity exists regarding the use of cemented or cementless implants. Pelvic discontinuity, involving two-column defects, requires the use of total acetabular allografts.

References

- Albee, FH (1923) Fundamentals in bone transplantation. Experiences in three thousand bone grafts. J Am. Med. Assn. 81, 1429-1432.
- Albee, F.H. (1912) Discussion of the preservation of tissues and its application in surgery J. Am. Med. Assn. 59, 527
- Aldinger, G., Herr, G. Kueswetter W., Reis H.J. Thielemann, F.W., Holz, U. (1991) Bone morphogenetic protein a review International Orthopaedics 15, 169, 177
- Augereau, B, Postel M (1980) Technique de reconstruction du cotyle par autogreffe au cours de l'arthroplastie totale sur protrusion acetabulaire Rev Chir Orthop 66 187-190
- Axhausen, G (1911) Arbeiten aus dem Gebiet der Knochenpathologie und Knochenchirurgie Kriti sche Beinerkungen und neue Beitrage zur freien Knochentransplantation. Arch fui Klin Chir 94 241-281
- Azuma, T (1985) Preparation of the acetabulum to correct severe acetabular deficiency for total hip replacement with special reference to stress distribution of the periacetabular region after operation Nippon Seikeigeka Gakkai Zasshi 59, 269–283
- Barth, A (1908) Uber Osteoplastik Arch fui Klin Chir 86 859-872
- Bauer (1910) Ubei Knochentransplantation Zentralbl f Chir 37, (Beilage 20-21)
- Bayley, J.C., Christie, M.J., Ewald, F.C., Kelley, K. (1987) Long term resluts of total hip arthroplasty in protrusio acetabuli. J. Arthroplasty 2, 275-280
- Brien W.W. Bruce, W.J., Salvati, E.A. (1990) Acetabular reconstruction with a bipolar prosthesis and morsellized bone grafts. J. Bone Joint Surg. 72-A. 1230.
- Brooks, D B, Heiple K S, Herndon C H (1963) Immunological factors in homogenous bone transplantation IV The effect of various methods of preparation and irradiation on antigenicity J Bone Joint Surg 45-A, 1617-1625
- Burchardt, H., Busbee, G.A. Enneking, W.F. (1975) Repair of experimental autologous grafts of cortical bone J. Bone Joint Surg. 57-A, 814
- Burchardt H (1989) Biology of cortical bone graft incorporation In Aebi, M., Regazzoni, P(eds.) Bone transplantation. Berlin, Springer-Verlag, 23-29
- Burwell, R G, Gowland, G (1962) Studies in the transplantation of bone. The immune respons of lymph nodes draining components of fresh homogenous bone treated by different methods. J. Bone Joint Surg. 44-B, 131-148
- Burwell, R G , Gowland, G (1962) Studies in the transplantation of bone Assessment of antigenicity Serological studies J Bone Joint Surg 43-B, 814 819
- Burwell, R G (1969) The fate of bone grafts In Apley, G A (ed.) Recent advances in orthopaedics London, Churchill, 115-207
- Bush, L F (1947) The use of homogenous bone grafts A preliminary report on the bone bank J Bone Joint Surg 29-A, 620-628

- Cameron H.U. (1985) Four methods for reconstruction of acetabular floor deficiencies. Orthop. Rev. 9, 71-76.
- Campbell C.J. (1953) Experimental study of the fate of bone grafts J. Bone Joint Surg 35-A, 332-346.

Campbell C.J. (1953) Experimental study of the fate of bone grafts. J. Bone Joint Surg 35-A, 332-346

- Chandler, H.P., McCarthy, J., Penenberg, B., Alleyne, N. (1990) Solid acetabular bone grafts used in association with total hip replacement. A six year follow-up study. Presented at the annual meeting of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, New Orleans, LA, February 1990.
- Chandler, H.P., Penenberg, B.L. (1989) Acetabular reconstruction. In: Chandler, H.P., Penenberg, B L (eds.): Bone stock deficiency in total hip replacement. Slack Inc. Thorofare, NJ., Chapter 5
- Clarke, H J., Jinnah, R.H., Lennox, D. (1988) Osteointegration of bone grafts in porous-coated total hip arthroplasty Clin. Orthop. 258, 160-168.
- Coventry, M.B. (1992) Lessons learned in 30 years of total hip arthroplasty. Clin. Orthop. 274, 22-30.
- Crowninshield, R. D., Brand, R.A., Pedersen, D.R. (1983) A stress analysis of acetabular reconstruction in protrusio acetabuli. J. Bone Joint Surg. 65-A 495-499.
- D'Antonio, J.A., Capello, W.N.C., Borden, L.S., Bargar, W.L., Bierbaum, B.F., Boettcher, W.G., Steinberg, M.E., Stulberg, S.D., Wedge, J.H. (1989) Classification and management of acetabular abnormalities in total hip arthroplasty. Clin. Orthop. 243, 126-138.
- Emerson, R.H., Head, W.C., Berklacich, F.M., Malinin, T.I. (1989) Noncemented acetabular revision arthroplasty using allograft bone. Clin. Orthop. 249, 30-44.
- Enneking, W.F., Mindell, E.R. (1991) Observations on massive retrieved human allografts. J. Bone Joint Surg. 73-A, 1123-1142.
- Enneking, W.F., Burchardt, H., Puhl, J J., Piotrowski, G. (1975) Physical and biological aspects of repair in dog cortical bone transplants. J. Bone Joint Surg. 57-A, 232.
- Farrow, R C. (1948) Summary of the results of bone grafting for war injuries. J. Bone Joint Surg. 30-A: 31-39
- Friedlaender, G.E., Strong, D.M., Sell, K W. (1976) Studies on the antigenicity of bone. I. Freeze-dried and deep frozen bone allografts in rabbits. J. Bone Joint Surg. 58-A, 854.
- Friedlaender, G.E. (1983) Immune responses to osteochondral allografts. Current knowledge and future directions Clin Orthop 174, 58-69.
- Friedlaender, G.E. (1991) Bone allografts. the biological consequences of immunological events. J. Bone Joint Surg. 73-A, 1119-1123.
- Friedlaender, G.E. (1987) Current concept review: bone grafts. J. Bone Joint Surg. 69-A, 786.
- Friedlaender, G.E. (1983) Immune responses to osteochondral allografts. Current knowledge and future directions. Orthop. Clin. N. Am. 18, 241-247.
- Fuchs, M D., Salvati, E.A., Wilson, P.D., Sculco, T.P., Pellici, P.M. (1988) Results of acetabular revisions with newer cementing techniques. Orthop. Clin. N. Am. 19, 649-656.
- Gates, H.S., McCollum, D.E., Nunley, J.A. (1990) Bone grafting in total hip arthroplasty for protrusio acetabuli. J. Bone Joint Surg. 72-A, 248-252.
- Gerber, S.D., Harris, W.H. (1986) Femoral head autografting to augment acetabular deficiency in patients requiring total hip replacement. J. Bone Joint Surg 68-A, 1241-1249
- Goldberg, V.M., Stevenson, S (1987) Natural history of autografts and allografts. Clin. Orthop. 225, 7-17.

- Goldberg, V.H., Bos, G.D., Heiple, K.G., Zika, J.M., Powell, A.E. (1984) Improved acceptance of frozen bone allografts in genetically mismatched dogs by immunosuppression. J. Bone Joint Surg. 66-A, 937-950.
- Goldberg, V.M., Powell, A.E., Shaffer, J.W., Zika, J., Stevenson, S., Davy, D., Heiple, K.G. (1989) The role of histocompatibility in bone allografting. In. Aebi, M. and Regazzoni, P. (eds.). Bone transplantation. Berlin, Springer-Verlag, 126-134.
- Goldberg, V., Lance, E.M. (1972) Revascularization and accretion in transplantation. Quantitative studies of the role of the allograft barrier. J. Bone Joint Surg 54-A, 807
- Goldring, S.R., Schiller, A.L., Roelke, M. (1983) The synovial-like membranes at the bone cement interface in loose total hip replacements and its proposed role in bone lysis. J. Bone Joint Surg. 65-A, 575-582
- Gordon, S L., Binkert, B.L., Rashkoff, E S, Britt, A.R., Esser, P.D., Stinchfield, FE (1985) Assessment of bone grafts used for acetabular augmentation in total hip arthroplasty Clin. Orthop 201, 18-26.
- Greco, F., de Palma, L., Specchia, N., Santucci, A. (1989) Biological aspects of repair osteogenesis in corticospongy homologous grafts. Ital. J. Orthop. 15, 491-499
- Hammack, B, Enneking, W.F. (1960) Comparative vascularization of autogenous and homogenous bone transplants. J. Bone Joint Surg 42-A, 811
- Harris, WH, Crothers, O. Oh, I. (1977) Total hip replacement and femoral-head bone-grafting for severe acetabular deficiency in adults. J. Bone Joint Surg. 59-A, 752.
- Harris, W.H. (1982) Allografting in total hip arthroplasty. In adults with severe acetabular deficiency including a surgical technique for bolting the graft to the ilium. Clin. Orthop. 162, 150-164.
- Hastings, D.E., Parker, S.M. (1975) Protrusio acetabuli in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin. Orthop. 108, 76-84
- Heiple, K.G., Chase, S.W., Herndon, C.H. (1963) A comparative study of the healing process following different types of bone transplantation J Bone Joint Surg. 45-A, 1593-1612.
- Herndon, C.H., Chase, S.W. (1954) The fate of massive autogenous and homogenous bone grafts including articular surfaces. Surg. Gynec. Obstet. 98, 273-290.
- Heywood, A W.B. (1980) Arthroplasty with a solid bone graft for protrusio acetabuli. J. Bone Joint Surg. 62-B, 332-336.
- Hirst, P., Esser, M., Murphy, J.C M., Hardinge, K. (1987) Bone grafting for protrusio acetabuli during total hip replacement. J. Bone Joint Surg 69-B, 229-234.
- Horowitz, M.C., Friedlaender, G.E. (1991) Induction of T-cell responsiveness to allogeneic bone. J Bone Joint Surg. 73-A, 1157-1168
- Howie, D.W., Cornish, B.L., Vernon-Roberts, B (1990) Resurfacing hip arthroplasty Classification of loosening and the role of prosthetic wear particles. Clin. Orthop 225, 144.
- Howie, D.W, Vernon-Roberts, B., Oakeshott, R., Manthey, B. (1988) A rat model of resorption of bone at the cement-bone interface in the presence of polyethylene wear particles. J.Bone Joint Surg 70-A, 257
- Huo, M H , Friedlaender, G E., Salvati, E.A. (1992) Bone graft and total hip arthroplasty. J. Arthroplasty 7, 109-120
- Jasty, M.J, Floyd, W.E., Schiller, A.L. (1986) Localized osteolysis in stable non-septic total hip replacement. J. Bone Joint Surg. 68-A, 912-919.

- Jasty, M, Harris, WH (1990) Salvage total hip reconstruction in patients with major acetabular bone deficiency using structural femoral head allografts J Bone Joint Surg 72 B, 63-68
- Jasty, M, Harris, WH (1988) Results of total hip reconstruction using acetabular mesh in patients with central acetabular deficiency Clin Orthop 237, 142
- Lexer, E (1908) Die Verwendung der freien Knochenplastik nebst Versuchen über Gelenkversteifung und Gelektranplantation Arch Klin Chir 86, 939-954
- Lord, G, Marotte, J H, Guillamon, J L, Blanchard, J P (1988) Cementless revisions of failed aseptic cemented and cementless total hip arthroplasties. Clin. Orthop. 235, 667-674
- MacEwen W (1881) Observations concerning transplantation of bones. Illustrated by a case of interhuman osseous transplantation, whereby over two thirds of the shaft of a humerus was restored. Proc. Roy. Soc. London 32, 232-247.
- Malcolm, A J (1990) Pathology of cemented low friction arthroplasties in autopsy specimens. In John Older (ed.) Implant bone interface. London, Springer Verlag, 77-84
- Maloney, WJ, Jasty, MJ, Harris, WH (1990) Endosteal erosion in association with stable uncemented femoral components J Bone Joint Surg 72-A, 1025 1034
- Mankin, H J, Doppelt, S, Tomford, W (1983) Clinical experience with allograft implantation. Clin Orthop: 174, 69-87
- Mankin, H J, Friedlaender, G E (1989) Bone and cartilage allografts physiological and immunological principles In Chandler, H P, Penenberg, B L (eds) Bone stock deficiency in total hip re placement Slack Inc., Thorotare, NJ, chapter 1
- Mankin, H J (1983) Complications of allograft surgery In Friedlaender G E, Mankin H J, Sell K W (eds.) Osteochondral allografts. Little Brown and Co., Boston, 259–274
- Marti, R K, Besselaar, PP (1983) Bone grafts in primary and secondary total hip replacement. In R K Marti (ed.), Proceedings of the Essex symposium "Progress in THR" Excerpta Medica, 107-130
- McCollum, D E, Nunley, J A, Harrelson, J M (1980) Bone grafting in total hip replacement for acetabular protrusion J Bone Joint Surg 72-A, 248 252
- Mendes, D G, Roffman, M, Silbermann, M (1984) Reconstruction of the acetabular wall with bone graft in arthroplasty of the hip Clin Orthop 186, 29-38
- Muller, M E (1992) Lessons of 30 years of total hip arthroplasty Clin Orthop 274, 12-22
- Musculo, DL, Caletti, E, Ray, RD (1976) Cellular and humoral response analysis of bone allografted rats J Bone Joint Surg 58-A, 826
- Oakeshott, R D, Morgan, D A F, Zukor, D J, Rudan, J F, Brooks, P J, Gross A E (1987) Revision total hip arthroplasty with osseous allograft reconstruction Clin Orthop 225, 37-62
- Olivier, H, Sanouiller, J L (1991) Acetabular reconstruction with cancellous bone grafts for revision of total hip arthroplasties Fr J Orthop Surg 5, 187-195
- Ollier, L (1867) Traite experimental et clinique de la regeneration des os et de la production artificielle du tissue osseux Paris, Victor Masson et Fils
- Ottolenghi, C E (1972) Massive osteo- and osteoarticular bone grafts Technique and results of 62 cases Clin Orthop 87, 156-164
- Parrish, F F (1966) Treatment of bone tumours by total excision and replacement with massive autologous and homologous grafts J Bone Joint Surg 48-A 968-990

- Pelker, R R , Friedlaender, G E (1987) Biomechanical aspects of bone autografts and allografts. Orthop Clin N Am 18, 235-240
- Ranawat, C S, Dorr, L D, Inglis, A E (1980) Total hip arthroplasty in protrusio acetabuli of rheumatoid arthritis J. Bone Joint Surg. 62-A, 1059-1065
- Salvati, E A, Bullough, P, Wilson, PD (1975) Intrapelvic protrusion of the acetabular component following total hip replacement. Clin. Orthop. 111, 212-227
- Samuelson, K M, Freeman, M A R, Levack, B, Rassmussen, G L Revell, PA (1990) Homograft bone in revision acetabular arthroplasty J Bone Joint Surg 70 B, 367 373
- Schuller, H M, Dalstra, M, Huiskes, R, Marti, R K. Total hip reconstruction in acetabular dysplasia. J. Bone Joint Surg. 75-B, 468-474
- Slooft, TJJH, Huiskes, R, van Horn, JR, Lemmens, AJ (1984) Bone grafting in total hip replacement for acetabular protrusion. Acta Orthop. Scand. 55, 593-596
- Solonen, K A, Rindell K, Paavilainen, T (1988) Construction of acetabular bone stock. Arch. Orthop: Trauma Surg. 107, 263-267
- Sotelo-Garza A, Charnley, J (1978) The results of Charnley arthroplasty of the hip performed for protrusio acetabuli. Clin. Orthop. 132, 12-24
- Stevenson, S., Xiao Qing Li, Martin, B. (1991) The fate of cancellous and cortical bone after transplantation of fresh and frozen tissue-antigen matched and mismatched osteochondral allografts in dogs. J. Bone Joint Surg. 73-A, 1143-1157
- Trancik, TM, Stulberg, BN, Wilde, AH, Feiglin, DH (1986) Allograft reconstruction of the acetabulum during revision total hip arthroplasty J Bone Joint Surg 68-A, 527-534
- Urist, M.R. (1965) Bone formation by autoinduction. Science 150, 893-899
- Urist, M R (1953) The physiological basis of bone graft surgery, with special reference to the theory of induction Clin Orthop 1, 207
- Urist, M R, DeLange, R J, Finerman, G A (1983) Bone cell differentiation and growth factors Science 220, 680
- Weber, B J (1981) Total hip replacement revision surgery surgical technique and experience. In The Hip, St. Louis, C V. Mosby Co., 33-14
- Willert, H G, Bertram, H, Buchhorn, G H (1990) Osteolysis in alloarthroplasty of the hip The role of UHMWP wear particles Clin Orthop 258, 95-108
- Willert, H G, Bertram, H, Buchhorn, G H (1990) Osteolysis in alloarthroplasty of the hip. The role of bone cement fragmentation. Clin. Orthop. 258, 108-121
- Wilson, M G, Nikpoor, N, Aliabadi, P, Poss, R, Weissman, B N (1989) The fate of acetabular allografts after bipolar revision arthroplasty of the hip J Bone Joint Surg 71-A, 1469-1486
- Wilson, PD (1951) Experience with the use of refrigerated homogenous bone J Bone Joint Surg 33-B, 301 315
- Young, S K, Dorr, L D, Kaufman, R L, Gruen T A W (1991) Factors related to failure of structural bone grafts in acetabular reconstruction of total hip arthroplasty J Arthroplasty 6, Suppl S73-S82

CHAPTER 3

Acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous allograft in cemented hip arthroplasty: a histological study in the goat

3.1 Introduction

Acetabular bone stock loss associated with a loosened socket is a common feature in revision hip surgery (D'Antonio et al. 1989, Chandler and Penenberg 1989). Also in up to 15% of primary hip replacements, insufficient acetabular bone stock is encountered due to protrusio acetabuli or dysplasia (Edelstein and Murphy 1983. McCollum et al. 1980). Controversy still exists about the treatment of choice for these bone stock deficiencies extra quantities of cement (Sotelo-Garza and Charnley 1978). metal devices (Eichler 1973), custom made implants (Scales and Wright 1983) and bone grafts (D'Antonio et al. 1989) have been proposed. However, with regard to acetabular bone stock deficiency in primary total hip replacement, there has been a strong tendency in the literature over the past decades for authors to describe a biological reconstruction with bone grafts as the method of choice (Chandler and Penenberg 1989).

It has become commonly accepted that autografts are superior to allografts with respect to their consolidation and incorporation capacity (Heiple et al. 1963). However, in many cases the defects are too large for reconstruction with the patient's own bone stock. Therefore, a growing number of bone banks has been established and the use of allograft bone has been introduced in orthopaedic practice. At our institute, we have been using a standardized bone grafting technique with impacted morsellized cancellous allografts from the bone bank combined with a cemented acetabular cup to reconstruct acetabular defects in revision hip arthroplasty since 1979 (Slooff et al. 1984). In the literature, only the clinical results of this technique have been described (Hirst et al. 1987, McCollum et al. 1980, Olivier and Sanouiller 1991, Slooff et al. 1984, Slooff et al. 1993). No data are available about the biological behaviour of acetabular bone grafts in total hip arthroplasty.

The purpose of this histological study was to investigate, in an animal model, the speed of consolidation with the host bone bed, to clarify the mechanism of incorporation of the graft into a new bony structure and to study events at the graft-cement interface during revitalization. Special attention was paid to the possible relationships between the incorporation process of the graft and early and late loosening of the acetabular cup

3.2 Material and methods

The study was performed on 23 skeletally mature Dutch milk goats (Capra Hircus Sana) of about 2 years old and weighing between 48 8 and 79 3 kg (average 60 3 kg) (fig 3 1) The



Figure 3.1. One of the goats used in the animal experiment (Capra Hircus Sana)

allografts were harvested, under sterile conditions, from another goats' sternum, packed as small chips of 1/4-1/2 cm diameter in sterile bags, after cultures had been taken and stored at -70 degrees Celsius. Just before use they were thawed in physiological saline. Anaesthesia was induced by intravenous Nembutal (30mg/kg) and atropine 0.5 mg and maintained via endotracheal intubation with a mixture of nitrous oxide, oxygen and halothane in a closed circuit. After 500 mg ampicillin iv. had been administered as antibiotic prophylaxis and routine aseptic measures had been taken, the right hip was exposed via an antero-lateral approach. Total capsulectomy and femoral neck osteotomy were performed. The acetabular cavity was cleared of soft tissues and reamed to a diameter of 29 mm, taking care not to penetrate the medial wall (fig. 3.2a). With a speed burr, a standard defect was made in the dorso-cranial part of the acetabulum, including the peripheral rim, with a maximal depth of 1.5 centimeters (fig. 3.2b). Many small burr holes (2 mm) were made in the cortical bone of the ilium and acetabular cavity to stimulate vascularization of the recipient bone bed (fig. 3.2c). After cleaning and drying, the defect and the acetabular cavity were filled with allograft chips (fig. 3.2d) and impacted with a 25 mm diameter socket trial prosthesis in such a way, that the socket was localized in the anatomical position, thus restoring the original centre of rotation (fig. 3.2e). The acetabular cavity, apart from the caudal and ventral walls, was completely covered with a layer of allograft chips and a 22 mm polyethylene cup



Figure 3.2a. Acetabulum after resection of the femoral head showing intact articular cartilage and the cut teres capitis ligament.



Figure 3.2b. After the acetabulum was reamed to 29 mm diameter a defect in the cranial-superior segment was created by a speed burr.



Figure 3.2c. Multiple drill holes (2 mm) in the recipient bone bed.



Figure 3.2d. Acetabulum filled with non-impacted chip allografts.



Figure 3.2e. After impaction of the chips. Largest parts of the acetabulum covered with a layer of chips.



Figure 3.2f. Cup with an outer diameter of 22 mm cemented in the reconstructed acetabulum.



Figure 3.2g. Femoral component cemented in the femur.

(Mathys, Bettlach, Switzerland) was inserted and cemented in place (fig. 3.2f). The femoral canal was then reamed, a plastic plug (Allopro) was inserted and the femoral component (Mathys, Bettlach, Switzerland) was cemented in place (fig. 3.2g). The femoral component was made out of cobalt-chromium alloy and had a 16 mm head. CMW low-viscosity cement was used for fixation. The hip was reduced and the wound closed in layers. Immediately after the operation, standard antero-posterior pelvic radiographs were taken (fig. 4.2a). The goats were immobilized for 2 days in a special hammock in which both hindlegs were not loaded. Free weight-bearing and exercise were allowed in the subsequent period. The weight-bearing patterns were assessed at 3, 6, 12, 24 and 48 weeks, using the grading scale according to Ypma (1981). Calcein green was administered (25 mg/kg) subcutaneously on days 9, 8, 2 and 1 before the animals were killed and evaluated. Radiographs were taken only when dislocation, fracture or premature loosening was suspected. Three animals were killed with an overdose of pentobarbitone immediately after surgery; 4 goats were killed at 3, 6, 12, 24 and 48 weeks after surgery. Antero-posterior pelvic radiographs were then taken. A selected group of animals, indicated with the letter H after their number (table 3.1), were perfused with barium sulphate for microangiography. All the other animals were routinely perfused with 4% 0.1M phosphate-buffered (pH 7.4) paraformaldehyde. Block resection of the acetabulum was performed by osteotomy of the ilium, upper arch of the pubic bone and ischial bone. The components were inspected, tested manually for stability and scored on a grading scale (table 3.1). No further analyses were performed in the case of gross purulence

Follow-up		Weightbearing					Fixation		
(weeks)	Goat number	3	6	12	2 4	48 (weeks)	Stem	Cup	Complications
0	56LB	_	_				3	3	
0	57LB						3	3	
0	59LB						3	3	
3	69B	4					3	3	
3	70B	3					3	3	
3	75B	3					3	3	Р
3	87H	0					3	3	D
6	71H	3	4				3	3	I
6	7 3H	3	4				3	3	Р
6	80H	2	3				3	3	D
6	83H	3	3				3	3	F
12	81B	3	4	4			3	3	
12	82B	4	4	4			3	3	
12	84H	4	4	4			3	٦	
12	88B	4	2	1			1	1	1
24	61H	2	3	2	2		1	3	
24	64H	3	2	1	1		0	1	
24	66H	3	4	4	4		3	3	
24	72H	3	4	4	4		3	3	
48	56RB	3	4	4	4	1	0	3	
48	57RB	3	4	2	2	2	0	0	
48	59RB	3	4	3	2	I	0	0	
48	62H	3	3	4	4	4	0	2	

Table 3.1. Clinical score

Weight bearing (according to Ypma (1981))

0 = not used at all

1 = supported incidentally

2 = loaded in a standing position and incidentally while walking

3 = loaded in a standing position and while walking but with a limp

4 = normal walking and standing pattern

Fixation at evaluation (according to Ypma (1981))

0 =completely loose and extractable without any force

I = slightly movable

2 = stable but extractable by hand

3 = fully stable

 Table 3.1.
 Clinical score (continued)

Complications P = peroperative medial wall perforation D = dislocation I = infection proven by positive culture F = femoral fracture

at harvest or full luxation of the components. The left femur and acetabulum of each goat served as a control. After fixation, the acetabuli were embedded in plaster of Paris and sawn in the medial-lateral plane into slices of 2-3 mm thick with a water-cooled saw (fig. 3.3a and 3.3b). The slices were then X-rayed. For routine histology, the slices were decalcified in 25% EDTA under X-ray control, embedded in polymethyl-methacrylate



Figure 3.3a. Resected acetabulum of not-operated contalateral hip after sectioning in the anatomical medial-lateral plane.

(PMMA), thin sectioned (7 μ m) and stained with haematoxylin-eosin (HE). For fluorescence microscopy, unstained, non-decalcified 3 mm thick slices were embedded in PMMA and sectioned (20 μ m) using a Leitz 1600 rotating water-cooled diamond saw. For microangiography the slices were decalcified in formic acid and X-rayed.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Clinical performance and complications of the operation

All the animals were ambulated and allowed full weight bearing after two days in a hammock. The average clinical scores were $3.13 (\pm 0.50, n=16)$ after 3 weeks, $3.62 (\pm 0.65, n=12)$ after 6 weeks, $3.27 (\pm 1.10, n=11)$ after 12 weeks, $2.88 (\pm 1.25, n=8)$ after 24 weeks and 2.00. ($\pm 1.41, n=4$) after 48 weeks (infections, dislocations and fractures excluded). The clinical



Figure 3.3b. One of the slices of the sectioned acetabulum 3 weeks postoperatively. Boundary of graft with host bone can be clearly distinguished.



AVERAGE CLINICAL SCORES

Figure 3.4a. Diagram representing average clinical scores according to Ypma (1981).

scores are summarized in table 3.1 and figure 3.4a. From these scores it could be deduced that the initial clinical score was good, but that after 6 weeks, the weight bearing pattern showed the tendency to deteriorate. Although the scores were lower in the longer follow-up periods, they were found to vary widely from animal to animal. Cup fixation at sacrifice is represented in figure 3.4b.

Goat 64H (killed after 24 weeks) and goats 57RB and 59RB (killed after 48 weeks) showed complete loosening of the cup without any clear signs of infection. One goat (62H) (killed after 48 weeks) showed early signs of cup loosening. In two specimens (71H and 88B) positive cultures of Staph. epidermidis were found. Histological evaluation revealed massive infiltration of polymorphonuclear lymphocytes, macrophages and foreign body giant cells throughout the graft, which extended into the host bone bed. No signs of union were seen. Osteoclastic resorption of the graft and living host bone had resulted in the formation of a thick fibrous tissue interface with large fibrin deposits. Also large periosteal reactions with callous formation were found in these specimens. Two hips became dislocated (87H, 80H). Infections were excluded from the analyses. One goat (83H) had a femoral fracture at the tip of the stem at 6 weeks, just before it was scheduled for evaluation.



Figure 3.4b. Diagram representing cup fixation at sacrifice according to Ypma (1981).

3.3.2 Histological analysis

3.3.2.1 0 weeks (goats 56LB, 57LB, 59LB)

On the X-rays, the impacted graft could be recognized easily in the defect (fig. 3.5b). At the host-graft interface, a thin sclerotic layer was present (fig. 3.5b), which consisted of small bone fragments that had been squeezed between the trabeculae of the host bone bed during the preparation of the defect. The effect of impaction was clearly visible. Large areas of the graft did not show a typical trabecular pattern (Fig. 3.5c). Much of the intramedullary fat in the pieces of graft had been squeezed out during the process of impaction. Locally, the intertrabecular spaces were filled with fibrin clots (fig. 3.5d). In many trabeculae of the grafts (micro)fractures were present (fig. 3.5d). The cellular elements of the graft were still present, but were necrotic and/or picnotic.

The chip grafts were locally interdigitated with the host bone bed, but there was no direct continuity between the dead graft trabeculae and the host trabeculae. The graft closely followed the host bone bed, indicating sufficient impaction. It was impossible to assess necrosis of the host bone bed because of the short postoperative follow-up period. At the graft-cement interface, cement had penetrated into the graft for about 2-3 mm, which resulted in close



Figure 3.5. Histology directly after surgery. A. X-ray of control specimen. x1.5. B. X-ray of a thick section through the defect. Note the thin sclerotic rim (arrow) at the interface between the graft (G) and host bone bed. x1.5. C. Low power histolgy of the defect. At the host-graft interface small fragments of bone were pressed inbetween the trabeculae of the host bone bed (arrows). The cement had penetrated into the graft material (C). x16. D. Magnification of the encircled area in C. Note the fractured trabeculae (arrows) and fibrin material (F). x150.

contact between the bone cement and dead graft trabeculae (fig. 3.5c). In all three specimens, the cement layer was intact.

3.3.2.2 3 weeks (goats 69B, 70B, 75B, 87H)

On the X-rays of the thick sections, there was no clear delineation between the graft and host bone bed (fig. 3.6a). An area of 0.5 to 1.5 mm of the host bone bed had become partially necrotic due to the surgical trauma. In the superior wall, this was mainly composed of trabecular bone, but in the medial wall the necrotic tissue was mainly composed of compact cortical bone. The necrotic bone became revascularized after three weeks and showed active bone remodelling (fig. 3.6b). Active periosteal bone appossition was present on the medial wall in all the specimens (fig. 3.6b). Sclerosis was seen in the HE section and in the fluorochrome sections of the host trabecular bone bed. Callous bone had been laid down on the preexisting

trabeculae (fig. 3.6c,d). Consolidation of the graft with the host bone bed had occurred over large areas of the host-graft interface (fig. 3.6e,f). The area of sprouting revascularization had penetrated into the graft (fig. 3.7a,b), but it had not yet reached the graft-cement interface. This indicated that at the graft-cement junction necrotic graft trabeculae were still in direct contact with the penetrated cement but there was no fibrous interface membrane. In the transition zone between vital tissue and necrotic graft, loose fibrous tissue was found which mainly consisted of fibroblasts and histiocytes, also known as "osteoprogenitor mesenchyma". In the areas where this type of tissue had penetrated into the graft, we observed a concerted action of osteoclastic bone destruction of the graft and bone formation in the medullary space and in the remnants of the bone graft (fig. 3.7c,d). This predominantly comprised callous bone with disoriented collagen lamellae (fig. 3.6g,h). No differences were observed between graft in contact with cortical bone and graft in contact with cancellous bone. In one specimen (goat 75B) in which the medial wall had been perforated during surgery, bone graft



Figure 3.6. Three weeks after surgery. A. The sharp deliniation between the host bone bed and graft was no longer visible. x1.5. B. Medial wall of the acetabulum. Fluorescence microscopy. Note the bone remodelling of the cortical bone and periosteal (P) bone apposition. x95. C. Trabecular host bone bed showing callous bone apposition after the operation. x40. D. Enlargement of the encircled area in C with polarized light. x100.



Figure 3.6. (Continued). Three weeks after surgery. E. Graft in contact with the medial wall of the acetabulum (M). Arrows indicate sites where bone continuities were present between the medial wall and the graft. x50. F. Enlargement of lower encircled area in E, showing graft bone (G) and newly formed bone (N). x150. G. Enlargement of the upper encircled area in E. Note the callous bone. x150. H. Same location as in G with polarized light. x90.

had come into direct contact with the intact periosteum (fig. 3.7e,f). Incorporation of the graft under the periosteum was not different from that at other locations.

3.3.2.3 6 weeks (goats 71H, 73H, 80H, 83H).

Periosteal bone activity was reduced. Local osteoclastic activity was present but the cortical bone of the medial wall was still about twice as thick as it was on the control side due to periosteal bone apposition. Consolidation between the host bone bed and graft was found over 100% of the contact zone in three goats (73H, 80H, 83H). The X-rays of the thick sections showed remodelling of the graft (fig. 3.8a). In the central part of the defect, the trabecular pattern of the graft could still be recognized. At the transition between the graft and viable bone, the presence of radiolucencies confirmed that during the incorporation process, parts of the graft had been resolved. The bone-forming activity at the graft-new bone junction had changed to the formation of lamellar bone instead of callous bone and showed reorganizing spongiosa with viable osteocytes on remnants of the graft (fig. 3.8c, d). Generally, the orien-



Figure 3.7. Three weeks after surgery. A. Vascular sprouts penetrated into the grafted area (G) in the direction of the cement layer (C). x40. B. Enlargement of A. x80. C. Osteoclastic bone destruction (arrows) in an area of revascularization with loosely organized fibrous tissue. x150. D. Adjacent area in the section with bone formation on the surface of the graft (G; arrows) and in the fibrous tissue. x120. E. Graft incorporation under the periosteum (P) in the acetabulum with perforation of the medial wall during surgery. x30. F. Enlargement of the encircled area in E. N: new bone. x95.



Figure 3.8. Six weeks postoperatively. A. Complete consolidation of the graft (G) with the host bone bed. Radiolucent zones were found around the remnants of the graft (G). x4.5. B. Microangiography of the vacular ingrowth into the graft (G). C: cement layer. x40. C. Graft (G) with remodelling bone appositions. Bone formation converted to the formation of lamellar bone (arrow). D. Same location as in C, but with polarized light. x125. E. and F. Microcallous formation (arrows) at the transition between the individual pieces of graft (asterisks) in the vicinity of the cement layer (C). Note also the osteoclastic activity (arrow heads). x150.

tation of the newly formed trabeculae had enabled load transfer from the cup to the host bone bed. More than two thirds of the graft extending from the graft-host interface had become incorporated. The zone of osteoprogenitor mesenchyma had moved towards the graft-cement interface. Revascularization of the graft was also observed on the microangiograms which showed fronts of sprouting capillaries in the area of osteoprogenitor mesenchyma and clearly delineated avascular areas (fig. 3.8b). Occasionally microcallous formation was observed in the area of revascularization of the graft (fig. 3.8e,f). The microcallous was specifically located at the transitions between different pieces of graft material. Vascular regions had reached the graft-cement interface and changed in the interface between the bone and cement. In revascularizing areas, osteoclastic activity had initially caused a thin gap between the graft and cement (fig. 3.9a). Apparently, parts of the soft tissue directly touching the cement layer had been replaced by bone and resulted in local areas of new bone-cement contact (fig. 3.9c,d). In other areas, the soft tissue had remained unchanged and was present in the form of a fibrous tissue interface (fig. 3.9b).

3.3.2.4 12 weeks (goats 81B, 82B, 84H, 88B)

In three goats (81B, 82B, 84H) there was no longer any clear host/graft junction in the cancellous part of the iliac bone which had contained most of the graft (fig 3 10b). Complete consolidation and remodelling had occurred in this area. In the medial wall, reorganizing spongiosa, which showed simultaneous osteoclastic resorption and osteoblastic bone apposition, was in close contact with the original cortical host bone (fig 3 10c). The largest part of the graft in these three goats had become incorporated and showed reorganizing spongiosa with normal viable marrow (fig 3 10c). Vascular sprouting was observed which extended into the region where cement had penetrated the graft (fig 3 10d), but in all three specimens, local areas of the graft-bone interface had not yet become revascularized (fig 3 10c). In the vital areas of the interface, the same phenomena were found as in the 6-week group. Local areas of new bone were in contact with the cement layer without the interposition of a soft tissue interface. Where the interlock between the cement and graft was large, vital bone had deeply penetrated into the cement (fig 3 10e,f). However, in all three specimens a fibrous tissue interface was present over large areas of the cement-bone interface (fig 3 10a,b).

3.3.2.5 24 weeks (goats 61H, 64H, 66H, 72H)

Complete consolidation, incorporation and revascularization of the graft with reorganized spongiosa and viable marrow were observed in all four specimens. Remnants of the graft were scarce or totally absent. Fluorescence microscopy showed clear signs of remodelling with a denser trabecular structure which gradually decreased towards the graft-cement junction (fig. 3.11b, 3.12g). Most of the spongiosa had viable bone marrow. Moderate numbers of polymorphonuclear lymphocytes indicating a low grade infection were only found in one specimen (goat 64H, fig. 3.12a,b). No bone destruction was seen in this goat. At the graft-cement junction, all four goats showed viable trabecular bone over the whole contact area and an interfacial membrane was present between the bone and cement.



Figure 3.9. Six weeks postoperatively. A. Trabeculae of the graft (G) have penetrated into the cement layer (C) and show osteoclastic degradation (arrows). x200. B. Interface formation between the cement (C) and graft (G). x95. C. Direct bone cement (C) contact sites (arrow). x140. D. Enlargement of C. x230.

cement-bone contact were visible in three out of the four specimens (figs 3.11a, 3.12g,h). In the acetabulum of goat 64H, the interface membrane was thicker and contained many sheats of mononuclear histiocytes (fig. 3.12c,d). The interface of the other specimens consisted of fibrocartilage (fig. 3.12e) or dense fibrous tissue with scarce granulation tissue (histiocytes, foreign body giant cells) on the cement side.

3.3.2.6 48 weeks (goats 56RB, 57RB, 59RB, 62H)

Two goats (57RB and 59RB) showed complete loosening of the acetabular cup and femoral stem with massive loss of bone stock and resorption of the acetabular allograft. No infection could be detected either clinically or by cultures. Therefore, these goats were excluded from any further histological analysis. In the two remaining acetabuli (56RB and 62H) the histology was similar to that in the 24-week group. An interfacial membrane had developed at the



Figure 3.10. Twelve weeks postoperatively. A. and B. Different aspects of the bone cement interface. In A. a thick interface (I) has developed between the graft and cement (C). B. direct bone-cement contact and a completely reorganized defect (asterisks) in the superior wall of the acetabulum. x1.5. C. Reorganizing spongioza in the superior acetabular wall. Only remnants of the graft (G) were present in the bone. Consolidation with the medial wall (MW) was present (arrows). x40. D. Vascular infiltration of the graft into the cement (C). x40. E. Calcein green labelling (arrows) of the bone in direct contact with the cement layer (C). x30. F. Enlargement of E. x100.

graft-cement junction in both goats (fig. 3.11c,d). It mainly consisted of loose fibrous tissue. On the cement side there were some focal areas of thin granulation with foreign body giant cells and histiocytes. The trabeculae were all viable without any signs of osteoclastic resorp-



Figure 3.11. X-rays of thick sections after 24 weeks (A. and B.) and 48 weeks postoperatively (C. and D.). Note the areas of direct bone-cement contact (arrows) and interface formation (arrowheads). x1.5.

tion. As was also the case at 24 weeks, several protrusions of trabecular bone crossed the interfacial membrane and directly connected the cement cuff with the cancellous bone (fig. 3.11c, d). The trabeculae adjacent to the membrane on the cement surface appeared to be thickened and showed a denser pattern. This was interpreted as a sign of more active remodelling, probably as a reaction to instability of the cup.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Consolidation

For practical reasons, the general use of morsellized cancellous allograft bone is to be preferred above cortical solid allografts in reconstruction surgery for all types of defect because of the intimate contact that can be obtained with the host bone bed after impaction. This was confirmed in our study. The graft material closely followed the configuration of the host bone bed. This close contact was expected to be beneficial for rapid consolidation, as opposed to reconstruction with structural bone blocks, which would fit the bone bed relatively loosely and possibly have a negative influence on consolidation.



Figure 3.12. Histology of bone-cement contact after 24 weeks. A. A typical specimen (G64H) with many polymorphonuclear leucocytes in the medullary region of the grafted bone. x45. B. Enlargement of the encircled area in A. x375. C. Interface of 2.5 mm thickness of specimen G64H after 24 weeks. x30. D. Enlargement of the encircled area in C. showing many mono- and poly-nuclear macrophages throughout the interface. x140.

It is not possible to compare the time needed for consolidation in our goat experiment to that in the human revision situation, because the biological charateristics of our animal model differed from those involved in revising a loosened cemented hip arthroplasty. In addition the possibly avascular, sclerotic surface of the recipient (human) bone bed after a failed cemented implant was absent in our model. Thus, in theory, the process of consolidation between the host bone bed and the graft, which only took 3 weeks in our animal model, would probably take longer in the human revision situation.

3.4.2 Incorporation

In many animal experiments conducted over the past decades, autografts have shown to be superior to allografts from a biological point of view, which has been expressed in the amount and rate of graft incorporation (Burwell 1969, Campbell 1953, Heiple et al. 1963). The rates and extents of allograft incorporation are thought to vary considerably and are, in fact, unpredictable; allograft failure may be the consequence of an immune response, as was illustrated in a report on massive retrieved allografts (Enneking and Mindell 1991). There is



Figure 3.12. (Continued). Histology of bone-cement contact after 24 weeks. E. Moderately thick interface (1) of fibrocartilagenous nature. x60. F. Fibrous interface (1) of few leucocytes. x90. G. Area of very thin interface and direct bone-cement (C) contact sites. x20. H Enlargement of the encircled area in G. x90.

strong evidence to suggest that the biological inferiority of allografts is caused by immunological disparity between the host and graft, which causes cell-mediated responses (Friedlander 1991, Goldberg et al. 1989, Stevenson et al. 1991). However, the immunogenicity of allograft bone is known to be markedly reduced by freezing (Brooks et al. 1963, Mankin and Friedlander 1989).

In our experiment we did not perform histocompatibility matching. The rate and extent of incorporation of all the non-infected grafts were comparable so it is unlikely that immunological factors influenced the process. However, it is possible that the massive infiltration of polymorphonuclear lymphocytes in goat 64H (24 weeks), which was considered to represent low grade infection, might have been an immunological response, although this phenomenon was unique in our experiment and complete incorporation occurred.

These results and those previously published on femoral revisions with morsellized allograft chips (Schreurs et al. 1994) have shown that this type of bone material has a high capacity to incorporate. In our study a fairly consistent pattern was observed in the speed and mode of incorporation and revascularization during the first 12 weeks. The process of graft incorporation involved simultaneous bone apposition and resorption in the early phase of graft incorporation. After this period, viable reorganized lamellar bone was found throughout the original graft.

It is hypothesized that a prerequisite for successful incorporation is good impaction of the graft material, which will possibly also influence the initial stability of the reconstruction. As in our experiment all the reconstructions showed incorporation, it might be concluded that sufficient initial stability could be created for incorporation using the surgical technique applied.

The sequence of biological events during the incorporation of structural cancellous grafts is similar to that with morsellized allograft chips (Friedlaender 1987, Goldberg and Stevenson 1987) The open structure of both types of graft should promote more rapid revascularization than compact cortical bone. However, retrieval studies have indicated that a structural allograft does consolidate with the host bone bed, but that incorporation is confined to the outer zone of the graft (Enneking and Mindell 1991) The remaining inner necrotic zone of the structural graft may give rise to failure by fatigue damage in the long-term

There may be mechanical and biological differences in the incorporation characteristics between structural cancellous grafts and morsellized chip grafts. It is well-known that mechanical factors influence the incorporation process of bone grafts (Friedlaender 1987). However, correlating the weight bearing pattern of the goats with their histological findings, we could not establish whether weight bearing had influenced the mode and extent of consolidation and incorporation. In the specimens evaluated after 3 weeks, one goat (87H) had not used the limp at all and no difference was observed in the early process of consolidation. In the 24-week group, one goat (64H) had only supported the hip incidentally for 6 weeks and still full graft incorporation had occurred although the cup appeared to be slightly unstable with dense fibrous tissue at the graft-cement interface

It can be speculated that the following factors might be involved in graft incorporation 1) The density of trabecular bone is higher compared to non-impacted structural cancellous graft material. This type of bone could contain more growth factors of the TGF- β - and BMP-family. Impacted bone graft also has a relatively large surface area for osteoclastic bone destruction, which in combination with the growth factors could account for an increased bone-inducing capacity. The release of the growth factors from the graft may even be more facilitated by the microfractured surface of the graft material that is a result of the impaction proces 2). In theory, the incorporation of impacted bone graft can be compared to fracture repair. Impaction does not produce complete stability between the individual pieces of graft. Micromotions within the graft material could stimulate host cells to bone formation and this may result in rapid consolidation and incorporation of the graft. Further research is needed to clarify these hypotheses.

34.3 Graft-cement interface

The bone cement did not seem to have any adverse effects on the incorporation process of the bone grafts, although some authors (Samuelson et al 1990) have expressed concern that it might Roffman et al (1983) did not observe any adverse effects of bone cement in a dog model After 6 months, full consolidation and incorporation of autologous cancellous bone grafts were found in an acetabular defect which had been covered with bone cement. In our study with morsellized cancellous allografts, we observed a comparable extent of incorporation and consolidation even though the goats were evaluated at much earlier intervals. Al though the cement layer did not affect the incorporation process events at the graft-cement interface may have been responsible for the cases of late loosening in this goat model. We found that where the new vascularity had reached the graft-cement interface, the graft has been resorbed by osteoclastic activity Part of the resorbed bone had been replaced by a thin loose fibrous tissue membrane and part had been replaced by host bone. This process of graft replacement resulted in a decrease of the interlock between the graft-new bone mixture and the cement layer. In most of the animals, scattered areas of vital bone remained in intimate contact with the cement layer, but an organized fibrous tissue layer, a common phenomenon around stable implants (Draenert 1990, Linder and Carlsson 1986), was found at other local tions Particulary in the goats followed-up for 24 and 48 weeks, the relatively thin fibrous tissue had developed into a dense fibrous tissue interface with mononuclear histiocytes and foreign body giant cells, which indicated micromovements and cup instability (Goldring et al 1983) Also the clinical score correlated with the histological evidence of loosening

The clinical behaviour and mechanical environment of the prostheses after surgical rec onstruction are quite different between goats and humans. For instance, there are differences in the loading regime after surgery, the goats were allowed full weight-bearing after two days. In addition, the behaviour of the goat is such that it can be expected to exert greater mechanical forces on the cement bone interface than a human. Another major difference between goats and humans is the size of the defect. In the relatively small acetabulum of the goat the cement layer was much thinner than that applied to humans. This might have induced high peak stresses at the bone-cement interface. Although the principal loosening sce narios for cemented total hip replacement (Huiskes 1993) are also applicable to a prosthesis in the goat, the above described differences may be responsible for the different time scales The dynamic bone interface stresses which can lead to disruption of the cement-bone bond may have been able to cause more damage owing to insufficient cement in some specimens The other scenario of reaction to wear particles might have also played a role because we found foreign body giant cells in the interfaces, defects in the cement mantle might have contributed to this situation. In general, the cement layer was fairly thin and in some of the goats even completely lacking at several places so that the graft was in direct contact with the cup and thick fibrous tissue had developed in between Although it was extremely diffi cult to correlate good performance with the integrity of the cement layer, it is likely that the condition of the cement mantle played a role in the early loosening process. During surgery

the cup was cemented without pressure after the graft had been impacted with a slightly oversized socket trial prosthesis. Pressure might have helped to create a continuous cement mantle with a better cement-bone interlock

Infection is the most frequent and devastating complication in bone allograft surgery with an average rate of about 10% in humans (Lord et al. 1988). In our series of 23 goats, we had three cases (13%) with infection proven by positive cultures and/or histological sections. A considerable proportion of the grafts had been resorbed or showed massive infiltration of inflammatory cells. The most probable cause for the higher infection rate in allografts is undetected contamination during storage and transport, although also the extent and duration of the operation can play a role.

3.5 Conclusion

Acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous allografts in cemented hip arthroplasty in the goat, has a high capacity to consolidate and incorporate, showing a consistent pattern. The incorporation process moved like a front from the host bone bed towards the graft-cement junction and showed a simultaneous process of bone resorption and apposition. As complete graft incorporation was noted in all the animals, sufficient initial stability of the reconstruction seemed to have been achieved. At 24 and 48 weeks, clear signs of cup instability were present both histologically and clinically in the majority of animals. This loosening process by mechanical stress and particle reactions at the bone-cement interface was possibly enhanced by insufficient thickness of the cement mantle. The infection rate was 13% and led to graft resorption and total failure

References

- Bayley, J C , Christie, M J , Ewald, F C , Kelley, K (1987) Long-term results of total hip arthroplasty in protrusio acetabuli J Arthroplasty 2, 275 280
- Brooks, D.B. Heiple K.G., Herndon C.H. (1963) Immunological factors in homogenous bone transplantation IV The effect of various methods of preparation and irradiation on antigenicity J. Bone Joint Surg. 45-A, 1617-1625
- Burwell, R G (1969) The fate of bone grafts In Apley, G A (ed.) Recent advances in orthopaedics London, Churchill, 115-207
- Campbell, C J (1953) Experimental study of the fate of bone grafts J Bone Joint Surg 35-A, 332-346
- Chandler, H P, Penenberg, B L (cds) (1989) Bone stock deficiency in total hip replacement Slack Inc Thorofare, NJ
- D'Antonio, J A, Capello, W N C, Borden, L S, Bargar, W L, Bierbaum, B F, Boettcher, W G, Stein berg, M E, Stulberg, S D, Wedge, J H (1989) Classification and management of acetabular abnormalities in total hip arthroplasty Clin Orthop 243, 126-138

- Draenert K (1990) New observations on the bone cement bone interface. In J Older (ed.) Implant bone interface. London Springer Verlag. 25.26
- Edelstein G, Murphy, WA (1983) Protrusio acetabuli radiographic appearance in arthritis and other conditions. Arthritis and Rheumatism 26, 1511–1517
- Eichler J (1973) Ein Voischlag zur operativen Behandlung der Protrusio Acetabuli Arch Orthop Unfallchir 75 76-80
- Enneking WF Mindell, ER (1991) Observations on massive retrieved human allografts J Bone Joint Surg 73-A, 1123 1142
- Friedlaender, G E (1991) Bone allografts the biological consequences of immunological events J Bone Joint Surg 73-A, 1119-1123
- Friedlaender GE (1987) Current concept review bone grafts J Bone Joint Surg 69 A 786
- Goldberg, VM, Powell, A E, Shafter J W, Zika, J, Stevenson, S, Davy D, Heiple, K G (1989) The role of histocompatibility in bone allogratting. In Aebi, M and Regazzoni, P (eds.) Bone transplantation. Berlin, Springer-Verlag, 126-134.
- Goldberg VM Stevenson, S (1987) Natural history of autografts and allografts Clin Orthop 225 7 17
- Goldring, S.R., Jasty, M., Roelke, M. Rourke, C.M., Bringhurst, F.R., Harris, W.H. (1983) The synovial-like membrane at the bone-cement interface in loose total hip replacements and its proposed role in bone lysis. J. Bone Joint Surg. 65: A, 575-584
- Heiple K G, Chase, S W, Herndon C H (1963) A comparative study of the healing process following different types of bone transplantation J Bone Joint Surg 45 A 1593-1612
- Hirst, P, Esser, M, Murphy, J C M, Hardinge, K (1987) Bone grafting for protrusio acetabuli during total hip replacement J Bone Joint Surg 69 B, 229 234
- Huiskes, R (1993) The current state and future of cemented and non-cemented total hip replacement In Duparc, J (ed) Post-graduate lectures, First European congress of orthopaedic surgery Paris
- Linder, L, Carlsson, A S (1986) The bone-cement interface in hip arthroplasty. A histologic and enzyme study of stable components. Acta Orthop. Scand 57, 495-500
- Lord, C F, Gebhaardt, M C, Tomford, W W, Mankin, H J (1988) Infection in bone allograft J Bone Joint Surg 70-A, 369
- Mankin, H J Friedlaender, G E (1989) Bone and cartilage allografts physiological and immunological principles In Chandler, H P, Penenberg, B L (eds) Bone stock deficiency in total hip re placement Slack Inc., Thorofare, NJ, chapter I
- McCollum, D E, Nunley, J A Harrelson, J M (1980) Bone grafting in total hip replacement for acetabular protrusion J Bone Joint Surg 72-A, 248 252
- Oakeshott, R D, Morgan, D A F, Zukor, D J, Rudan, J F, Brooks, P J, Gross, A E (1987) Revision total hip arthroplasty with osseous allograft reconstruction Clin Orthop 225 37-62
- Olivier, H, Sanouiller, J L (1991) Acetabular reconstruction with cancellous bone grafts for revision of total hip arthroplasties Fr J Orthop Surg 5, 187 195
- Roffman, M, Silbermann, M, Mendes, DG (1983) Incorporation of bone graft covered with methylmethacrylate onto acetabular wall Acta Orthop Scand 54, 580-583
- Samuelson, K M, Freeman, M A R, Levack, B, Rasmussen, G L Revell PM (1990) Homograft bone in revision acetabular arthroplasty J Bone Joint Surg 70 B, 3, 367-373

- Scales, J.T., Wright, K WJ (1983) Major bone and joint replacement using custom implants. In: Chao, E.Y.S., Irin, I.C. (eds.): Tumor prosthesis for bone and joint reconstruction, the design and application. Stuttgart, Thieme-Verlag, 149-168.
- Schreurs, B W, Buma, P., Huiskes, R., Slagter, J L M, Slooff, T.J.J.H (1994) Morsellized allografts for fixation of the hip prosthesis femoral component. Acta Orthop. Scand. 65, 267-275.
- Slooff, T J J H , Huiskes, R , van Horn, J R , Lemmens J.A.M (1984) Bone grafting in total hip replacment for acetabular protrusion. Acta Orthop. Scand. 55, 593-596.
- Sloott, T.J.J H., Schimmel, J W, Buma, P. (1993) Cemented fixation with bone grafts Orthop Clin N Am. 24, 6667-677
- Sotelo-Garza, A., Charnley, J. (1978) The results of Charnley arthroplasty of the hip performed for protrusio acetabuli. Clin. Orthop. 132, 12-19.
- Stevenson, S., Xiao Qing Li, Martin, B. (1991) The fate of cancellous and cortical bone after transplantation of tresh and frozen tissue-antigen-matched and mismatched osteochondral allografts in dogs J. Bone Joint Surg. 73A, 1143-1157
- Turner, T.M., Sumner, D.R., Urban, R.M., Rivero, D.P., Galante, J.O. (1986) A comparative study of porous coatings in a weight-bearing total hip arthroplasty model. J. Bone Joint Surg. 68-A, 1396-1409
- Ypma, J F.A.M (1981) Strength and ingrowth aspects of porous acrylic bone cement. Thesis, University of Nijmegen.

CHAPTER 4

Mechanical stability of cemented acetabular cups in acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous allograft: an animal study

4.1 Introduction

Many articles now appear in the literature reporting good clinical results of acetabular reconstruction with bone grafts in case of bone stock loss, associated with the loosening process of hip arthroplasty (Oakeshott et al. 1987, D'Antonio et al. 1989, Emerson et al. 1989, Olivier and Sanouiller 1991, Gates et al. 1990) Several different bone grafting techniques are used, depending on location and severity of bone stock distortion, and preference of the surgeon (Chandler and Penenberg 1989, Gerber and Harris 1986, Jasty and Harris 1990, Wilson et al. 1989, Brien et al. 1990, Samuelson et al. 1990, Slooff et al 1984) At the Orthopaedic Department of the University Hospital Nijmegen, acetabular defects in revision hip surgery have been reconstructed with impacted morsellized cancellous allografts from the bone bank with a cemented cup since 1979.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the stability of the cemented cups, initially and later postoperatively in acetabuli, reconstructed with impacted morsellized cancellous allografts. For that purpose an animal model was developed. Stability was determined in loading tests, using Roentgen-Stereophotogrammetric Analysis (RSA) to determine motions

4.2 Material and methods

4.2.1 Test animals

Twelve skeletally mature Dutch milk goats (Capra Hircus Sana), about 2 years old and weighing between 46.3 and 77.4 kg (average 58.9 kg) were used in this study (fig 3.1). The allografts were harvested, under sterile conditions, from another goat's sternum, packed as small chips 1/4-1/2 cm diameter in sterile bags after cultures had been taken and stored at -70 degrees Celsius. No histocompatibility matching had taken place.

4.2.2 Surgical technique

Anaesthesia was induced by intravenous Nembutal (30mg/kg) and atropine 0.5 mg and maintained via endotracheal intubation with a mixture of nitrous oxide, oxygen and halothane in a closed circuit. After 500 mg ampicillin iv. had been administered as antibiotic prophylaxis, and routine aseptic measures had been taken, the right hip was exposed via an antero-lateral approach. Total capsulectomy and femoral neck osteotomy were performed. The acetabular cavity was cleared of soft tissue and reamed to a diameter of 29 mm, avoiding to penetrate the medial wall (fig. 3.2a). With a speed burr, a standard defect was made in the dorso-cranial part of the acetabulum, including the periferal rim, with a maximal depth of 1.5 centimeters (fig. 3.2b). Many small burr holes (2mm) were made in the cortical bone of ilium and acetabular cavity, to stimulate vascularization of the recipient bone bed (fig. 3.2c).

After cleaning and drying, acetabular cavity and defect were filled with grafts (fig. 3.2d), which were impacted with a 25 mm diameter socket trial prosthesis, in such a way, that the socket was localized in the anatomical position, attempting to restore the original center of rotation as good as possible (fig. 3.2e). Except for the caudal and ventral walls, the acetabular cavity was completely covered with a layer of allografts, and a 22 mm polyethylene cup (Mathys, Bettlach, Switzerland) was cemented in place (fig. 3.2f). In the cup, 4 small tantalum pellets (0.8mm) had been inserted preoperatively at the dome of the cup through small drill holes, and fixated with glue. Two tantalum pellets had also been inserted at opposite sides in the rim of the cup (fig. 4.1). Next, the femoral canal was reamed and a plastic plug (Allopro) was inserted, whereafter the femoral component was cemented in place (fig. 3.2g). The femoral component was made of a cobalt-chromium alloy with a 16 mm head (Mathys, Bettlach, Switzerland) (fig. 4.1). CMW low-viscosity cement was used. The hip was reduced and the wound closed in layers.



Figure 4.1. The femoral head prosthesis and acetabular cup with the tantalum pellets


Figure 4.2a. Antero-posterior radiograph of right hip in-vivo immediately after implantation. The grafted part of the acetabulum is clearly visible (arrowheads)

4.2.3 Postoperative treatment

Immediately after the operation, standardized antero-posterior pelvic radiographs were made (fig. 4.2).

The goats were immobilized during 2 days in a special hammock, in which both hindlegs were unloaded. Thereafter free weight bearing and mobilization were allowed.

The weight bearing pattern was assessed at 3,6,12,24,48 weeks using a grading schedule according to Ypma (1981) (table 4.1)

Radiographs were made just before harvest or when dislocation, fracture or premature loosening was suspected.

4.2.4 Harvest technique

Three animals were sacrificed immediately after the operation and three at 3,12 and 48 weeks, each using an overdose of pentobarbitone. The pelvic bones were exarticulated in symphysis and sacro-iliac joint. Care was taken to leave the pelvic half intact for anatomical re-orientation during later mechanical testing (fig. 4.3). Femoral and acetabular components



Figure 4.2b. After 12 weeks the acetabular bone graft can not be distinguished anymore from the host bone bed and is considered radiographically incorporated

were inspected and tested manually for stability which was graded according to a grading scale (table 4.1). Radiographs of the pelvic bones were made in two directions for radiographic assessment of cup fixation and graft consolidation and incorporation (fig. 4.4 a,b,c,d). When there was gross purulence at harvest, or components were fully luxated, cultures were taken and further analysis was renounced.

The specimens were stored at -20 degrees Celsius.

4.2.5 Mechanical testing

Before testing each specimen was thawed at room temperature overnight. The specimens were cleaned from all soft tissues. At standard locations in iliac, ischial and pubic bone, 3 clusters of 4 tantalum pellets (0.8 mm) each, were inserted through drill holes.

The bone/prosthesis specimens were mounted in an MTS testing machine and fixed with cement (FastAcryl Rose ®) in a standard way (fig. 4.5 a,b). Relative to the horizontal position of the iliac bone and a vertical position of the intact parts of the acetabular rim, the direction of the applied force was 30 degrees in cranio-caudal direction and 30 degrees in mediallateral direction (fig. 4.6 a,b). This load direction was chosen, because the grafted cranial,

Follow-up	Goat number	W	- eight	bear	ing		Fixati	on	Complications
(weeks)		3	6	12	24	48 (weeks)	Stem	Cup	•
	56LB						3	3	
0	57LB						3	3	
0	59LB						3	3	
3	69B	4					3	3	
3	70B	3					3	3	
3	75B	3					3	3	Р
12	81B	3	4	4			3	3	
12	82B	4	4	4			3	3	
12	88B	4	2	1			1	1	Ι
48	56RB	3	4	4	4	1	0	3	
48	57RB	3	4	2	2	2	0	0	
48	59RB	3	4	3	2	1	0	0	

Table 4.1.Clinical score

Weightbearing (according to Ypma (1981))

0 = not used at all

l = supported incidentally

2 = loaded in standing position and incidentally while walking

3 = loaded in standing position and walking but with a limp

4 = normal walking and standing pattern

Fixation at sacrifice (according to Ypma (1981))

0 = completely loosened and extractable without any force

1 = slightly movable

2 = stable but extractable by hand

3 =fully stable.

Complications

P = medial wall perforation peroperatively

D = dislocation

I = infection proven by positive culture

F = femoral fracture

dorsal and medial walls of the acetabulum were maximally loaded and because it approached the physiological load in-vivo during gait (Bergmann 1984). Load was applied step-wise from 0 to 700 N and again unloaded (fig. 4.7). The maximal load applied in our experiments was 700N, which is 116% of average body weight of the goats, equalling the



Figure 4.3. Radiograph of pelvis half harvested immediately after operation. Cemented acetabular cup augmented with impacted cancellous bone chips

maximal load on the hip in sheep in-vivo, during normal gait (Bergmann 1984). Each loading period lasted 10 minutes. Before loading, 10 minutes after 700N loading was applied and 10 minutes after subsequent unloading, stereo-radiograms were made for Roentgen- Stereophotogrammetical Analysis (RSA) as developed by Selvik (1989). Stereo-radiograms were evaluated on an Aristomat-digitizer and with the RSA-computer program "Kinema" it was possible to establish 3D-rotations and -translations of the cup relative to the pelvic bone. The origin of the coordinate system was determined by the 4 pellets in the dome of the cup (fig. 4.6 a,b). Translations along the X-axis (medial-lateral), Y-axis (cranio-caudal) and Z-axis (dorsal-ventral) were established, together with rotations around these axes. Each measurement of the stereo-radiograms was performed 3 times. After unloading, elastic recovery occured, resulting in permanent translations and rotations of the cup.



Figure 4.4a. Antero-posterior and lateral-medial radiographs of pelvis half of goat 58 LB harvested immediately postoperatively. The impacted bone chips can be clearly distinguished from the host bone with an irregular pattern and without trabeculation. No radiolucency at the graft-cement interface.





Figure 4.4b. Radiographs of pelvis half of goat 75B harvested 3 weeks postoperatively. The grafted part has an irregular pattern without trabeculation. No radiolucency at the bone-cement interface.



Figure 4.4c. Radiographs of pelvis half of goat 81B harvested 12 weeks after operation. The impacted bone chips cannot be distinguished from the surrounding host bone. A continuous trabecular pattern has developed throughout the graft bridging the former graft-host junction. No radiolucency at the graft-cement interface



Figure 4.4d. Radiographs of pelvis half of goat 56RB harvested 48 weeks postoperatively. The cup has migrated in cranial-medial direction with resorption of the bone graft. There is a clear radiolucent demarcation visible at the bone-cement interface



Figure 4.5a. Test line up in the MTS machine and one of the roentgen tubes for stereo radiographs

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Clinical and radiological performance

All animals with follow-up 3, 12 and 48 weeks were ambulated and allowed full weightbearing after two days in a hammock. Three animals (goats 56LB, 57LB and 59LB) were sacrificed immediately after operation to assess initial stability.

Goats 57RB and 59RB showed complete loosening of the cup at sacrifice after 48 weeks, without signs of infection as proven by negative cultures. Goat 88B (12 weeks) had developed an infection with staph. epidermidis, established in culture. In goat 75B (3 weeks) a perforation of the medial wall was made during the operation.

The average clinical scores according to Ypma (1981) were 3.29 (\pm 0.49, n=8) after 3 weeks, 3.80 (\pm 0.45, n=5) after 6 weeks, 3.40 (\pm 0.89, n=5) after 12 weeks, 2.33 (\pm 0.58, n=3)



Figure 4.5b. Detail of the pelvis half during loading test

after 24 weeks and 1.33 (\pm 0.58, n=3) after 48 weeks respectively. The details of the clinical scores are summarized in table 4.1. Excluded from this observation were the goats with infection or dislocation. The clinical score up to 12 weeks was generally good, but a diminished weight-bearing pattern was recorded at 24 and 48 weeks (fig. 4.8a). Figure 4.8b represents the cup fixation at sacrifice.

On the radiographs of the specimens, consolidation and incorporation of the graft were assessed, together with the appearance of the graft-cement interface (fig. 4.4 a,b,c,d). Goat 88B showed no signs of graft consolidation and incorporation at 12 weeks, in the presence of infection. The two other animals at 12 weeks showed complete incorporation, without radiolucency at the cement-graft interface. At 48 weeks all three goats showed complete radiolucency at the graft-cement interface as signs of cup instability, with resorption of large parts of the graft. The details of the radiographic score are summarized in table 4.2.



Figure 4.6a. Radiograph of the left pelvis of the goat in standing position. Tantalum ball clusters at three positions in the bone. Laboratory coordinate system is shown with the origin determined by the four tantalum balls inserted at the top of the cup. Load applied (f) is indicated 30 degrees relative to Y-axis (cranio-caudal) and 30 degrees relative to X-axis (medial-lateral). Arrowheads are pointing to the graft.



Figure 4.6b. Radiograph of same left pelvis as in fig. 4.5b mounted in MTS machine during load application. Laboratory coordinate system is shown. Arrowheads are pointing to the graft.

Goat number	Follow-up (weeks)	Consolidation	Incorporation	Graft/ cement interface	
56LB	0	0	0	3	
57LB	0	0	0	3	
59LB	0	0	0	3	
75B	3	0	0	3	
69B	3	0	0	3	
70 B	3	0	0	3	
81B	12	2	4	2	
82B	12	2	4	2	
88B	12	0	2	0	
56RB	48	2	3	0	
57RB	48	1	2	0	
59RB	48	1	2	0	

Table 4.2. Radiographic score

Consolidation

0 = non-union

I = possible union. Passing trabeculae at <50% of graft-host junction.

2 = union. Passing trabeculae at 100% of graft-host junction.

Incorporation

0 = no resorption, no trabeculation

1 = fully resorbed graft

2 = >50% of graft resorbed

3 = <50% of graft resorbed with trabeculation in remaining graft.

4 = no resorption and complete trabeculation throughout graft.

Cement/graft interface

0 = complete radiolucency around cup.

1 = radiolucency around >50% of cup

2 = radioucency around < 50% of cup

3 = no radiolucency

4.3.2 Mechanical testing

All test results are summarized in the Appendix, table 1

4.3.2.1 0 Weeks (goats 56LB, 57LB, 59LB)

Except specimen 57LB, all specimens showed elastic recovery after unloading. In specimen 57LB the motion and elastic recovery after unloading could not be measured due to technical problems during testing at the moment after unloading, therefore only migration 10 minutes after 700N loading was recorded. Most translation occurred along the cranio-caudal Y-axis (fig. 4.9). The maximum permanent (non-elastic) translation found was 0.572 mm (specimen 59LB). Permanent (non-elastic) rotations were largest around the medial-lateral (X) axis with a maximum of -2.970 degrees in goat 59LB (fig. 4.10).

4.3.2.2 3 Weeks (goats 69B, 70B, 75B)

Elastic recovery after unloading was observed during most tests, although this phenomenon was far less marked in rotations compared to the translations. Permanent (non-elastic) translations were largest along the dorso-ventral Z-axis with a maximum of -0.375 mm for goat 70B (fig. 4.9). Specimen 69B showed rather excessive permanent (non-elastic) rotations along all 3 axes with less elastic recovery, compared to the other specimens (fig. 4.10). In contrast, permanent translation pattern and elastic recovery in this specimen, did not differ significantly from the other two tested specimens (fig. 4.9). Also, clinically, radiographically and by manual testing loosening of this specimen was not suspected (table 4.1 and 4.2).

4.3.2.3 12 Weeks (goats 81B, 82B, 88B)

As could be expected from findings at harvest, goat 88B showed relatively large motions in all directions (figs. 4.9, 4.10 and 4.11). Our test results confirmed the loosening of this infected specimen. Permanent translations for specimens 81B and 82B were clearly less compared to the goats tested at 0 and 3 weeks, with a maximum of -0.161 mm along the dorsoventral (Z) axis (specimen 82B) (fig. 4.9). Maximum permanent rotation was recorded in specimen 82B: -2.03 degrees around the dorso-ventral Z-axis, whereas permanent rotation around X- and Y-axis were -0.180 and 0.460 degrees respectively (fig. 4.10).

4.3.2.4 48 weeks (goat 56R)

Only one specimen could be tested, because the other two specimens showed complete cup loosening and graft resorption at sacrifice. Maximum permanent translation of 0.509 mm was measured along the cranio-caudal Y-axis (fig. 4.9). Maximum permanent rotation was 1.660 degrees around the dorso-ventral Z-axis (fig. 4.10).



LOADING CURVE

Figure 4.7. Loading curve Arrows indicate moments when stereo-roentgenograms were taken

4.4 Discussion

Successful total hip reconstruction augmented with bone grafts, requires sufficient initial stability of the implants to enable the bone graft to incorporate. This has, for example, been illustrated by bone graft resorption in the presence of a bipolar hip arthroplasty with a mobile cup (Wilson et al. 1989, Brien et al. 1990). Schreurs et al. (1994) demonstrated incorporation of morsellized cancellous allografts in the femur with a cemented femoral component in an animal model with goats. In that study increasing implant stability was observed during the incorporation process. It is difficult to define exactly implant stability. All implants, even when clinically asymptomatic and considered stable, migrate to a certain extent (Baldursson et al. 1980). They studied in-vivo migration of asymptomatic cemented acetabular sockets with RSA. After 2 years, cranial migration up to 1.8 mm and variable rotations around three axes up to 5.5 degrees were found.

To assess initial cup stability in this study, 3 goats were operated in-vivo and sacrificed immediately after the operation. It was considered important to perform the procedure in-vivo, because cementing quality might differ from post-mortem laboratory conditions without blood interposition.



AVERAGE CLINICAL SCORES

Figure 4.8a. Average clinical score at several time points according to Ypma (1981)





Figure 4.8b. Cup fixation at sacrifice, scored according to Ypma (1981)





Rotations around all three axes of the coordinate system immediately after implantation and at 3, 12 and 48 weeks after implantation after 10 minutes 700N loading and 10 minutes after unloading Goat 88R showed excessive rota tions and loosening had been confirmed at har vest

ROTATIONS AROUND CRANIO-CAUDAL AXIS (Y)



DORSO-VENTRAL AXIS (Z)

ROTATIONS AROUND



rotation (degrees)



Figure 4.11. Resultant of translations

Although cup stability, at the several time points, varied considerably in our study, and the number of animals was small, some trends during the first twelve weeks could be observed in accordance with the clinical and radiographic results. From 0 to 12 weeks, translations had gradually decreased, excluded the infected specimen. For rotations the results were less clear, but more or less the same trend was present. During the interval 0 to 12 weeks, radiographic signs of graft incorporation became apparent. Trabeculae crossing the graft host junction and development of a trabecular pattern in the graft after 12 weeks, were considered radiographic signs of consolidation and incorporation. Also the clinical performance of most of the animals up to 12 weeks might suggest a stable implant. The results after 48 weeks must be considered as poor. Two cups had completely loosened and dislocated at sacrifice with graft resorption. The only cup tested after 48 weeks (goat 56RB) was clinically stable at sacrifice. A thick radiolucent interface at the cement-graft junction with partial graft resorption was present. Loading test showed maximum motions in the same range as at the direct post-operative situation, but significantly more motion compared to the specimens tested at 12 weeks.

Apart from biological processes, differences between 0 and 3 weeks might be explained by different modes of graft impaction and cementing. It is supposed that mode of impaction and cementing quality influence initial stability to a large extent, although this could not be proved specifically by this study. Especially goat 69B (3 weeks) showed relatively large rotations, although translations were rather small, and the cup was well fixed at sacrifice with no radiographic signs of loosening.

Differences in direction of cup migration (negative or positive values), which were especially present in rotations, might probably be explained by different orientations of the socket in the acetabulum after insertion

Roentgen-stereophotogrammetric analysis (RSA) has proven to be a very useful and accurate tool in assessing implant migration, both in-vitro and in-vivo (Mjoeberg et al. 1984, Mjoeberg et al. 1987). Its accuracy is estimated 0.2 degrees for rotations and 0.1 mm for translations (Olsson et al. 1976). Comparing the accuracy of RSA and the acquired motion values in this study, the results can be considered significant, especially concerning rotation values.

4.5 Conclusion

Acetabular cups, augmented with impacted morsellized cancellous allograft bone, show increasing stability up to 12 weeks with radiographic signs of graft incorporation. After 48 weeks two out of three specimens showed at harvest total loosening of the cup with resorption of the graft. The only remaining specimen tested after 48 weeks showed (partial) resorption of the incorporated graft with maximum cup motion comparable to the direct post-operative situation

References

- Baldursson, H., Hansson, L-I., Olsson, T.H., Selvik, G. (1980) Migration of the acetabular socket after total hip replacement determined by roentgen stereophotogrammetry. Acta Orthop. Scand. 51, 535-540.
- Bergmann, G., Siraky, J., Rohlmann, A. (1984) A comparison of hip joint forces in sheep, dog and man. J. Biomech. 17, 907-921.
- Brien, W.W., Bruce, W.J., Salvati, E.A. (1990) Acetabular reconstruction with a bipolar prosthesis and morsellized bone grafts, J. Bone Joint Surg. 72-A, 1230
- Chandler, H.P., Penenberg, B L. (1989) Acetabular reconstruction. In. Chandler, H.P., Penenberg, B.L. (eds). Bone stock deficiency in total hip replacement. Slack Inc. Thorofare, NJ. Chapter 5.
- D'Antonio, J.A., Capello, W.N.C., Borden, L.S., Bargar, W.L., Bierbaum, B.F., Boettcher, W.G., Steinberg, M.E., Stulberg, S.D., Wedge, J.H. (1989) Classification and management of acetabular abnormalities in total hip arthroplasty. Clin. Orthop. 243, 126-138.
- Emerson, R H, Head, W C, Berklacich, F.M., Malinin, T.I. (1089) Noncemented acetabular revision arthroplasty using allograft bone. Clin. Orthop 249, 30-44.
- Friedlaender, G.E. (1987) Current concept review. bone grafts J Bone Joint Surg. 69-A, 786.
- Gates, H.S., McCollum, D.E., Nunley, J.A (1990) Bone grafting in total hip arthroplasty for protrusio acetabuli. J. Bone Joint Surg. 72-A, 248-252.
- Gerber, S.D., Harris, W.H. (1986) Femoral head autografting to augment acetabular deficiency in patients requiring total hip replacement. J. Bone Joint Surg. 68-A, 1241-1249.
- Goldberg, V.M., Stevenson, S. (1987) Natural history of autografts and allografts. Clin. Orthop. 225, 7-17.

- Jasty, M., Harris, W.H. (1990) Salvage total hip reconstruction in patients with major acetabular bone deficiency using structural femoral head allografts. J. Bone Joint Surg. 72, B, 63-68
- Lord, C F, Gebhardt, M C, Tomtord, W W, Mankin, H J (1988) Infection in bone allograft J Bone Joint Surg 70-A, 369
- Mjoberg, B., Hansson, L-I., Selvik, G. (1984) Instability, migration and laxity of total hip prostheses. A roentgen-stereophotogrammetric study. Acta Orthop. Scand. 55, 141-145
- Mjoberg, B, Rydholm, A, Selvik, G, Oennerfalt, R (1987) Low- versus high-viscosity bone cement Fixation of hip prosthese analyzed by roentgen-stereophotogrammetry Acta Orthop Scand 58, 106-108
- Oakeshott, R D, Morgan, D A F, Zukor, D J, Rudan, J F, Brooks, P J, Gross, A E (1987) Revision total hip arthroplasty with osseous allograft reconstruction Clin Orthop 225, 37 62
- Olivier, H, Sanouiller, JL (1991) Acetabular reconstruction with cancellous bone grafts for revision of total hip arthroplasties. Fr J. Orthop. Surg. 5, 187-195
- Olsson, TH, Selvik, G, Willner, S (1976) Kinematic analysis of spinal fusions. Invest. Radiol. 11 202-209
- Samuelson, K M, Freeman, M A R Levack, B, Rassmussen, G L, Revell, P A (1990) Homograft bone in revision acetabular arthroplasty J Bone Joint Surg 70-B, 367-373
- Schreurs, B W, Buma, P, Huiskes, R, Slagter, J L M, Slooff, T J J H (1994) Morsellized allografts for fixation of the hip prosthesis femoral component. A mechanical and histological study in the goat Acta Orthop. Scand. 65, 267-275
- Selvik, G (1989) Roentgen stereophotogrammetry Acta Orthop Scand 60, suppl 232
- Slooff TJJH, Huiskes, R, van Horn, JR, Lemmens, AJ (1984) Bone grafting in total hip replacement for acetabular protrusion. Acta Orthop. Scand. 55, 593-596
- Urist, M.R. (1965) Bone formation by autoinduction. Science 150, 893-899
- Wilson, M G, Nikpoor, N, Aliabadi, P, Poss, R, Weissman, B N (1989) The fate of acetabular allo grafts after bipolar revision arthroplasty of the hip J Bone Joint Surg 71-A, 1469-1480
- Ypma, J F A M (1981) Strength and ingrowth aspects of porous acrylic bone cement Thesis, Univer sity of Nijmegen



CHAPTER 5

Acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts in cemented revision hip arthroplasty: a radiologic study in 80 patients

5.1 Introduction

Increasing experience is gained world wide in revising loose total hip arthroplasties (THA). The causes for success or failure are better understood, but far from solved. The most challenging part of the procedure is how to deal with bone-stock loss, always accompanying a loosened component to a more or lesser degree (fig. 5.1). Several treatment modalities were proposed: large amounts of cement (Johnston 1986) (fig. 5.2), metal reinforcement devices (Schatzker et al. 1984) (fig. 5.3), custom made prostheses (Scales and Wright 1983), massive cortico-cancellous allografts (Oakeshott et al. 1987) or cancellous bone chips (McCollum et al. 1980). In the literature there is a trend towards biological reconstructions with bone grafts.

This study analyses retrospectively the radiographic results following revision surgery with an acetabular reconstruction technique using only impacted cancellous bone grafts combined with a cemented polyethylene cup.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 The series

Between January 1979 and January 1988 ninety-one cemented revision hip arthroplasties (83 patients) were performed at the Orthopaedic Department, University Hospital Nijmegen, combined with an acetabular reconstruction technique with impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts.

In the first half of 1990, all patients were invited for a radiographic examination. Seven patients (7 hips) had died of causes not related to the revision procedure. One patient (1 hip) was lost to follow-up. As most patients were followed routinely at yearly intervals, it was possible to study the records and radiographs of their last visit. Five deceased patients with five hips and a minimum follow-up of 2 years could be included in the study using their most recent radiographs. Eight patients had undergone bilateral acetabular reconstructions. Of these, only the hip with the longest follow-up period was included in the study. From a statistical point of view it was considered incorrect to include both hips of a bilateral procedure in the study. Only independent observations can be used for statistical tests.

In total eighty hips in 80 patients with a minimum follow-up of 2.0 years and a maximum of 10.9 years (average 5.7 years) were included (fig. 5.4) This group consisted of 58 women



Figure 5.1. Loosened cemented total hip prosthesis. Acetabular cup migration in superior and medial direction with severe bone stock loss. The femoral component has subsided with endosteal bone lysis.

and 22 men with an average age at revision of 58 years (range 23-81 years). The diagnoses for which primary hip arthroplasty was performed are listed in table 5.1. In order to avoid creating too many small subgroups, three main primary diagnosis groups were considered: primary idiopatic coxarthritis, secondary coxarthritis (dysplasia, femoral head necrosis,



Figure 5.2. Severe actebular bonestock deficiency completely filled with bone cement



Figure 5.3. Deficient actabulum with a metallic support ring containing a socket

posttraumatic) and rheumatoid arthritis. Reasons for revision included 72 aseptic loosenings and 8 infected hips, documented with positive cultures.

Although all patients had a minimum follow-up of about 2 years, due to the large followup variation the individual results of the hip arthroplasties were not quite comparable. However there was some evidence that no serious confounding occurred in examining the influence on acetabular loosening and graft consolidation. Observing the six subgroups of primary diagnosis and acetabular defect combinations (table 5.2 and section 5.2.5), on the average the follow-up time only varied from 5.2 years to 6.8 years.

5.2.2 Surgical technique

The postero-lateral approach according to Gibson, modified by Kocher, was used in all cases (fig. 5.5a). Osteotomy of the greater trochanter was performed in 9 cases. Before capsular incision, joint fluid was aspirated for culture. A circumferential capsulotomy was performed. After removing the components, cement and interface fibrous tissue, a frozen section was taken from the interface tissue for determinig infection. More than 50 granulocytes per vi-

Age	mean = 58 years
	range = $23 - 81$ years
	Number of patients
Sex	
– men	22
– women	58
Ettology	
– prim osteoarthritis	49
- sec osteoarthritis	22
 rheumatoid arthritis 	9
Previous surgery	
 femoral head prosthesis 	5
 double cup arthroplasty 	12
 primary total hip 	55
- one or more revisions	8

Table 5.1. Some demographic and other characteristics of the 80 patients

Frequency histogram of years follow-up in 80 patients



Figure 5.4. Frequency distribution of follow up time of the 80 patients in the present study

sion field was considered suspect for infection (Mirra et al. 1976). The procedure was stopped in that case for infection treatment with gentamycin beads and systemic antibiotics. The new components were placed at a later time.

In preparing the acetabulum great care was taken to remove no more bone than absolutely necessary (fig 5 5b) Reconstruction was preceeded by placing a trial socket at the level of the tranverse ligament, i.e. the anatomical position of the acetabulum (fig 5 5c). In this way an impression was obtained about the extents of defects and the amount of graft needed Segmental defects in the medial wall were closed with a cortico cancellous slice of bone Alter curetting and roughening the pre-existent bone bed, the chips were placed in the acetabulum, moulded and firmly impacted using the successive socket trial prostheses (fig 5 5d). The last socket trial prosthesis was 2 mm oversized to create a sufficient thick cement mantle. As much chips were placed in the acetabulum till the new socket had been located in agreement with the original center of rotation (fig 5 5e). The impacted graft was covered with a thin vitallium wire mesh (fig 5 5f) and the cup (36 Muller cups, 40 Allopro cups and 4 other type cups) was cemented in position with gentamycin palacos cement (fig 5 5g). In fig 5 5h a schematic representation of the reconstruction technique is shown.

523 Preparation of bone grafts

In case of revising a double cup arthroplasty, bone grafts were taken from the resected temoral heads. In the early period of the series, autografts were taken from the iliac crest. Most of the grafts were deep frozen femoral head allografts from the bone bank. Allografts were used in 65 hips. Fifteen autografts were used in the remaining cases.

Grafts were prepared with a rongeur during surgery (fig 5 6a) All soft tissues were removed Cancellous bone chips with a diameter varying between 0.5 and 1 centimeter were obtained (fig 5 6b) Only the cancellous part of the femoral heads was used

524 Postoperative care

Postoperative care included anticoagulation therapy with sintrom during 3 months, systemic antibiotics during 5 days postoperatively, passive motion exercises after 24 hours ambulation with partial weight-bearing after 6 weeks and full weight bearing at 3 months. To prevent heterotopic ossification patients got Indocid (3 x 50 mg daily) during the first 5 days. In case of proven infection, systemic antibiotics were administered during 6 weeks, dependent on the cultures.

52.5 Classification of acetabular defects

Each defect was classified on the basis of the preoperative and immediate postoperative radiographs and the operation record The AAOS classification system was used (D'Antonio et al 1989) This classification system has two basic categories segmental and cavitary defects (table 2 1) A segmental defect is any complete loss of bone in the supporting hemispere



Figure 5.5a. Positioning of patient during revision procedure with postero-lateral hip approach.



Figure 5.5b. Acetabulum after removal of cup and cement showing segmental defects in the medial wall (arrowheads).



Figure 5.5c. Socket trial-prosthesis placed in the deficient acetabulum. Arrows pointing to the superior cavitary defect with intact superior rim.



Figure 5.5d. *Prepared bone chips placed in the acetabulum with socket trial-prosthesis used as impactor.*



Figure 5.5e. Bone chips after impaction. The socket trial-prosthesis is in the anatomical position.



Figure 5.5f. The impacted chips covered with a thin vitallium mesh.



Figure 5.5g. Cemented cup in the acetabulum reconstructed with impacted bone chips.



Figure 5.5h. Schematic representation of the acetabulum reconstruction showing a corticocancellous shell (ccs) in a segmental medial wall defect, a layer of impacted bone chips (gr) and a cemented cup (ce).

of the acetabulum, including the medial wall (fig 2.2) Cavitary defects represent a volumetric bone loss of the acetabular cavity, including the medial wall, but the acetabular rim remains intact (fig 2.1)

In order to avoid small subgroups, the defects were subdivided in two main categories 42 cavitary and 38 combined segmental/cavitary defects. Table 5.2 shows the distribution of primary diagnoses for each main category. According to the chi-square test, there is no significant relation between primary diagnosis and defect (p=0.87).

Type defect	Primary arthritis	Secondary arthritis	Rheumatoid arthritis	Total
Сахиагу	N=26 (62%)	N=12 (29%)	N=4 (10%)	42
	5 4(±1 8)	5 9(±1 9)	6 8(±3 3)	
Segmental/	N=23 (61%)	N=10(26%)	N=5 (13%)	38
cavilary	5 8(±2 3)	5 3(±2 2)	57(±21)	
Total	49	22	9	80

 Table 5.2. Mean follow-up time in years (with standard deviations) for each of the six subgroups of primary diagnosis and acetabular defect combinations

5.2.6 Radiographic evaluation

The anterior-posterior radiographs of the 80 hips were reviewed Routine postoperative follow-up included visits with radiographs at 3 months, 6 months and 1 year, and thereafter at yearly intervals. Immediate postoperative and follow-up radiographs at 6 months, 1 year, at about 3 years and at the last follow-up visit were studied. The radiographs were assessed by the author

5.2.6.1 Consolidation

Consolidation of the graft was defined as the presence of clearly delineated trabeculae bridging the host-graft junction (Conn et al 1985)

5.2.6.2 Incorporation

Graft incorporation was defined as equal radiodensity of graft and host bone, with a continuous trabecular pattern throughout (Conn et al 1985)

In practice it was impossible in most cases to establish the difference between consolidation and incorporation on radiographs (figs 57 and 58) Especially when smaller amounts of grafts were used, well penetrated with bone cement, graft radiodensity and trabecular pattern throughout the graft could not reliably be assessed Bridging trabeculae at the graft host junction appeared to be the only radiographic parameter which allowed reliable assessment It was therefore decided to observe only graft consolidation. When there were no signs of full graft consolidation at 1 year postoperatively, subsequent radiographs were studied until



Figure 5.6a. Preparation of bone grafts. Bone chips from the cancellous part of the femoral heads were prepared with a rongeur during surgery.

consolidation was observed. As the exact moment of full graft consolidation could not be established, only the time interval in which this event occurred was known (interval-censored and right-censored data). Because the midpoints of the time intervals were distributed more or less lognormally this was also assumed for the times themselves. In order to study the influence of diagnosis and type of defect on the consolidation time, a survival analysis was applied, using the SAS PROCEDURE LIFEREG (1990), by assuming a two-way additive factorial model with respect to the expected values of the logarithmic transformed times. Analogously a separate one-way and a simple regression model have been applied for examining the influence of graft type respectively graft amount.

5.2.6.3 Radiolucency cement-graft interface

On all selected radiographs radiolucency at the bone-cement interface was assessed in three zones, according to DeLee and Charnley (1976). Radiolucency was considered present if the radiolucent line measured at least 2 mm in width.

5.2.6.4 Cup migration

Prosthesis migration in THA is generally considered a sign of loosening. Several problems in migration measurements on plain radiographs are encountered: variable magnification of the



Figure 5.6b. Bone chips with a diameter varying between 1/2 and 1 centimeter were obtained. On the left the remaining cortico-cancellous shells which were used for closing segmental medial wall defects.

radiographic image, differences in radiographic projection, insufficient reproducible prosthesis- and skeletal landmarks, different positions of the patient.

Several methods for migration measurement were developed (Mjoberg et al. 1985, Ilchmann et al. 1992, Sutherland et al. 1982, Callaghan et al. 1979, Harris et al. 1982). Most of them did not fully solve the problems mentioned. An additional problem in this series was, besides not-standardized AP-pelvis radiographs, the presence of some hip-centered radiographs in the early years of this series. Twenty five percent of reviewed radiographs were hip-centered, the remaining were AP-pelvis radiographs. Therefore we had to adjust for differences between these types of radiographs to obtain comparable migration measurements (see section 5.2.6.6).

Radiographs were digitized (TEA Image Manager System, DIFA Measuring Systems B.V., Breda, The Netherlands) and a computer program was developed, which made it possible to perform reproducible measurements on a monitor. In each radiograph magnification factor was determined based on the known 32 mm diameter femoral head used in all patients.

A coordinate system was applied in each radiograph (fig. 5.9). The Köhler line (K) was chosen as Y-axis (the line along the medial aspect of ilium and ischium). The line T running



Figure 5.7. A. Severely deficient acetabulum with migrated cemented cup. Type defect is superior segmental, medial/superior cavitary. B. Immediately after reconstruction with morsellized cancellous allografts and a cemented cup. Arrowheads pointing to the clearly visible graft-host junction.



Figure 5.7. (Continued) C. Nearly four years after reconstruction. Consolidation is present; clearly delineated trabeculae are bridging the graft-host junction (arrowheads). Incorporation is more difficult to assess; a continuous trabecular pattern throughout the graft cannot fully be observed, as is the case for the appearance of radiodensity. Without doubt the graft has incorporated otherwise graft collapse would have occurred in the course of time.

perpendicular to the line K and tangential to the inferior aspect of the teardrop was chosen as X-axis. As reference point on the acetabular cup, the center of the projected elliptical image of the metallic ring at the periphery of the cup was chosen. This point C, considered as the center of the cup, was determined by bisecting the long axis a-b of the projected ellipse. The angle between the long axis of the ellipse and the line T was defined inclination angle and was measured in each radiograph.

5.2.6.5 Graft amount

To get an impression about the amount of graft used, on each immediate postoperative radiograph two additional measurements were made (fig. 5.9). A line from C perpendicular to line K was drawn and the distance between the points e1-e2 on this line gave a global impression about the graft amount in the medial direction. Perpendicular to this line, 1 cm medial from C, another line was drawn on which the distance between the points e3-e4 gave a global impression of the graft amount in the superior direction. The total graft amount was simply considered the sum of these two distances e1-e2 and e3-e4. It must be stressed that this is only a very rough estimate of the amount of graft used in the reconstruction.


Figure 5.8. A. Loosened cup with large amount of bone cement and considerable osteolysis. Type defect is medial segmental, medial/superior cavitary. B. Immediately after reconstruction with a cortico-cancellous shell in the medial wall defect and morsellized cancellous allografts to repair the cavitary defects. Graft-host junction is clearly visible (arrows).



Figure 5.8. (Continued) C. Two and a halve year after reconstruction. Graft-host junction can not be distinguished anymore as sign of full consolidation. A trabecular pattern throughout the graft is difficult to assess, as is the case for comparing radiodensity of graft and host bone.

С

5.2.6.6 Comparative study of cup migration in hip-centered and symphysis-centered anterior-posterior (AP)-pelvis radiographs

To determine how to deal with different types of radiographs (hip-centered and AP-pelvis) for measuring migration, a comparative study was performed. From ten patients both hip-centered and AP-pelvis symphysis-centerd radiographs were taken at the same time and measured five times according the described technique. Comparisons were made with respect to the inclination angle and the distance of cup center C to X-axis and Y-axis. It appeared that the mean values for distance of cup center C to X-axis were systematically about 1 mm larger on the AP-pelvis radiographs compared to the hip-centered radiographs. Standard deviation of measurement errors was about 0.4 mm. Generally, in the complete study of the 80 patients, every distance was based on 3 repeated measurements, which means that probably the total maximum error of measurement amounts to about $2/\sqrt{3}x0.4mm=0.5mm$.

According to Sutherland et al. (1982) total error in recording reference points is about 0.5 mm and errors due to differences in pelvis rotation about 1.5 mm. Therefore total maximum error per distance is about 2.5 mm. So in case of some type of radiograph, migration was



Figure 5.9. Anterior-posterior pelvis radiograph. The right acetabulum is reconstructed with morsellized bone grafts. Around the acetabulum a coordinate system is shown allowing migration measurements. Line K (Y-axis): Kohler line along medial aspect of ichial and iliac bone. Line T (X-axis): perpendicular to line K and tangential to inferior aspect of teardrop. Line a-b: long axis of projected wire marker. Point c: Cup center halfway ab. e1-e2: graft amount in medial direction. e3-e4: graft amount in superior direction.

defined as a difference of more than 5 mm between two radiographs. Because errors can compensate each other, migration could not fully be excluded at lesser differences. In case of different types of radiographs, migration was assumed if the difference AP-pelvis distance at one time minus hip-centered distance at the other time was larger than 6 mm or smaller than -4 mm.

Unfortunately no total error of cup inclination angle measurement was known. Therefore this parameter could not be included in this series.

5.2.6.7 Definition of failure and radiographic loosening

The acetabular component was considered failed if re-revision had taken place.



Figure 5.10. Cumulative distribution of the midpoints of time intervals, during which graft con solidation occurred

Radiographic loosening was considered present if one or both of the following criteria were met

- Migration > 5 mm in one or two directions after correction for radiograph type
- Radiolucency \geq 2mm at the bone-cement interface in at least two of the three acetabular zones as defined by DeLee and Charnley (1976) simultaneously

5.3 Results

The observations of the 80 cups are restored in the Appendix, table 2

5.3.1 Re-revisions

Two acetabular cups had been re-revised during the follow-up period One case was due to a recurrent infection. The data of these cases are listed in table 5.3.

53.2 Graft consolidation

In 4 hips no graft consolidation had occurred (5%) All other reconstructions showed complete consolidation along the whole graft. The data of the cases with failed consolidation are listed in table 5.4.

Type defect	Primary diagnosis	Reason revision	Graft amount (mm)	Гуре graft	Conso- lidation graft	Radiolucen- cy(2 or 3 zones)	Clear migration
cavitary	secondary arthritis	infection	42	autograft	+		+
cavitary	primary arthritis	aseptic	32	allograft	+	+	+

Table 5.3. Two cases with re-revision acctabular cup

Table 5.4. Four cases with failed graft consolidation (the 2 re-resistons had full graft consolidation)

Primary diagnosis	Graft amount (mm)	Type graft	Defect	Radiolucency (2 or 3 zones)	Clear migration
secondary arthritis	18	allograft	cavitary		
secondary arthritis	3()	allograft	cavitary		+
secondary arthritis	29	allograft	cavitary	+	+
primary arthutis	6	autograft	combined	+	+

After excluding the two re-revised hips (both with full graft consolidation), three hips with allografts out of 64 (5%) and 1 hip with autograft out of 14 (7%) failed to consolidate. The probability of consolidation failure is not significant different with regard to type of graft (p=0.56, Fisher's exact test).

As regards the time of consolidation, figure 5 10 presents the cumulative distribution of the midpoints of the time intervals, during which consolidation occurred. Clearly, the distribution is skewed to the right. In table 5 5 estimates of consolidation times for the different defect diagnosis combinations are shown. Longest median consolidation time was found in patients with secondary arthritis and a combined defect (0.58 years), whereas this period was shortest in RA patients with a cavitary defect (0.19 years). According to the chi-square test of Wald there is no significant influence of defect type (p=0.21) and primary diagnosis (p=0.24) on the consolidation time.

Table 5.5. Maximum likelihood estimates for the median (and 10th and 90th percentile) of the consolidation time distribution for the different diagnosis-defects combinations (including the 2 re-revisions) according to a survival analysis. Chi-square test of Wald p=0.24 (diagno sis) and p=0.21 (defect)

Diagnosis	Segmental/cavitary defect	Cavitary defect
Rheumatoid arthritis	0 27 yrs (0 07 1 1 3)	0 19 yrs (0 05 0 78)
Secondary arthritis	0.58 yrs (0.14-2.36)	0 40 yrs (0 10 1 64)
Primary arthritis	0 35 yrs (0 09-1 45)	0.24 yrs (0.06-1.00)

Table 5.6. Maximum likelihood estimates for the median (and 10th and 90th percentile) of the consolidation time distribution for graft type (including the 2 re-revisions) according to a survival analysis. Chi-square test of Wald: p=0.39

Consolidation time	
0 30 yrs (0 07-1 31)	
0.42 yrs (0.10-1.83)	
-	Consolidation time 0 30 yrs (0 07-1 31) 0 42 yrs (0 10-1 83)

 Table 5.7. Maximum likelihood estimates for the median (and 10th and 90th percentile) of the consolidation time distribution for graft amount (including 2 re-revisions) according to a survival analysis. Chi-square test of Wald p=0.01

Consolidation time	
() 16 yrs (() ()4-0 65)	
0 32 yrs (0 08-1 30)	
0 75 yrs (0 18-3 09)	
	0 16 yrs (0 04-0 65) 0 32 yrs (0 08-1 30) 0 75 yrs (0 18-3 09)

Median consolidation time was 0.42 years for autografts and 0.30 years for allografts (table 5.6) This is not significant different (p=0.39, chi-square test of Wald)

Considering consolidation time with respect to graft amount, graft consolidation takes longer with increasing graft amount (p=0.01, chi-square test of Wald) (table 5.7)

5.3.3 Radiolucency

Radiolucency $\ge 2mm$ in one zone was observed in 12 hips Radiolucency $\ge 2mm$ in at least 2 zones was encountered in 6 hips. Two times in 2 zones and four times in all 3 zones. The two hips that had been re-revised were excluded from this observation. Data are listed in table 5.8. The probability of radiolucency in at least 2 acetabular zones was 8% both for combined segmental/cavitary and cavitary defects (table 5.9).

Chapter 5

Defect	Primary diagnosis	Graft amo (mm)	unt Type graft	Consolidati	Clear on migration
cavitary	secondary arthritis	17	autograft	+	-
combined	primary arthritis	21	autograft	+	-
cavitary	secondary arthritis	29	allograft	-	+
combined	primary arthritis	6	autograft	-	+
combined	rheumatoid arthritis	13	autograft	+	+
cavitary	rheumatoid arthritis	12	allograft	+	-
cavitary	rheumatoid arthritis	12	allograft	+	

Table 5.8. Six cases with radiolucency $\ge 2mm$ at bone/cement interface in at least two zones (excluding 2 re-revisions)

Table 5.9. Frequency distribution of radiolucency ($\ge 2mm$ in at least two acetabular zones) in different defect groups, (two re-revisions excluded). Fisher's exact test p=1.0.

Type defect	Radiolucency 2 or 3 zones	No or 1-zone radiolucency	Total	
Segmental/cavitary	3 (8%)	35 (92%)		
Cavitary	3 (8%)	37 (93%)	40	
Total	6	72	78	

Table 5.10. Frequency distribution of radiolucency (≥2mm in at least two acetabular zones) in different primary diagnosis groups (two re-revisions excluded). Chi-square test: p=0.22.

Primary diagnosis	Radiolucency 2 or 3 zones	No or 1-zone radiolucency	Total	
Rheumatoid arthritis	2 (22%)	7 (78%)	9	
Secondary arthrititis	l (5%)	20 (95%)	21	
Primary arthritis	3 (6%)	45 (94%)	48	
Total	6	72	78	

Table 5.11. Frequency distribution of radiolucency (≥ 2 mm in at least 2 acetabular zones) for allografts and autografts (two re-revisions excluded). Fisher's exact test. p=0.008.

Type graft	Radiolucency 2 or 3 zones	No or 1-zone radiolucency	Total	
Allograft	2 (3%)	62 (97%)	64	
Autograft	4 (29%)	10(71%)	14	
Total	6	72	78	

The probability of radiolucency in at least 2 zones for different primary diagnoses was 6% in primary arthritis, 5% in secondary arthritis and 22% in rheumatoid arthritis (table 5 10) According to the chi-square test of homogeneity, there are no significant differences between the three primary diagnosis groups (p=0.22)

In four out of six radiolucent cases (2 or 3 zones) autografts were used, whereas the number of autografts in this series was far less, compared to the number of allografts. The probability of radiolucency in two or three zones for autografts and allografts was respectively 29% and 3% (table 5 11) According to Fisher's exact test this is significantly different (p=0.008)

Fifty percent of reconstructions in which the bone graft had not consolidated, developed radiolucency in 2 or 3 zones. In consolidated bone grafts this was 5% (table 5.12) According to Fisher's exact test this is a significant difference (p=0.03)

Table 5.12 Frequency distribution of radiolucency ($\ge 2 \text{ mm in } 2 \text{ or } 3 \text{ acetabular zones}$) in consolidated and non-consolidated reconstructions (two re-revisions excluded). Fisher's exact test p=0.03

Consolidation	Radiolucency 2 or 3 zones	No or 1-zone radiolucency	Total	
No	2 (50%)	2 (50%)	4	
Full	4(5%)	70 (95%)	74	
Total	6	72	78	

5.3.4 Cup migration

Two re-revised cups were excluded from observation

Radiograph-type corrected migration >5mm in vertical and/or horizontal direction between two observations was seen in 11 cases (table 5 13)

In 3 of these cases accompanying radiolucency $\geq 2mm$ in 2 or 3 zones was present Table 5 14 shows the frequency distribution of migration for radiolucency groups According to Fisher's exact test the probability of clear cup migration in the presence of 2- or 3-zone radiolucency (50%) is significantly larger compared to cases with no or 1-zone radiolucency (11%) (p=0.03)

In 3 cases with clear migration no graft consolidation was observed. In table 5.15 the frequency distribution of migration for graft consolidation groups is shown. The probability of cup migration >5mm in case of graft non-consolidation (75%) is significantly larger compared to migration in the presence of a consolidated bone graft (11%) (p=0.008, Fisher's exact test)

Seven clearly migrated cups had reconstructions of a combined segmental/cavitary defect, whereas the 4 remaining migrations occurred in the cavitary defects. This means a prob-

Chapter 5

Primary diagnosis	Graft amount (mm)	Type graft	Defect	Consoli- dation	Radiolucency (2 or 3 zones)
primary arthritis	33	allograft	combined	+	
primary arthritis	10	allograft	cavitary	+	
secondary arthritis	10	allograft	cavitary	+	
secondary arthritis	30	allograft	cavitary		
secondary arthritis	10	allograft	combined	+	
secondary arthritis	29	allograft	cavitary		+
primary arthritis	6	autograft	combined		+
rheumatoid arthritis	13	autograft	combined	+	+
secondary arthritis	41	allograft	combined	+	
primary arthritis	29	allograft	combined	+	-
secondary arthritis	20	allograft	combined	+	-

 Table 5.13. Data of eleven hips with radiograph type corrected cup migration >5mm (Two re revisions were excluded)

Table 5.14. Frequency distribution of cup migration (> 5 mm) in radiolucency groups (excluded 2 re revisions) Fisher's exact test p=0.03

	Clear migration	No clear migration
No or 1-zone radiolucency	8(11%)	64 (89%)
Two or three zone radiolucency	3 (50%)	3 (50%)
Total	11	67

Table 5.15. Frequency distribution of cup migration (>5mm) in graft consolidation groups (excluded 2 re revisions) Fisher s exact test p=0.008

Consolidation	Clear migration	No clear migration	Total	
No	3 (75%)	1 (25%)	4	
Full	8(11%)	66 (89%)	74	
Total	11	67	78	

ability of 18% for migration in the combined defect group (table 5 16) The estimated probability of migration in the cavitary defect group amounts to 10% This is not significantly different (p=0 34, Fisher's exact test)

Table 5 17 shows the frequency distribution of cup migration for primary diagnosis groups According to the chi-square test the probability of clear cup migration is possibly not

p=0								
Defect type	Clear migration	No clear migration	Total					
Cavitary/segmental	7(18%)	31 (82%)	38					
Cavitai y	4(10%)	36 (90%)	40					
Total	11	67	78					

Table 5.16. Frequency of cup migration (> 5 mm) in acctabular defect groups (excluded 2 rerevisions) Fisher s exact test p=0.34

 Table 5.17. Frequency distribution of cup migration (> 5mm) in primary diagnosis groups (excluded 2 refrequency) Fisher sexact test p=0.08

Primary diagnosis	Clear migration	No clear migration	Total
Rheumatoid arthritis	1 (11%)	8 (89%)	9
Secondary arthritis	6(29%)	15 (71%)	21
Primary arthritis	4 (8%)	44 (92%)	48
Total	11	67	78

Table 5.18 Frequency distribution of cup migration in bone graft groups (excluded 2 re revisions)Fisher v exact test p=1.0

Type graft	Clear migration	No clear migration	Total	
Allograft	9(14%)	55 (86%)	64	
Autograft	2 (14%)	12 (86%)	14	
Total	11	67	78	

the same for the 3 different primary diagnosis groups Estimated probability is 8% for primary arthritis, 29% for secondary arthritis and 11% for rheumatoid arthritis (p=0.08)

With regard to type of graft used, it could not be established that allografts should lead to significantly more migration compared to autografts as might be expected on biological grounds. As shown in table 5-18, probability of clear cup migration in this series is 14% for both autografts and allografts.

5.3.5 Graft amount

Mean graft amount in the acetabular reconstructions was 20 mm (range 3 - 42 mm)

536 Failures and radiographic loosening

Two cups (2%) had been re-revised and were considered definitely failed. One of the re-revisions was due to a recurrent infection. Both failed reconstructions showed full graft consolidation

Regarding our definition of radiographic loosening eight patients (10%) showed clear cup migration without radiolucency three patients (4%) showed clear cup migration in the presence of radiolucency (2 or 3 zones) and three patients (4%) showed radiolucency in 2 or 3 zones without migration. Total percentage of radiographic loosening was 18%. The aver age follow-up time of the 2 hips that had definitely failed and 14 hips that were radiographic cally loose, amounted to 6.4 years.

Excluding the infected case, the one aseptic failure and six radiographic loosened cups occurred in the primary arthritis group (14%) six radiographic loosenings in the secondary arthritis group (29%) and two radiographic loosenings in the RA group (22%). According to a chi-squared test there is no significant difference between the primary diagnosis groups with regard to probability of failure or radiographic loosening (p=0.36). Neither a significant difference in probability of failure or radiographic loosening was found between the two de fect groups one aseptic failure and seven radiographic loosenings in the the cavitary defect group (17%) (p=0.78, Fisher s exact test). Three out of four reconstructions which did not consolidate were radiographic loosenings (16%). This is a significant difference (p=0.02, Fisher's exact test).

5.4 Discussion

As primary interest of this study was the fate of acetabular reconstructions with impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts, the study was restricted to the radiographic results of the patient group. Clinical results were not included. Clinical parameters such as pain and limitations of hip function may be due to problems arising from either the femoral or acetabular side and it may be difficult to determine which is responsible. An attendant reason was the absence of preoperative clinical scores in the patient record, which makes interpretation of postoperative hip score unclear.

Reports dealing with restoration of acetabular bone stock, using autologous morsellized cancellous autografts in primary THA with acetabular protrusion (Hastings and Parker 1975, McCollum et al. 1980), gave rise to the use of the same technique with allograft bone and im paction in failed total hip implants with loss of acetabular bone stock.

Graft consolidation and incorporation are the most important prerequisites for successful reconstructions with bone grafts. Observing the radiographs in our study, it appeared that the mode and extent of graft incorporation could not be assessed reliably and reproducibly

Healing at the graft-host junction by clearly delineated bridging trabeculae (consolidation) could be established more accurately. It was therefore decided to use only this parameter for assessment of graft healing. In this series, three out of the four cases with failed consolidation became radiographic loose. Failing graft consolidation has possibly predictive value with regard to radiographic loosening of the acetabular component.

As known from several animal experiments, the biological behaviour of autografts, with regard to rate and extent of graft consolidation and incorporation, is superior to allografts (Goldberg and Stevenson 1987, Friedlaender 1987, Heiple et al. 1963, Huo et al. 1992) Radiologically, a significant difference in consolidation capacity between autografts and allografts could not be observed in this study, as was concluded in several other radiological studies (Olivier and Sanouiller 1991, Fuchs et al. 1988). In contrast mean radiographic consolidation time was shorter in allografts compared to autografts, although statistically not significant. Graft revitalization is moving like a front from the host bone bed through the graft (Slooff et al. 1993, Buma et al. 1992). This might explain the longer complete consolidation time for larger amounts of grafts in this study, as was confirmed in another radiological study (Wilson et al. 1989). The incorporation process of solid grafts clearly differs from morsellized grafts. The latter are completely replaced by new bone without mechanical weakening during the incorporation process, whereas solid cortico-cancellous grafts remain a mixture of viable and non-viable bone, with a great chance of ultimate collaps (Friedlaender 1987, Jasty and Harris 1990, Enneking and Mindell 1991, Young et al. 1991)

Roffman et al (1982), Slooff et al (1993) and Schreurs et al (1994) demonstrated in animal experiments complete incorporation of autologous and homologous morsellized cancellous grafts covered with methylmethacrylate cement. Morsellized grafts allow easy adaptation to the irregularities of the host bone bed without gap formation, which might explain its high capacity to incorporate. The chips must be tightly impacted resulting in a consistent layer Samuelson et al. (1988) abandoned the use of bone cement with grafts. They feared insufficient initial fixation and cement preventing graft incorporation. On the contrary, cement might enhance initial stability (Schreurs et al. 1994), although this could not be proven in our study.

Some authors state that in the presence of segmental defects, both peripheral and medial, it is necessary to use solid grafts or metallic devices (Gerber and Harris 1986, Ritter and Trancik 1985) Especially peripheral placed grafts should be subject to high compressive and shear forces (Schuller et al 1993) In this series, medial segmental defects were closed with a thin cortico-cancellous shell and peripheral segmental defects of moderate size were reconstructed with only morsellized grafts, covering the superior edge of the cup Failure rate and radiographic loosening did not differ significantly between pure cavitary defects and combined segmental/cavitary defects. Although it can not be concluded from this study limitations must be expected in reconstructing larger non-contained peripheral segmental defects. These defects don't allow sufficient impaction of the grafts, which is thought important in creating adequate initial cup stability. In these defects containment must be added to the grafts. A solid graft seems an inadequate solution as Jasty and Harris (1990) reported They demonstrated graft resorption in 80% of cases after femoral head allografting and radiographic cup loosening in 32% of hips after an average follow-up of 5.9 years. Comparable results were reported by Young et al. (1991)

Component migration is considered the golden standard of loosening in follow-up studies of total hip replacement Ranawat et al (1980) and Sutherland et al (1982) described their methods of measuring migration in detail. Since then many follow-up studies have appeared in which the component migration measurement is described poorly, often without mentioning measurement accuracy. We evaluated our radiographs quantitatively with the use of a digitizing tablet, which enabled us to perform more reliable, reproducible measurements. As both hip-centered and symphysis centered radiographs had to be assessed and compared, it was necessary to develop for this study a new migration measurement method, which made use of only the unilateral teardrop and Kohler line as reference structures. Additional evaluation of the hips in ten patients in which both types of radiographs were made at the same time, enabled us to compare the measurements of the two different types of radiographs.

In comparing follow-up series of revision total hip arthroplasty often different criteria for radiographic loosening and failure are used Hips with and without acetabular bone grafting are included in the same series, reconstructions with solid and morsellized bone grafts are not seperated in analysis, types of defects are not comparable and follow-up periods differ Marti et al (1990) reported 6 definite failures (10%) in a series of sixty cemented revisions with an average follow-up of 8 9 years Ten cups (17%) showed radiographic loosening Only 19 of the sixty cups were augmented with a bone graft Olivier and Sanouiller (1991) published the results of 46 cemented cup revisions, augmented with impacted cancellous bone grafts The surgical technique was comparable to our series. Average follow-up was only 2.6 years. Two definite failures had occurred and two radiographic loosenings. Mean graft consolidation time in their series was 7 months. This is longer compared to the mean consolidation time of 5 months for autografts and 4 months for allografts in our study Al though best results were achieved in contained cavitary defects, in our study morsellized grafts were equally effective in different types of defects. Samuelson et al. (1988) used cementless cups with support rings, augmented with morsellized homograft bone in 37 hips Two radiographic loosenings were recorded after an average follow-up of 1.5 years Cementless reconstructions are effective during short-term follow-up (Oakeshott et al 1987, Samuelson et al. 1988, Padgett et al. 1993). Bone grafts in the presence of a mobile bipolar socket, show a high rate of socket migration and graft resorption (Wilson et al. 1989, Brien et al 1990) This supports the hypothesis, that a stable implant is necessary for successful graft incorporation

The series in this study is uniform, regarding surgical technique, method of acetabular reconstruction and aftertreatment. All cups were augmented with morsellized bone grafts. A strict definition of radiographic loosening was used. Cups with radiolucency in 2 or 3 zones without clear migration (3 cups in this series), often called "possible loosening", were considered radiographically loose. Two cups (2%) had definitely failed (re-revision). Fourteen

cups (18%) were considered radiographically loose, but apparently there had been no indication for re-revision as yet. It must be kept in mind that our method of migration measurement with a digitizing tablet offers more accuracy compared to conventional methods as routinely used. The failure rate of 2%, including one recurrent infection, and the radiographic loosening percentage of 18% in this series, seem very acceptable in revision arthroplasty.

In fact the presented technique offers opportunities in revision hip surgery to create a situation comparable with a primary implant, although it will never be the same.

5.5 Conclusions

Impacted morsellized cancellous auto- and allografts have a high capacity to consolidate in acetabular defects after a failed primary implant. A cemented cup supplemented with impacted morsellized cancellous grafts seems to have sufficient initial stability to allow complete graft consolidation. Consolidation time depends on graft amount and is not influenced significantly by primary diagnosis or type defect. Non-consolidation has possibly negative predictive value for future cup loosening. Two percent of reconstructions had definitely failed and 18% of cups showed radiographic loosening after a mean follow-up of 6.4 years. Failure rate and radiographic loosening was not influenced by type defect or primary diagnosis. Autografts and allografts are equally effective.

5.6 Justification

Radiographic evaluation of total hip arthroplasty is only a part of the total assessment. It can not simply be transformed into clinical results. It is possible that patients with a radiographically loose reconstruction are asymptomatic. On the other hand a painfull total hip arthroplasty may show a perfect radiographic picture. A bad clinical score might be caused by factors not related to the reconstructed acetabulum and conversely. The radiographs in this study provided adequate insight in the behaviour of acetabular components supplemented with morsellized bone grafts, which was the only aim of this study. With regard to the above mentioned considerations, the outcome of this study must be interpreted with care. Only 2 cups were re-revised during the follow-up period, whereas 14 other cups were evaluated radiographically loose, but not yet re-revised.

References

- Brien, W.W., Bruce, W.J., Salvati, E.A. (1990) Acetabular reconstruction with a bipolar prosthesis and morsellized bone grafts. J Bone Joint Surg. 72-A, 1230.
- Buma, P., Schreurs, B W., Versleyen, D., Huiskes, R., Slooff, T.J.J.H. (1992) Histologic evaluation of allograft incorporation after cemented and non-cemented hip arthroplasty in the goat. In: J. Older (ed.): Bone Implant Grafting, London, Springer-Verlag, 12
- Callaghan, J.J., Salvati, E.A., Pellici, P.M., Wilson, P.D., Ranawat, C.S. (1979) Results of revision for mechanical failure after cemented total hip replacement J. Bone Joint Surg. 67-A, 1074-1086.
- Conn, R A, Peterson, L.F.A., Stauffer, R.N., Ilstrup, D (1985) Management of acetabular deficiency, Long-term results of bone grafting the acetabulum in total hip arthroplasty Orthop Trans 9, 451-452.
- Crowninshield, R.D., Brand, R.A., Pedersen, D.R. (1983) A stress analysis of acetabular reconstruction in protrusio acetabuli. J Bone Joint Surg. 65-A, 495-499
- D'Antonio, J.A., Capello, W.N.C., Borden, L.S., Bargar, W.L., Bierbaum, B.F., Boettcher, W.G., Steinberg, M.E., Stulberg, S.D., Wedge, J.H. (1989) Classification and management of acetabular abnormalities in total hip arthroplasty. Clin. Orthop. 243, 126-138
- DeLee, J.G , Chamley, J. (1976) Radiological demarcation of cemented sockets in total hip replacement Clin Orthop. 121, 53-59.
- Enneking, W.F., Mindell, E.R. (1991) Observations on massive retrieved human allografts. J. Bone Joint Surg. 73-A, 1123-1142
- Fuchs, M.D., Salvati, E.A., Wilson, P.D., Sculco, T.P., Pellici, P.M. (1988) Results of acetabular revisions with newer cementing techniques. Orthop. Clin. N. Am. 19, 649-656.
- Gerber, S.D., Harris, W.H. (1986) Femoral head autografting to augment acetabular deficiency in patients requiring total hip replacement. J. Bone Joint Surg. 68-A, 1241-1249.
- Glassman, A.H. (1992) Complications of trochanteric osteotomy. Orthop. Clin. N. Am. 23, 321-333
- Goldberg, V.M., Stevenson, S. (1987) Natural history of autografts and allografts. Clin. Orthop. 225, 7-17
- Friedlaender, G.E. (1987) Current concept review: bone grafts J Bone Joint Surg. 69-A, 786.
- Gruen, TA, McNeice, GM., Amstutz, H.C. (1979) Modes of failure of cemented stemtype femoral components. A radiographic analysis of loosening Clin Orthop. 141, 17-27.
- Harris, W.H., McCArthy, J.C., O'Neill, O.A. (1982) Femoral component loosening using contemporary techniques of femoral cement fixation. J. Bone Joint Surg. 64-A, 1063
- Harris, W.H. (1969) Traumatic arthritis of the hip after dislocation and acetabular fractures. Treatment by mold arthroplasty. An end-result study using a new method of result evaluation J Bone Joint Surg. 51-A, 737-755
- Hastings, D.E., Parker, S.M. (1975) Protrusio acetabuli in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin. Orthop. 108, 76-84.
- Heiple, K.G., Chase, S.W., Herndon, C.H. (1963) A comparative study of the healing process following different types of bone transplantation. J. Bone Joint Surg. 45-A, 1593-1612
- Huo, M H, Friedlaender, G E., Salvati, E.A. (1992) Bone graft and total hip arthroplasty. J. Arthroplasty 7, 109-120.

- Ilchmann, T., Franzen, H., Mjoberg, B. Wingstrand H. (1992) Measurement accuracy in acetabular cup migration. J. Arthroplasty 7, 121-127
- Jasty, M., Harris, W.H. (1990) Salvage total hip reconstruction in patients with major acetabular bone deficiency using structural femoral head allografts. J. Bone Joint Surg. 72-B. 1, 63-68
- Johnston, R C (1986) Revision of total hip arthroplasty for aseptic loosening the acetabulum AAOS Instructional Course Lecture 35, 157-160
- Marti R K Schuller, H M, Besselaar, PP Vanfrankhaasnoot, E L (1990) Results of revision hip arthroplasty with cement J Bone Joint Surg 72 A 346 354
- McCollum D E Nunley, J A, Harrelson J M (1980) Bone grafting in total hip replacement for acetabular protrusion J Bone Joint Surg 72 A 248 252
- Mendes, D.G. Rolfman, M., Silbermann, M. (1984) Reconstruction of the acetabular wall with bone graft in arthroplasty of the hip. Clin. Orthop. 186–29–38
- Mirra J M Amstutz H C, Matos M Gold, R (1976) The pathology of the joint tissues and its clinical relevance in orthopaedic prosthesis failure. Clin. Orthop. 147, 221-240
- Mjoberg, B, Brismar, J, Hansson, L I Petterson, H, Selvik, G Onnerfalt, R (1985) Definition of endoprosthetic loosening. Acta Orthop. Scand. 56, 469-473
- Oakeshott, R.D. Morgan, D.A.F. Zukor, D.J. Rudan J.F., Brooks P.J. Gross, A.E. (1987) Revision total hip arthroplasty with osseous allograft reconstruction. Clin. Orthop. 225, 37-62
- Olivier, H., Sanouiller, J.L. (1991) Acetabular reconstruction with cancellous bone grafts for revision of total hip arthroplasties. Fr. J. Orthop. Surg. 5, 187-195
- Padgett, D E, Kull, L, Rosenberg A Sumner, D Galante J O (1993) Revision of acetabular component without cement after total hip arthroplasty J Bone Joint Surg 75 A, 663 673
- Ranawat C S Dorr, L D, Inglis, A E (1980) Total hip arthroplasty in protrusio acetabuli of iheumatoid arthritis J Bone Joint Surg 62-A, 1059 1065
- Ritter, M A, Trancik T M (1985) Lateral acetabular bone graft in total hip arthroplasty Clin Orthop 193, 156-159
- Roffman M, Silbermann M, Mendes, DG (1982) Viability and osteogenicity of bone graft coated with methylmethacrylate cement. Acta Orthop. Scand. 53, 513, 519
- Samuelson, K M, Freeman, M A R, Levack, B, Rassmussen, G L, Revell, PA (1988) Homograft bone in revision acetabular arthroplasty J Bone Joint Surg 70 B, 367-373
- SAS/STAT User's Guide (1990) SAS Institute Inc. Cary, NC. USA, Version 6
- Scales J.T. Wright, K.W.J. (1983) Major bone and joint replacement using custom implants. In Chao E.Y.S., Irin. I.C. (eds.). Tumoui prosthesis for bone and joint reconstructions: the design and application. Stuttgart. Thieme-Verlag, 149–168.
- Schatzker J., Glynn, M.K., Ritter, D. (1984) A preliminary review of the Muller acetabular and Burch-Schneider anti- protrusion support ring. Arch. Orthop. Trauma Surg. 103, 5-12
- Schreurs, B W. Buma, P, Huiskes, R, Slagter, J L M, Sloott, T J J H (1994) Morsellized allografts for fixation of the hip prosthesis lemoral component. A mechanical and histological study in the goat Acta Orthop. Scand. 65, 267-275.
- Schreurs, B.W. Huiskes, R., Slooff TJJH (1994) The initial stability of cemented and non-cemented femoral stems fixated with a bone grafting technique. Clin. Mat. 16, 105–110
- Schuller, H.M. Dalstra, M., Huiskes, R., Marti, R.K. (1993) Total hip reconstruction in acetabular dysplasia. J. Bone Joint Surg. 75-B, 468-474

- Slooff, T J J H , Schimmel, J W, Buma, P (1993) Cemented fixation with bone grafts Orthop Clin N Am 24, 667-677
- Sutherland, C J Wilde, A H, Borden, L S, Marks, K E (1982) A ten year follow-up of one hundred consecutive Muller curved-stem total hip replacement arthroplasties J Bone Joint Surg 64-A, 970 982
- Wilson, M G, Nikpoor, N, Aliabadi, P, Poss, R, Weissman, B N (1989) The fate of acetabular allografts after bipolar revision arthroplasty of the hip J Bone Joint Surg 71 A, 1469-1480
- Yoder, S A, Brand, R A, Pederson, D R, O'Gorman, T W (1988) Total hip acetabular component po sition affects component loosening rates Clin Orthop 228, 79-88
- Young, S K, Dorr, L D, Kaufman, R I, Gruen ,T A W (1991) Factors related to failure of structural bone grafts in acetabular reconstruction of total hip arthroplasty J Arthroplasty 6, Suppl S73 S82

CHAPTER 6

General discussion and conclusions

Bone grafts are generally considered the best possible solution nowadays to restore acatabular bone stock defects in the presence of a failed implant (chapter 2). It was not the purpose of this study to perform a comparative study of different bone graft reconstructions, but to evaluate one specific technique in revision of a failed acetabular component.

The radiographic study, with an average follow-up of 5.7 years, shows that impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts are effective to reconstruct acetabular defects combined with a cemented cup with a failure rate of 2% and radiographic loosening signs in 18% (chapter 5). The strength of the technique is its relative simplicity and general applicability regardless type and size of defect, primary diagnosis or condition of the host bone bed. Success of the reconstruction depends on the mode of graft consolidation. The high capacity of the bone graft to consolidate is probably for the larger part caused by the morsellized cancellous structure and its easy adaptibility to the irregular host bone bed. In contrast to the natural history of auto- and allografts, in which allografts are considered inferior to autografts, radiographically no differences could be observed between these two types of graft regarding speed and extent of consolidation. This is important because of the unlimited quantities of available allograft bone in bone banks. Although not specifically investigated, immunological reactions to allografts seem to be of no clinical importance in this technique. The restored bone stock creates the possibility of a subsequent revision procedure, in case of repeated cup loosening. This is more difficult in the presence of loosened large metallic devices such as custommade prostheses and acetabular support rings.

The histological study of the animal experiment in chapter 3 confirmed the high capacity of allografts in the acetabulum to incorporate. At 12 weeks, allograft reconstructions in the goat showed complete incorporation. Some authors in literature fear the adverse effects of bone cement on graft incorporation. However, possible side effects of bone cement on the incorporation process could not be traced in the radiographic study (chapter 5). Neither could negative influences of bone cement on the incorporation process be established in the histological study (chapter 3). However, it remains uncertain whether cement is responsible for the late loosening events at the cement-graft interface, observed in the animal study. A simultaneous bone apposition and resorption process is observed moving like a revitalization front from the host-bone towards the graft-cement junction. Cup stability is possibly at risk during the incorporation process. Reversely, bone grafts in the presence of an unstable cup will fail to incorporate.

From our loading experiments in the goat during the first 12 weeks (chapter 4) can be concluded that advancing incorporation has a beneficial effect on cup stability. It is hypothesized that the cement and tight impaction of the chip graft are most important in creating sufficient initial cup stability Thereby the graft provides an ideal surface for cement interlock (2-3 mm in the animal experiment).

Histological study in the animal model (chapter 3) at 24 and 48 weeks shows clear signs of micromovements and cup instability as evidenced by a thick, dense fibrous tissue membrane at the bone-cement interface with only some small areas of direct bone-cement contact. Also clinical signs of cup loosening were present in majority of animals and confirmed at sacrifice. This event at the bone-cement interface was a rather consistent finding in the presence of complete graft incorporation. In some cases an incomplete thin cement mantle might contribute to this early loosening process, but does not fully explain the whole picture This increasing cup instability after 24 weeks evidenced in the histological study, could be confirmed more or less in the loading experiment (chapter 4). At 48 weeks 2 out of 3 animals showed complete failure of the cup with graft resorption. The only specimen tested after 48 weeks, without clinical symtoms of loosening, showed significantly more cup motion compared to the specimens tested at 12 weeks. The trend of cup loosening in the animal model, after graft incorporation was achieved, did not correlate with the radiographic findings in the patients. Two cups (2%) had definitely failed and fourteen cups (18%) showed radiographic signs of loosening. Average follow-up for the patients with failure or radiographic looosening was 6.4 years, whereas average follow-up for the whole series was 5.7 years.

The animal model caused some restrictions compared to the human situation. The compromised, sclerotic host-bone bed after a failed implant, was not present in our animals since these were primarily operated. The goats were ambulated after 2 days whereas patients kept bedrest for 6 weeks and allowed full weight bearing only 3 months post operatively. On the other hand, the size of the acetabulum in the goats allowed creation of a combined segmental/cavitary defect as often encountered in revision situations. The goat is a strong test animal, which loaded the operated leg soon after surgery.

Although it can not be specifically derived from this study, it must be stressed that limitations of the reconstruction technique with morsellized cancellous grafts might be expected on theoretical grounds. Adequate graft containment cannot be achieved in large segmental defects. Whether metallic devices or solid block grafts must be applied in these circumstances remains questionable.

The following conclusions can be drawn from this study:

- Impacted morsellized cancellous allografts have a high capacity to incorporate in acetabular defects, irrespective of defect-type and condition of host-bone bed.
- Radiological incorporation time depends on the amount of bone graft. This can be explained by the histological picture in the animal experiment in which a revitalization front moves from the host-bone bed towards the graft-cement interface with simultaneous bone resorption and apposition.
- Bone cement has no adverse effects on the incorporation of bone allografts in the acetabulum

Chapter 6

- Morsellized cancellous autografts and allografts are radiographically equally effective in acetabular reconstruction
- Initial cup stability is sufficient to allow complete graft incorporation. In the goat, during the process of graft incorporation in the first 12 weeks, cup stability increases.
- In the goat at 24 and 48 weeks cup instability is encountered as shown by a thick fibrous tissue interface at the graft-cement junction and a high percentage of cup loosening at sacrifice
- Radiographic results in the patient study are better than might have been expected from the animal experiment, with a failure rate of 2%, needing re-revision, and radiographic loosening signs in 18% The restoration of bone stock provides an adequate bone bed in case of subsequent revision in the future

Summary

Primary total hip arthroplasty (THA) is generally considered a successful procedure. However, aseptic loosening of the implant remains the most important long-term complication. The loosening process is accompanied by damaging and loss of surrounding bone stock to a more or lesser extent. In last decades several methods for revision have been described. In this thesis some aspects of a specific revision technique for the acetabular component are described, in which bone stock defects are reconstructed with impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts, combined with a cemented acetabular cup

Chapter 2 presents a review of the literature about biological and biomechanical properties of the different types of bone grafts. The sequence of events during the incorporation process is equal for autografts and allografts, but the rate and extent of incorporation is in favour of autografts. In general cancellous bone is completely incorporated. Cortical grafts remain an admixture of viable and necrotic bone with, as a consequence, a decrease in mechanical strength. Morsellized cancellous bone grafts (chips) are mostly completely incorporated, without temporary mechanical weakening, in contrast to solid cortico-cancellous bone. A review of the literature is presented about different reconstruction techniques for acetabular defects with bone grafts. The use of allograft bone is generally accepted. Segmental peripheral rim defects are reconstructed preferably with solid cortico-cancellous bone blocks with screw fixation. Most authors prefer reconstruction of segmental medial wall defects, with intact acetabular continuity, are mostly restored with morsellized cancellous bone grafts, whether or not impacted. No unanimity exists about cemented or cementless implant fixation.

In chapter 3 an animal experiment with goats is described. In these animals an acetabular defect was created and reconstructed with impacted morsellized cancellous allografts, whereafter a cemented total hip arthroplasty was performed. The purpose was to be informed about the rate and extent of graft consolidation and incorporation and developments at the interface between graft and cement during incorporation process. The test animals were sacrificed after 0, 3, 6, 12, 24 and 48 weeks, followed by histological examination. Consolidation between graft and host bone was already observed after 3 weeks. Incorporation showed a rather consistent pattern. Simultaneous resorption of graft bone and apposition of new bone was observed during the first twelve weeks. After this period the original graft had nearly completely disappeared and was replaced by viable, reorganized trabecular bone. At the interface between bone and cement local contact areas of viable bone and cement were seen, next to areas with fibrous tissue interposition.

longer follow up progressive fibrous interface formation developed with wear particles and loosening of the implant. It was concluded that morsellized cancellous bone grafts, combined with a cemented cup, have a high capacity to consolidate and incorporate. In this animal model, long-term observation (24 and 48 weeks) showed frequent aseptic loosening

Chapter 4 deals with a loading experiment. The purpose of this experiment was to be informed about the stability of an acetabular cup augmented with bone grafts, initially after the operation and its course in time. The same animal model, described in chapter 3 was used The goats were sacrificed direct post operatively and after 3, 12 and 48 weeks. After explantation of the reconstructed acetabulum graft incorporation was assessed radiographically The cups were loaded in a testing machine to 700 Newton Translations and rotations of the cup relative to bone were measured using roentgen stereophotogrammetry A decrease in translations was observed from direct post-operative to 12 weeks The same trend, although less consistent, was observed for rotations. Maximum translation and rotation direct post-operative amounted 0.57 mm and 3.0 degrees respectively In the 12 weeks group these values had decreased to 0.16 mm and 2.0 degrees respectively In the 48 weeks group only one specimen could be tested. The remaining two specimens showed at sacrifice complete loosening of the cups with severe bone stock loss At 12 weeks full graft incorporation was observed. From this experiment could be concluded that acetabular cups, augmented with chip allografts, show increasing stability up to 12 weeks, with radiographic graft incorporation at 12 weeks. Graft incorporation has a benficial effect on cup stability. In this animal model, a high chance of aseptic cup loosening is observed after 48 weeks

Results of revising a loosened acetabular cup with the described technique are presented and analyzed in chapter 5. A retrospective radiological study was performed of 80 reconstructions in 80 patients with an average age of 58 years (23 - 81 years). Average follow-up was 5.7 years (2.0 - 10.9 years). Two cups (2%) were re-revised, one cup due to recurrent infection. Radiographic loosening signs were observed in 14 (18%) of the remaining cups. Median consolidation time was 0.42 years and 0.30 years for autografts and allografts respectively (p=0.39). Consolidation time was also dependent on graft amount. In 4 reconstructions graft consolidation was not present. No significant difference was observed between autografts and allografts with regard to failing graft consolidation. Failing graft consolidation has possibly predictive value for radiographic loosening. Type of defect and primary diagnosis did not have predictive value for cup failure or radiographic loosening. Autografts showed more radiolucency compared to allografts (p=0.008). This was not the case for cup migration. The radiographic results were considered fair for revision hip surgery. Bone bed repair was nearly always achieved, which is considered important for possible subsequent revision in future.

Samenvatting

De primaire totale heuparthroplastiek wordt algemeen als een succesvolle procedure beschouwd. Desondanks blijft aseptische loslating van het implantaat de belangrijkste lange termijn complicatie. Het loslatingsproces wordt begeleid door beschadiging en verlies van omgevend bot in meer of mindere mate. De afgelopen decennia zijn diverse revisiemethoden beschreven. In dit proefschrift worden diverse aspecten beschreven van een specifieke revisietechniek voor de acetabulaire component, waarbij de ossale defecten worden gereconstrueerd met geimpacteerde spongieuze botchips in combinatie met cementfixatie van de acetabulaire cup

Hoofdstuk 2 geelt een overzicht van de literatuur omtrent de biologische en biomechanische eigenschappen van de verschillende typen bottransplantaten. De opeenvolgende stadia van het incorporatie proces zijn aanwezig zowel bij autologe als homologe transplantaten, waarbij de snelheid en mate van incorporatie in autoloog bot groter is Spongieus bot wordt in het algemeen volledig geincorporeerd. Daarentegen blijven corticale transplantaten een mengsel van vitaal en necrotisch bot, hetgeen een vermindering van mechanische sterkte tot gevolg heeft. Gefragmenteerde spongieuze bottransplantaten (chips) leiden meestal tot complete incorporatie, zonder tijdelijke mechanische verzwakking, in tegenstelling tot solide cortico-spongieus bot. Verder wordt een literatuuroverzicht gegeven van de verschillende reconstructietechnieken van acetabulaire defecten met bottransplantaten. Het gebruik van homoloog bot is algemeen geaccepteerd. Perifere randdelecten worden bij voorkeur gereconstrueerd met solide cortico-spongieuze botblokken met schroeffixatie. Mediale wanddetecten worden door de meeste auteurs gesloten met cortico-spongieuze botspanen in combinatie met een metalen ondersteuningsring Holtevormige delecten waarbij de continuiteit van het acetabulum niet is verstoord, worden meestal opgevuld met spongieuze botchips, al dan niet geimpacteerd. Er bestaat geen eenstemmigheid omtrent gecementeerde of cementloze implantaatfixatie

In hoofdstuk 3 wordt een dierexperimentele studie beschreven met geiten. In deze dieren werd een acetabulair defect gecreeerd en gereconstrueerd met geimpacteerde homologe spongieuze botchips, waarna een gecementeerde totale heup arthroplastiek werd verricht. Het doel was inzicht te krijgen in de mate en snelheid van consolidatie en incorporatie van het transplantaat en de ontwikkelingen in de overgangszone tussen cement en transplantaat tijdens het incorporatieproces. De procfdieren werden geofferd na 0, 3, 6, 12, 24 en 48 weken, waarna histologisch onderzoek plaatsvond. Consolidatie tussen transplantaat en gastheer werd reeds na 3 weken waargenomen. Incorporatie verliep volgens een consistent patroon. Resorptie van transplantaatbot en appositie van nieuw bot werden ge-lijktijdig gezien gedurende de eerste 12 weken. Na deze periode was het oorspronkelijke

transplantaat bijna geheel vervangen door vitaal, gereorganiseerd lamellair bot. In de overganszone tussen bot en cement werd plaatselijk contact tussen vitaal bot en cement gezien, naast gebieden met weke delen interpositie. Na langere follow-up werd toenemende weke delen interpositie met slijtage partikels gevonden met loslating van het implantaat Geconcludeerd wordt dat homologe botchips in combinatie met een gecementeerde acetabulaire cup een groot vermogen tot consolidatie en incorporatie vertonen. Op langere termijn (24 en 48 weken) treedt in dit diermodel frequent aseptische loslating op

Hoofdstuk 4 beschrijft een belastingsexperiment, waarmee getracht werd inzicht te krijgen in de stabiliteit van de acetabulaire component direct postoperatief en in het verloop van de tijd Hiervoor werd gebruik gemaakt van hetzelfde diermodel als in hoofdstuk 3 De geiten werden direct postoperatief geofferd en na 3, 12 en 48 weken Na explantatie van het gereconstrueerde acetabulum werd radiologisch de mate van incorporatie bepaald De cups werden belast op een drukbank tot maximaal 700 Newton Translaties en rotaties van de cup ten opzichte van het omgevende bot werden gemeten middels rontgen-stereofotogrammetrie Van 0 tot 12 weken werd een afname geconstateerd in translaties Dezelfde trend, alhoewel minder consistent, werd gevonden voor de rotaties Maximale translatie en rotatie direct postoperatief bedroegen respectievelijk 0 57 mm en 3 0 graden Bij de 12 weken groep was dit gedaald tot respectievelijk 0 16 mm en 2 0 graden. Van de 48 weken groep kon maar een acetabulum worden getest. De overige twee preparaten toonden bij offeren complete loslating met ernstig botverlies. Na 12 weken werd volledige graftincorporatie gezien. Uit dit experiment kon worden geconcludeerd dat acetabulaire cups, geaugmenteerd met homologe botchips, vanaf direct postoperatief tot 12 weken toenemende stabiliteit vertoonden met radiologisch incorporatie van het bottransplantaat na 12 weken. Incorporatie van het transplantaat heeft een gunstig effect op de cupstabiliteit. Op het tijdstip 48 weken is in dit diermodel sprake van een grote kans op opgetreden loslating

De resultaten van revisie van een loszittende acetabulaire component met behulp van de beschreven techniek worden weergegeven en geanalyseerd in hoofdstuk 5 Het betreft een retrospectieve radiologische studie van 80 reconstructies bij 80 patienten met een gemiddelde leeftijd van 58 jaar (23 - 81 jaar) De gemiddelde follow-up was 5 7 jaar (20 - 10 9 jaar) Twee cups (2%) dienden te worden gerereviseerd, waarvan een cup als gevolg van een recidief infect. Tekenen van radiologische loslating werden vastgesteld bij 14 (18%) van de overige acetabulum cups. Mediane consolidatietijd was 0 42 jaar en 0 30 jaar voor respectievelijk autologe en homologe transplantaten (p=0.39). De consolidatieduur bleek mede afhankelijk van de hoeveelheid transplantaat. In 4 reconstructies werd geen consolidatie van het transplantaten met betrekking tot falende consolidatie. Falende consolidatie heeft mogelijk voorspellende waarde voor het ontstaan van radiologische loslating. Er werd geen significant verschil gevonden tussen verschillende defecttypen met betrekking.

Samenvatting

tot falen of radiologische loslating. Ook de diagnose waaronder de primaire totale heuparthroplastiek werd verricht bleek niet van invloed. Autologe transplantaten bleken een hogere kans te geven op radiolucentie dan allografts (p=0.008). Dit gold niet voor cupmigratie. De radiologische resultaten kunnen als zeer acceptabel worden beschouwd voor revisie heup chirurgie. Er is een grote kans op herstel van het botbed, hetgeen van belang is voor een eventuele nieuwe revisieprocedure in de toekomst.



Table 1

goat	700N	0N
0	10min	10min
56LB	-0.405	-0.065
57LB	-0.924	0
59LB	-0.711	-0.185
69B	-0.575	-0.120
70B	-0.034	-0.004
75B	-0.464	-0.053
81B	-0.279	-0.010
82B	-0.095	-0.029
88B	-1.341	-0.602
56RB	-0.336	0.073

 Table 1.a.
 Translations (mm) along medial-lateral (X) axis after loading and subsequent unloading.

 Table 1.b.
 Translations (mm) along cranio-caudal (Y) axis after loading and subsequent unloading.

goat	700N	0N	
	IOmin	IUmin	
56LB	1.052	0.347	·
57LB	0.936	0	
59LB	1.352	0.572	
69B	0.405	0.076	
70B	0.543	0.228	
75B	0.142	0.053	
81B	0.268	0.095	
82B	0.059	-0.028	
88B	1.436	0.802	
56RB	1.338	0.509	

goat	700N	0N	
	IUmin	10 min	
56LB	0 641	-0 106	
57L B	0 868	0	
59LB	-1 051	-0 267	
69B	1 069	-0 250	
70 B	-1 223	0 375	
75 B	-0 299	-0 007	
81B	-0 078	0 056	
82B	0 460	0 161	
88B	-2 366	-1 073	
59 RB	-0 194	-0 118	

 Table 1.c.
 Translations (mm) along dorso-ventral (Z) axis after loading and subsequent unloading

 Table 1.d.
 Translation resultants (mm) after loading and subsequent unloading

goat	700N	ON	
	10min	10min	
56LB	1 297	0 369	
57LB	1 576	0	
59LB	1 854	0 658	
69B	1 280	0 288	
70 B	1 3 3 9	0 439	
75 B	0 570	0 075	
81B	0 395	0 11 1	
82 B	0 473	0 166	
88B	3 075	1 469	
59 RB	1 393	0 528	

	ung		
goat	700N 10min	0N 10min	
56LB	-2.64	-0.9	
57LB	-3.46	0	
59LB	-6.00	-2.97	
69B	0.26	2.07	
70B	-1.31	-0.73	
75B	0.10	0.31	
81B	-0.24	-0.82	
82B	-0.44	-0.18	
88B	6.00	1.09	
56RB	-0.12	-0.53	

 Table 1.e.
 Rotations (degrees) around medial-lateral (X) axis after loading and subsequent unloading

 Table 1.f. Rotations (degrees) around cranio-caudal (Y) axis after loading and subsequent unloading

goat	700N	0N	·
-	10min	10min	
56LB	-2.71	-0.57	
57LB	-0.98	0	
59LB	-3.34	-0.09	
69B	0.34	-2.45	
70B	0.51	0.58	
75B	-0.93	0.27	
81B	-0.19	0.61	
82B	-0.30	0.46	
88B	-1.81	-2.80	
56RB	-0.59	-0.23	

ang		
700N 10min	0N 10min	
1.50	0.73	,,
1.08	0	
1.78	0.89	
0.26	-2.29	
0.53	0.36	
0.20	-0.06	
-0.73	-0.51	
-2.25	-2.03	
-3.59	-1.90	
-2.86	-1.66	
	700N 10min 1.50 1.08 1.78 0.26 0.53 0.20 -0.73 -2.25 -3.59 -2.86	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

 Table 1.g.
 Rotations (degrees) around dorso-ventral (Z) axis after loading and subsequent unloading

8	ь	c	đ	•	t	0	h	1	j	k	ι	•	n	0	P
patient	age	sex	side	diagn	defect	g.type	g.allount	fol.up	cons.t	r.luc.s	r.luc.a	r.luc.m	819C.6	migr.m	rerev.cup
1	27	M	L	SEC	COMB	AUTO	21	10.0	0.2	NO	HO	NO	1	1	NO
2	34	F	R	PRIM	COMB	ALLO	22	4.1	0.5	NO	NO	NO	2	2	NO
3	50	F	L	PRIM	CAV	ALLO		4.5	0.2	WO	NO	NO		1	NO
4	29	N		PRIM	CAV	AUTO		8.1	0.3	NU	ND	NO NEC	2	U T	10
	51	- F	L .	PRIM	CAV	AUTO	17		U.2	TES	80	TES	-	3	NC
	47		R I	320	COMP	ALLO	22	9.3	0.7	10	NO	10		2	
, ,	23			PRIM	COMB	ALLO	24	y	0.7	10	10	10		,	10
0	74	2		SEC	CAV	AUTO	17	7.0	0.5	10	80	NO 10	,	2	**
10	80	-	-	DEIN	CONR	ALLO		8 7	0.0		NO 10	H0	ŝ		#0
11	72	÷		SEC	COMB	ALLO	14	11	0.3		NO	*0	1	1	NO.
12	63	,	-	PRIM	CAV	4110	10	3.2	0.3		NO	NO	11	i	NO
13	~~~	Ē		SEC	COMB	ALLO	32	5.1	1.1	NO 1	NO	YES	3	1	10
14	35	÷		RA	CONS	AUTO	21	3.7	(1.6)	NO	10	NO	1	Ō	NO
15	71	H	ï	PRIM	CAV	ALLO	22	3.8	1.0	NO	NO	NO	5	1	NO
16	40	N	R	SEC	CAV	ALLO	19	5.7	0.3	NO	NO	NO	2	1	NO
17	72	F	L	SEC	CAV	ALLO	10	7.2	0.3	NO	NO	NO	6	1	NO
18	59	F	L	PRIM	CAV	ALLO	9	9.5	0.3	NO	NO	NO	3	z	ND
19	53	F	R	PRIM	CONB	ALLO	30	6.2	0.2	NO	NO	NO	1	1	ND
20	69	F	L	PRIM	COMB	AUTO	21	9.5	0.6	YES	YES	YES	3	3	NO
21	60	F	L	PRIM	CAV	ALLO	28	4.8	0.3	NO	NO	YES	1	1	NO
22	62	F	L	PRIM	CAV	ALLO	20	5.5	0.3	NO	NO	NO	2	3	NQ
23	64	F	L	PRIN	CAV	ALLO	13	6.9	0.5	NO	YES	NQ	2	1	NO
24	38	F	R	RA	COMB	ALLO	24	6.1	0.2	NO	NO	NO	2	1	NO
25	59	F	ι	SEC	CAV	ALLO	23	5.1	0.6	NO	NC	NO	2	z	NO
26	79	F	R	SEC	COMB	ALLO	22	3.2	(>3.1)	NO	NO	NO	1	2	NO
27	43	M	۲	PRIM	CAV	ALLO	24	3.5	0.3	NO	NO	ND	3	1	жо
28	55	M	L	SEC	CAV	ALLO	30	5.1	(>5.2)	NO	YES	ND	9	Z	NO
29	70	N	L	SEC	COMB	ALLO	10	5.8	0.3	NO	NO	YES	3	9	NO
30	59	F	L	RA	COMB	AUTO	30	3.8	0.9	NC	NO	NO	4	2	NO
31	56	F	L	SEC	COMB	ALLO	3	2.2	0.3	NO	NO	NO	1	1	NC
32	62	F	L	PRIM	CAV	ALLO	16	8.6	0.3	ND	NO	NO	2	3	NO
33	39	F	L	SEC	CAV	ALLO	~~	5.7	05.0	YES	TES	TES		2	HC
<u>14</u>	75	1	R	PRIM	COMB	ALLO	2	3.1	0.4	NO	NO	¥0	2	0	NO
35	57			PHIM	COMB	ALLO	21	3.4	U.4	NU	NO	NC NC	2	1	NO
30	12		*	PRIM	CORB	AUTO		6.y	(28.9)	163	162	TES	,	-	80
3/		r 		PAIN	COND	ALLO	7	4.4 E 0	0.3	NO.	NO	10		1	NU
30	13			PRIM	CAN	ALLO	'	10.0	0.3	WC C	-		ć		
39	20			RA 850	CAV	AUTO		7.4	0.3	163	NO	*0	2	ź	NU
40	44	2		320	COMB	AUTO	13	2.0 8 9	0.4	VES	VEC	VEC	4	10	763
42	~	÷	2	DRIM	CONB	ALIO	28	6.2	0.5	10.0	ND	20	ź	2	~
43	60	N	ï	PRIM	CAV	ALLO		1.8	0.3	10	NO	10	,	2	
45	61	, in the second		PRIN	CAV	ALLO	12	5.0	0.2	NO	NO	**	,	1	
45	35		-	RA	CAV	ALLO	12	6.1	0.3	TES	NO	YES	1	;	80
46	74	F		PRIM	COMB	ALLO	27	4.7	0.8	NO	NO	80	2	2	NO
47	71	F	R	PRIM	COMB	ALLO	30	2.8	0.1	NO	NO	ND	1	2	NO
48	30	F	i.	RA	COMB	ALLO	22	5.8	0.3	ю	NO	ND	Ó	0	10
49	50	н	L	SEC	CONB	ALLO	41	5.9	1.2	TES	80	NO	8	5	80
50	46	M	L	\$EC	COMB	ALLO	22	5.3	0.3	NO	NC	NO	3	z	NO
51	45	F	L	PRIM	COMB	ALLO	14	4.1	0.3	NO	NO	ю	1	z	NO
52	44	N	R	SEC	CAV	ALLO	10	5.1	0.3	NO	NO	NO	2	2	NO
53	36	F	L	SEC	CAV	ALLO	8	6.0	0.5	NO	NO	NO	3	4	NO
54	69	F	R	PRIN	COMB	ALLO	36	3.1	0.8	NO	NO	NO	2	2	80
55	80	F	R	PRIM	CAV	ALLO	28	6.1	1.1	ю	NO	NO	1	2	NO
56	61	F	R	RA	CAV	ALLO	19	7.2	0.2	NO	NO	NO	3	3	NO

Table 2 Observations in 80 patients in the radiologic study

a b c

d

е

ť

g

h J k I m n o P

57 61 58 61 59 65 60 41 61 53 62 53 63 61 64 65 65 55 66 77 77 75 78 55 70 81 77 67 78 55 77 85 78 55 78 55 78 55 78 55 78 55 78 55 79 69 80 65 24 10 71 68 72 67 73 75 78 55 79 69 80 65 24 10 71 68 70 69 80 65 24 10 71 68 72 67 73 75 78 55 79 69 80 65 24 10 71 68 70 69 70 57 70 53 70 69 80 65 24 10 71 68 72 67 73 75 78 55 79 69 80 65 24 10 71 68 70 69 80 65 70 85 70		n l l n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n	RA PRLIM SEC PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM PRLIM	244 2016 247 267 267 267 267 267 267 267 267 267 26	AUTO ALLO ALLO AUTO AUTO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO AL	19 29 17 6 19 22 37 13 17 12 23 24 21 20 21 22 4	3.0 7.2 3.5 5.1 9.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 6.8 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 7.1 7.1 7.1 9.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8	0.5 0.2 0.1 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8	04 04 09 09 09 09 09 09 09 09 09 09 09 09 09	201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201	04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 0	2 1 3 3 5 1 5 2 3 3 2 10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 3 2 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 1 1 0 3 4 5 4 1 3 2 4 2 1 3 1 3	90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 9
58 + 61 + 59 + 65 + 64 + 14 + 153 + 64 + 55 + 65 + 55 + 65 + 70 + 64 + 65 + 65 + 70 + 64 + 64 + 65 + 65 + 77 + 67 + 67 + 77 + 77 + 77	$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0$	г с с н с с с с с с с с с с с с с с с с с с с	PALIM SAC PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM PALIM	2016 2.4V 2.4V 2.4V 2.0HE 2.4V 2.4V 2.4V 2.4V 2.4V 2.4V 2.4V 2.4V	ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO	29 17 6 19 22 37 13 17 11 25 24 29 8 6 18 19 42 31 20 21 32 25 4	7.2 3.5.1 9.8 5.0 6.8 5.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 7.1 4.6 7.1 4.6 7.1 4.6 7.1 4.6 7.1 4.5 5.1 3.9 7.1 4.5 7.2 6.7 8 4.5 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	0.2 0.3 0.8 0.2 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.6 0.2 0.3 0.6 0.7 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3	04 04 04 03 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04	04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 0	00 00 00 00 00 237 237 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	13351523321032332622 13 32	2 2 2 2 2 3 1 1 0 3 4 5 4 1 3 2 4 2 1 3 1 3	80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 8
41 61 53 62 53 63 64 55 55 55 57 76 77 77 78 59 50 69 69 60 65 50 77 78 59 69 60 60 60 78 59 77 78 59 77 78 59 78 59 78 59 78 59 78 59 78 59 78 59 77 59 50 69 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 60		n L R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	PRIM PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM	CAV COME CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALLO AUTO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO AL	6 19 22 37 13 17 11 25 24 29 8 6 18 19 42 20 21 20 21 22 4	5.1 9.8 8.6 5.0 6.8 4.8 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 7.1 4.6 7 3.2 6.7 4.5 2 5.1 4.3	0.3 0.8 0.2 0.3 0.6 0.7 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3	40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 4	04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 0	180 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 8	3 5 1 5 2 3 3 2 10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 2 5 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 2 5 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 2 5 2 3 3 2 6 5 2 3 2 5 5 2 3 2 5 5 2 3 3 2 5 5 5 5 5	2 2 2 3 1 1 0 3 4 5 4 1 3 2 4 2 1 3 1 3 1 3	40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 4
61 53 62 53 63 61 64 65 65 55 66 75 67 75 68 74 77 67 78 59 77 57 78 59 77 59 78 59 77 59 78 59 77 57 78 59 77 57 78 59 77 57 78 59 77 57 78 59 77 59 78 59 77 59 78 59 77 59 78 59 77 59 78 59 77 59 78 59 77 59 78 59	s = r s	г п L R L R F F R R R R R R R R R R R R R R	PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM	2016 244 244 244 244 244 244 244 244 244 24	AUTO AUTO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO AL	19 22 37 13 17 11 25 24 29 8 6 18 19 42 20 21 30 21 32 25 4	9.8 8.8 5.0 6.8 4.8 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.5 5.0 6.5 3.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.9 7.1 4.3	0.8 0.2 0.8 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3	40 40 925 925 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80	00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	80 NG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG KG	5 1 5 2 3 3 2 10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 2 5 2 3 2 5 2 3 2 5 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2	2 2 3 1 1 0 3 4 5 4 2 1 3 7 1 3 1 3	80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 8
2 33 34 35 35 35 36 37 37 35 38 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37	ears)	n L F F R F F L F F R F R R F F R F R L F F R F L L F F R L F F R F F L L F F R R F F L L F F R R F F L L F F R R R F R R R F R R F R R F R R F R R F R R F R R F R R F R R R F R R F R R R F R R R F R R R F R R R F R R R F R R R F R R R F R R R F R R R R F R	REL PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM	COVIE CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALIO ALIO ALIO ALIO ALIO ALIO ALIO ALIO	22 13 13 17 11 25 24 29 8 6 18 19 42 20 21 32 25 4	5.0 6.8 5.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 1 9 4.9 7.1 4.6 7 3.2 6.7 4.8 7 3.2 6.7 4.3	0.8 0.2 0.3 0.7 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3	24 25 26 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	40 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 8	5 2 3 3 2 10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 15 3 2 6 2 15 3 2 5 2 3 2 6 2 15 3 2 3 2 5 3 2 5 3 2 5 3 2 5 3 2 5 3 5 5 5 5	2 3 1 1 0 3 4 5 4 1 3 4 2 4 2 1 3 1 3	40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 4
64 65 55 65 70 81 71 68 72 67 72 67 73 73 73 73 73 73 76 59 69 65 74 54 57 75 75 59 67 76 53 77 53 76 59 67 69 80 65 65 64 Patient Age (yea 58 65 Patient Gex - female - female - 71 71 60 65 75 75 75 73 53 75 76 59 60 65 76 67 67 60 68 - female - - fmary - - female - - primary	s = s s = r s	F L F R F R F R F R F R F R F L F R F L F L F L F L F L F L F R F R F R F R F R F R F R F R	PEIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM	CAV CAV CAV CONB CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALL0 ALL0 ALL0 ALL0 ALL0 ALL0 ALL0 ALL0	13 17 11 25 24 8 6 18 19 42 20 21 32 25 4	6.8 4.8 5.0 6.5 3.9 7.1 1 9 4.9 7.1 4.6 8 7 3.2 7 8 4.6 7 3.2 8 4 3 3.4 4 3 4 3	0.2 0.3 0.6 0.9 0.2 0.3 1.5 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3	NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO	90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 9	90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 9	2 3 3 2 10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 15 3 2 6 2 15 3 2 2 5 2	3 1 0 3 4 5 4 1 3 2 4 2 1 3 1 3 1 3	NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO N
65 55 66 70 67 75 68 74 69 65 70 81 71 68 72 67 73 75 75 75 76 59 77 57 78 53 78 53 78 55 78 59 77 57 78 59 77 57 78 59 78	r = r = r = r = r = r = r = r = r = r =	F L F R F R F R F R F L F L F L F L F L F L F L F L	PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM	2AV 2AV 2AV 2AV 2AV 2AV 2AV 2AV 2AV 2AV	ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO	17 11 25 24 29 8 6 18 19 42 20 21 32 25 4	4.8 5.0 6.5 3.9 4.9 7.1 4.6 8 7 .1 3.2 6.7 3.2 6.7 5.1 4.3	0.3 0 6 0.9 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.3 1.5 0.3 0.3 0.8 1 1 0.2 0.3	NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO	NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC N	237 200 201 217 217 217 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201	3 3 2 10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 19 3 2 6 2 19 3 2 6 2 19 3 2 6 2 19 3 2 2 5 3 2 6 2 19 3 2 2 5 3 2 5 3 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	1 1 0 3 4 5 4 1 3 2 4 2 1 3 1 3 1 3	NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO NO N
67 75 68 74 69 65 70 81 71 68 72 67 73 73 74 59 75 75 76 59 77 57 78 68 64 64 78 57 78 59 78 59 60 65 Patient Age (yea Sex - - female - Side - - male - Side - - nght (- - mmary - - second - - second - - combit - - combit - - autogr - - autogr -	ears	F R F R F R F R F R F R F R F R F R F R	PAIN PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM SEC PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM	2016 2016 2016 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017	ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO	25 24 29 8 6 18 19 42 21 20 21 32 25 4	6.0 6.5 3.9 1 9 4.9 7.1 4.6 7.1 4.8 7 3.2 6.7 8 4.7 3.2 6.7 8 4.3	0.9 0.2 0.3 1.5 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.8 1 1 0.2 0.3	40 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	40 HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ	400 YES NO NO NO HO HO HO HO HO	3 2 10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 13 3 2 6 2 13 2 3 2 6 2 13 2 3 2 6 2 15 2 3 2 2 5 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 3 2 6 2 3 3 2 5 2 5 5 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	03454132421 3713	HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO
645 74 659 65 70 81 71 68 72 67 73 73 74 54 75 75 76 59 77 57 78 59 78 69 60 65 Patient Age (yea Patient Age (yea Patient Age (yea Patient Age (yea Side - left (L - nght (Primary - primar) - second - rheum Fype def - combi - cavitan Fype gra - autogr	ears)	F R R F R F R F R F R F R F R F R F R F	PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM SEC PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM	CDNB CAV CAV CAV CON8 CON8 CAV CON8 CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO	24 29 8 6 19 42 20 21 32 25 4	6.5 3.9 4.9 7.1 4.6 8.7 8.4 5.7 8.4 5.1 4.3	0.2 0.7 0.2 0.3 1.5 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3	NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC	HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ HQ H	YES YES NG NG NG NG NG NG NG	2 10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 13 3 2 6 2 13 3 2 6 2	3 4 5 4 1 3 2 4 2 1 3 1 3	ND NG NG NG NG NG NG NG TES NG
av av 70 av 71 av 72 av 73 ra 74 sv 75 ra 76 sv 20 ra 74 sv 75 ra 76 sv 20 ra 21 ra 23 ra 24 sv 25 ra 26 sv 21 ra 22 ra 24 ra 25 ra 26 ra 26 ra 27 ra 28 ra 29 ra 20 ra 20 ra	ears) e	F R F L F R F L F R F L F R F L F F L F F L F F R F R	PRIM PRIM PRIM SEC PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM	CAV CAV CORS CORS CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO	6 6 18 19 42 31 20 21 32 25 4	1.9 4.9 7.1 4.6 8.7 8.4 3.2 6.7 8.4 3.2 6.7 8.4 3.2 6.7 8.4 3.2 6.7	0.7 0.2 0.3 1.5 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 1 1 0.2 0.3	110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110	140 140 140 140 140 140 140 140 140 140	725 NG NG NG NG NG NG NG NG	10 3 2 3 3 2 6 2 13 3 2 6 2 13 3 2 6 2	• 5 4 1 3 2 4 2 1 3 1 3 1 3	80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80
71 68 72 67 73 73 74 54 75 75 76 59 77 57 78 53 79 59 50 65 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	ears)	F L F R F L F L F L F L F L F L F L F L F L F L	PRIM PRIM SSC PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM	CAV COM5 COM5 CAV COM5 CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO	6 18 19 42 31 20 21 32 25 4	4.9 7.1 4.6 8 7 3.2 6.7 8 4 5 2 5.1 4 3	0.3 1.5 0 4 0 8 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.8 1 1 0.2 0.3	80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80	NG NG NG NG NG NG NG	NG NG NG NG NG NG NG	233262 1832 2	4 1 2 4 2 1 3 1 3	NG NG NG NG NG NG NG NG
72 67 73 73 74 54 75 75 76 59 77 57 78 59 77 57 78 59 78 59 78 59 79 59 78 59 79 59 78 59 79 59 79 59 79 59 79 59 79 59 79 59 79 59 79 59 70 59 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70	(L) (R)	F R F L F L F L F L F L F R N N (F) (F) (M)	PRIM PRIM SEC PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM	CONS CONS CAV CONS CONS CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO	18 19 42 31 20 21 32 25 4	7.1 4.6 8.2 6.7 8.4 5.2 5.1 4.3	1.5 0 4 0 3 0.3 0.8 1 1 0.2 0.3	NO NO NO NO NO	NC NC NC NC NC NC NC	K0 K0 80 80 80 80 80 80 80	3 3 2 6 2 13 3 2 2	1 2 4 2 1 3 1 3	NO NO NO NO NO TES NO
74 54 75 75 76 59 77 57 78 59 78 59 78 59 79 69 50 2atient Age (yea 50 4 50 6 7 mary 6 7 mary 7 50 7 mary 7 50 7 mary 6 7 mary 7 5 second 6 7 mary 7 5 second 7 7 second 7 7 7 second 7 7 7	ears) lle (I (L)	rs) (F) (F) (F) (F) (M) (N)	PRIN SEC PRIN SEC PRIN PRIN PRIN	CAV CONS CONS CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO ALLO	42 31 20 21 32 25 4	8.7 3.2 6.7 8.4 5.2 5.1 4.3	0 8 0.3 0.8 1 1 0.2 0.3	80 80 80 80 80	NG NG NG NG NG NG	140 160 160 160 160 160	3 6 2 13 3 2	3 2 4 2 1 3 1 3	NU NO NO NO TES NO
rs rs rr sr rs rs rs rs rs ss rs es es es es es es es es es es es es es e	5 F 7 F 5 F 5 F 6 H 1 (L) (L) (R)	f I f L f L f I f R	PRIM SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM	COMB COMB CAV CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALLO ALLO AUTO ALLO ALLO	31 20 21 32 25 4	3.2 6.7 8 4 5 2 5.1 4 3	0.3 0.3 0.8 1 t 0.2 0.3	10 10 10 10 10 10	140 140 140 140 140 140	60 10 10 10 10 10	2 6 2 1 3 2 2	4 2 1 3 1 3	NO NO YES NO
76 59 77 57 78 53 79 69 69 65 Patient Age (yea Sex - female - female - female - female - female - female - female - female - male - combi - conbi - autogr - autogr - autogr	P	f L f L f R f R (F) (M)	SEC PRIM PRIM PRIM PRIM	COHE CAV CAV CAV CAV	ALLO AJTO ALLO ALLO	20 21 32 25 4	6.7 84 52 5.1 43	0.3 0.8 1 1 0.2 0.3	40 40 40 40	140 765 140 140 140	140 140 140 140 140	6 2 1 3 2	2]] 3] 3	HO HJ YES HG HO
78 53 79 69 60 65 Patient Age (yea Sex - female - female - female - female - female - female - female - female - nght (Primary - primary - primary - second - rheum Fype def - combi - cavitai Fype gra - autogr	ears) ile (H e (M (L) (R)	rs) (F) (M)	PRIM Prim Prim	CAV CAV CAV	ALLO ALLO ALLO	32	5 2 5.1 4 3	1 t 0.2 0.3	10 10 10	40 40 40	NO NO NO	13 3 2	3 1 3	YES HIG HIG
Patient Age (yea Sex - female - male - left (L - nght (Primary - primary - primary - primary - second - rheum Type def - combi - cavitai Type gra - autogra	ears) ile (H e (M (L) (R)	f R H H (F) (M) (M) R)	PRIM Prim	CAV CAV	ALLO ALLO	5	5.1 4 3	0.2 0.3	NO NO	MO MO	NO NO	3 2	1 3	HO HO
Patient Age (yea Sex - female - male - left (L - nght (Primary - primary - primary - primary - second - rheum Type def - combi - cavitai Type gra - autogr - autogr	ears) ile (H e (M (L) (R)	rs) : (F) [M] .) R)	FRIM	LAV	ALLU	•	•)	0.3	RU.			٤	L	
Fait am Follow-u Consolid Radioluc Radioluc Radioluc	ary of ndar matc efect of ary (ary (ary (arg ary (arg arg arg arg arg arg arg arg arg arg	liagno y oste lary os atoid a ect ned ca y (cav ft aft (auk ount (i p time ation t ency i ency i	osis coarthr steoarn arthrit avitary v) ito) o) mm) e (year time (y in supe in axia in med	ritis (p thritis is (RA s/segm s/s s/s s/s s/s s/s s/s s/s s/s s/s s/	(\sec) (sec) (sec) ((comb. 2mm im)							
Cup migi Cup migi Re-revisi	icen	ency i		enor	directi	on (mr	n)							

Table 2 Observations in 80 patients in the radiologic study (continued)

Dankwoord

Prof Dr T J J H Slooff is de initiator van dit proefschrift geweest. Ik ben hem zeer erkentelijk voor de geboden mogelijkheden en begeleiding in de totstandkoming hiervan. De huidige ontwikkelingen in de revisie heupchirurgie met geimpacteerde botchips zijn voor een belangrijk deel zijn verdienste

Prof Dr Ir R Huiskes dank ik voor zijn begeleiding en betrokkenheid Zijn oordeel en adviezen heb ik zeer gewaardeerd

Dr PBuma begeleidde het histologisch onderzoek Zijn hulp bij de beoordeling van de preparaten en het vervaardigen van de histologische illustraties was onmisbaar, waarvoor mijn bijzondere dank

Prof Dr D J Ruiter, Prof Dr A J van der Linden en Prof Dr J H J Ruijs dank ik voor hun bereidheid het manuscript te beoordelen als leden van de manuscriptcommissie

Dank ben ik verder verschuldigd aan de volgende personen

Dr R de Graaf en A Reintjes van de Medisch Statistische Afdeling, Katholieke Universiteit Nijmegen, voor de statistische bewerking van de patientengegevens

Mej D H J Versleyen voor het vervaardigen van de histologische preparaten

Th H M Arts, A J Peters en P H G Philipsen van het Centraal Dierenlaboratorium, Katholieke Universiteit Nijmegen, voor hun deskundige assistentie bij het opereren van de proefdieren

W van de Wijdeven voor zijn hulp bij het uitvoeren van de belastingsexperimenten

Ing H Peeters voor het verwerken van de RSA gegevens

Drs R H Jansen en Ir R van de Venne schreven het computerprogramma waarmee de rontgenfoto's van patienten konden worden gedigitaliseerd en opgemeten

Drs J van Susante assisteerde bij het opereren van de proefdieren en Drs P Willems verrichtte de metingen van de RSA-foto's



Curriculum vitae

Johan Willem Schimmel werd op 8 juni 1957 geboren te Apeldoorn Hij doorliep de Koninklijke Scholengemeenschap aldaar en in 1975 werd het VWO diploma behaald. In datzelfde jaar startte hij de studie Scheikunde aan de Rijksuniversiteit te Utrecht. In 1976 werd de studie Geneeskunde aangevangen aan dezelfde Universiteit. Het artsexamen werd in 1983 afgelegd Vanat juli 1983 tot september 1984 was hij werkzaam als assistent-geneeskundige niet in opleiding op de afdeling algemene chirurgie van het Catharina Ziekenhuis te Eindhoven Van september 1984 tot juli 1988 was hij werkzaam als assistent-geneeskundige in voor-opleiding algemene chirurgic in het Diaconessenhuis te Hilversum (JHKroesen, wijlen Dr F L R Bauer en Dr J W Juttmann) Van juli 1988 tot april 1993 was hij werkzaam op de afdeling orthopaedie van het Academisch Ziekenhuis Nijmegen St. Radboud waarvan de laatste 4 jaar in opleiding tot orthopaedisch chirurg (opleiders Prof Dr T J J H Slooff en Prof Dr R P H Veth) Op 1 april 1993 vond inschrijving in het specialisten register plaats Sindsdien is hij werkzaam als orthopaedisch chirurg in het Medisch Centrum Leeuwarden in associatie met de orthopaedisch chirurgen Dr J Rijnks, Dr J F A M Ypma, Drs W de Graaf, Dr W H J Kok en de aldaar gevestigde algemeen chirurgen, plastisch chirurgen en urologen Hij is gehuwd met Isa ten Kate,biologe, en zij hebben twee kinderen. Cecile en Feiko


This publication was financially supported by grants from:

- Nederlandse Orthopaedische Vereniging
- West Meditec b v., Bilthoven
- Oudshoorn b v, Lithoijen
- Smith & Nephew Nederland b v, Hoofddorp
- DePuy van Straten, Nieuwegein
- Stryker b v , Eindhoven
- Schering Plough b v, Amstelveen
- Somas Orthopaedie, Sint Anthonis
- Dantuma Orthopaedie b v, Leeuwarden
- Bauerfeind Benelux b v, Haarlem



STELLINGEN

behorende bij het proefschrift

Acetabular reconstruction with impacted morsellized cancellous bone grafts in cemented revision hip arthroplasty

J.W. Schimmel

Nijmegen, 10 november 1995

- I Acetabulaii botycrlies bij implantaat loslating kan adequaat worden gereconstrueerd met geimpacteerde homologe spongieuze botchips (dit proefschrift)
- II Radiologisch kan er geen verschil in effectiviteit worden geconstateerd tussen autologe en homologe spongieuze botchips bij reconstructie van acetabulaire botdefecten (dit proefschrift)
- III Botcement heeft geen nadelige invloed op de incorporatie van spongieuze botchips (dit proefschilt)
- IV Progressief botveilies rond een totale heupprothese zonder pijnklachten vormt een indicatie voor een revisieprocedure
- V Ei dienen internationaal geldende richtlijnen te worden opgesteld voor follow up studies van totale heuparthroplastieken teneinde de vergelijkbaarheid te bevorderen
- VI Primaire stabiliteit van cementloze totale heuppiothesen berust op slechts enkele lokale contactgebieden tussen prothese en bot (J W Schimmel en R Huiskes Acta Orthop Scand 59, 638-642, 1988)

- VII Arthroscopische nettoyage van een arthrotisch gewricht is slechts van beperkte waarde en de indicatie hiervoor dient spaarzaam te worden gesteld
- VIII Het is niet juist de viijgevestigde medisch specialist nog langer als vrije beioepsbeoefenaar te beschouwen
- IX Communicatie tussen verschillende disciplines wordt vaak bemoeilijkt door niet-overeenkomende vaktaal
- X Uit historisch oogpunt is het correcter de naam van de provincie Friesland te veranderen in Vrieslandt in plaats van Fryslân
- XI Uit het oogpunt van natuuibehoud dient het omzetten van eentonige graslanden in bloemrijke hooilanden door aanpassing van de agrarische bedrijfsvoering te worden gestimuleerd en beloond
- XII De antropomorfologische overeenkomst tussen orthopaedisch chiruigen en volwassen gorilla's beperkt zich tot gelijke gemiddelde handomvang (J S Fox et al. Are orthopaedic surgeons really gorillas, Br Med J 301 1425 - 1426 1990)

4

A linear linear

のです

1